

INDIAN STUDIES REVIEW

(A UGC-Care Listed and Peer-Reviewed Journal) Vol. 3 No. 2 (July-December 2022)



A JOURNAL OF CENTRE FOR STUDY OF POLITICS AND GOVERNANCE, DELHI

A JOURNAL OF CENTRE FOR STUDY OF POLITICS AND GOVERNANCE, DELHI Email: indianstudiesreview@gmail.com Website: www.cspgindia.com

ISSN:2583-004X E-ISSN:2582-7154



INDIAN STUDIES REVIEW Journal of Centre for Study of Politics and Governance Delhi

Volume 3 Number 2 July - December 2022 Print ISSN 2583-004X Online ISSN 2582-7154

RNI Reg. No. DELENG/2020/79638

Indian Studies Review is a multidisciplinary, peer-reviewed, academic journal published twice a year (January and July) both online and in print from Delhi. It welcomes original research articles from authors doing research in social sciences and its sub-disciplines. Review articles and book reviews are also welcome.

Copyright © Centre for Study of Politics and Governance, Delhi. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored, transmitted or disseminated, in any form or by any means, without prior written permission from Editor-in-Chief, Indian Studies Review to whom all requests to reproduce copyright material should be directed, in writing.

Disclaimer: The Centre for Study of Politics and Governance, Delhi makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of all the information contained in its publications. However, it make no representations or warranties whatsoever as to the accuracy, completeness or suitability for any purpose of the content of its publications. Any opinions and views expressed in the publications are the opinions and the views of the authors and are not the views of or endorsed by the Centre for Study of Politics and Governance. It shall not be liable for any losses, actions, claims, proceedings, demands, costs, expenses, damages and other liabilities whatsoever or howsoever caused directly or indirectly arising out of the use of the content.

Subscription:

Institutional Subscription for one year: India Rs. 1000/-

Individual Subscription for one year: India Rs. 500/-

All subscription request should be sent to email id: indianstudiesreview@gmail.com

Advertising:

Current rates and specification may be obtained by writing to the Indian Studies Review on address below.

Inquiries: Address all permission requests, contribution, editorial and subscription correspondence to:

Prof. Sangit Kumar Ragi

Editor-in-Chief, Indian Studies Review,

Room No. 14, Department of Political Science, Faculty of Social Science,

University of Delhi, Delhi -110007, India.

Email: indianstudiesreview@gmail.com

Website: www.cspgindia.com

Indian Studies Review Journal of Centre for Study of Politics and Governance Delhi is printed and published by Sangit Kumar Ragi on behalf of Centre for Study of Politics and Governance Delhi and printed at Balaji Offset 1/11884, M-28, Uldhan Pur, Navin Shahdara, Delhi-110032 and published at KH-14/1/2, Gali No - 3, Chaten Bihari Mandir Road, Kamal Vihar, Burari, Delhi - 110084. Editor: Prof. Sangit Kumar Ragi, 310, Patrakar Parisar, Sec-5, Vasundhara, Ghaziabad-201012

Author Guidelines

Language: Articles must be submitted in English language and in soft copy preferably through email. Words limit: The preferred length of an article is between 4,000 and 6,000 words for research articles and surveys, and 3,000 words for commentary. This length can be waived for certain articles in consultation with the editor. Book reviews should be between 1,200 and 1,800 words.

Note: All articles must have Abstract, Key Words, Introduction and conclusion followed by in-text Citation. Title Page: The author's name and address should appear only on the title page, which should be separate from the main text of the manuscript.

Illustrations, diagrams, graphs: Illustrations are welcome for all kinds of articles. Maps, diagrams and graphs essential to the subject of the article should preferably be camera-ready. References: Authors should use in-text citation for the purpose of citations. The author is solely responsible for quotations and illustrations in their respective papers. Accuracy in citations is also the author's responsibility. They should follow APA (6th edition) referencing style. Refer the following examples.

• Chapter in an Edited Volume

Baker, F. M., & Lightfoot, O. B. (1993). Psychiatric Care of Ethnic Elders. In A. C. Gaw (Ed.), Culture, Ethnicity, and Mental Illness (pp. 517-552). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.

• Article in a Journal

Thompson, C. (2010). Facebook: Cautionary Tales for Nurses. Kai Tiaki: Nursing New Zealand, 16 (7), 26.

• Book

Collier, A. (2008). The World of Tourism and Travel. Rosedale, New Zealand: Pearson Education New Zealand.

• Newspaper Article

Matthews, L. (2011, November 23). Foodbanks Urge Public to give Generously. Manawatu Standard, p. 4.

<u>Government Publications</u>

Ontario Ministry of Health. (1994). Selected Findings from the Mental Health Supplement of the Ontario Health Survey. Ottawa, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario.

Internet Documents

Kak, S. (2018). Indian Foundations of Modern Science. Retrieved from file:///C:/Users/DUSC/Downloads/IndianFoundationsofModernScience-SubhashKak-Medium.pdf

• Submission Checklist

The text is 1.5-space; uses Time New Roman 11-point font size. Employ italics, rather than underlining. If any tables or illustrations submitted have been published elsewhere, the author should obtain prior written consent to republish from the copyright holder and the author(s). All illustrations, figures etc. must be of high resolution/quality, preferably jpeg or equivalent but not power point, and preferably attached as extra files. All enquiries and submissions should be directed to:

Prof. Sangit Kumar Ragi

Editor-in-Chief, Indian Studies Review, Room No. 14. Department of Political Science, Faculty of Social Science, University of Delhi, Delhi - 110007, Email: indianstudiesreview@gmail.com

ISSN: 2583-004X E-ISSN: 2582-7154

INDIAN STUDIES REVIEW

(A UGC-Care Listed and Peer-Reviewed Journal) Vol. 3 No. 3 (July – December 2022)

> A JOURNAL OF CENTRE FOR STUDY OF POLITICS AND GOVERNANCE, DELHI

INDIAN STUDIES REVIEW

Journal of Centre for Study of Politics and Governance

Editorial Board

Prof. Sangit Kumar Ragi (Editor-in-Chief)

Department of Political Science, University of Delhi, New Delhi-110007, India Email: skragi@polscience.du.ac.in

Prof. Seema Bawa

Department of History, University of Delhi, New Delhi-110007, India Email: bawaseema@gmail.com

Prof. Vipul Singh

Department of History, University of Delhi, New Delhi-110007, India Email:vipulsingh.history@gmail.com

Dr. Rajiv Nayan

Senior Research Associate, Manohar Parrikar Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses, New Delhi–110010, India,

Email: rajivnayan@hotmail.com

Prof. Ajay Kumar Ghosh

Department of History, Govt. Hamidia Arts and Commerce College

Bhopal, Madhya Pradesh, Email: kumarghoshajay@gmail.com

Prof. Suresh Vithal Rao Jhondhale

Department of Civics and Politics

University of Mumbai, Email: surenjondhale@yahoo.co.in

Assistant Editors

Dr. Sandipani Dash

Dept. of African Studies, University of Delhi, Delhi Dr. Amrita Shilpi Lakshmibai College, University of Delhi, Delhi Dr. Mithila Bagai Maitreyi College, University of Delhi Ms. Sonali Chitalkar Miranda House, University of Delhi, Delhi Dr. Prakash Kumar Patel Dyal Singh College, University of Delhi, India Dr. Abhishek Choudhary Dept. of Political Science, University of Delhi, Delhi Dr. Santosh Kumar Singh

Sri Venkateshwara College, University of Delhi, India

Editorial Associates

Mr. Pawan Singh	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Mr. Raushan Thakur	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Ms. Ashna Monga	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Mr. Nitesh Rai	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Ms. Ekta Shaikh	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Ms. Akanksha Sharma	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Mr. Shamik Vatsa	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India
Mr. Arpan Banerjee	Research Scholar, University of Delhi, India

Editorial Advisory Board

Professor Dinesh Singh

Former Vice Chancellor, University of Delhi,

Chancellor, K.R. Mangalam University, Sohan Road, Gurugram-122103 Email: dineshsingh1@gmail.com

Dr. Rajas Parchure

Director, Gokhale Institute of Politics and Economics,

Pune–411004, Maharashtra, India, Email: rajasparchure@gmail.com

Professor Sanjay Kumar

Director, Centre for the Study of Developing Societies (CSDS),

29, Rajpur Road, Delhi-110054, India, Email: sanjay@csds.in

Professor M.P Singh

Former Professor and Head,

Department of Political Science, University of Delhi, & National Fellow, Indian Institute of Advanced Study (IIAS), Rashtrapati Nivas, Shimla-171005 Email: profmpsingh@gmail.com

Professor Sanjay Chaturvedi

Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences,

South Asian University, Akbar Bhavan, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi-110021, India, Email: sanjaychaturvedi@sau.int

Professor Ritesh Kumar Singh

Dean, Department of Commerce, Delhi School of Economics, University of Delhi, New Delhi-11007, India Email: dean@commerce.du.ac.in

INDIAN STUDIES REVIEW

Journal of Centre for Study of Politics and Governance

Volume 3 Number 2 July– December2022 ISSN: 2583-004X

Contents

Page No.

Ronie Thomas, Sony Jalarajan Raj & Adith K. Suresh Media Consumption in the Digital Age: A Study on the Cultural Reception of Over-the-top (OTT) Video Streaming Platforms in India	1-24
Neena Bansal	25-48
Dara Shukoh: The Lost Lineage of Universalism	
Hari Mohan Sharma & Hari K. Sharma	49-62
What Fueled the Russia-Ukraine War?	
Debasish Nandy & Alik Naha	63-82
Strategic Significance of Sri Lanka in India's Indian Ocean Approach	
Bipin Kr. Tiwary & Akansha	83-100
Understanding Baloch: Genesis and Continuum of their grievances	
Saurabh	101-112
A decade of Dragon's Debt & Trap Initiative in South Asia	
Aparna	113-126
India-China Border Dispute and the Hanging Future of South Asian Region	
BOOK REVIEWS	127-135

Indian Studies Review is a Multidisciplinary, UGC-listed, Peer-reviewed, academic journal published twice a year (January and July) both online and in print from Delhi. It welcomes original research articles from authors doing research in social sciences and its sub-disciplines. The objective of the journal is to provide platform to the researchers, academicians, policy makers and policy practitioners to engage with issues of contemporary relevance in polity, economy or society and initiate a scholarly intellectual debate through their research monographs. Articles must have a theoretical structure and methodological insight employed in the critical and objective enquiry. Review articles and book reviews are also welcome.

Media Consumption in the Digital Age: A Study on the Cultural Reception of Over-the-top (OTT) Video Streaming Platforms in India

Ronie Thomas *, Sony Jalarajan Raj* & Adith K. Suresh*

Abstract

The dissemination of over-the-top (OTT) video streaming platforms is gradually replacing traditional television in India. With the aid of cheap mobile data, increased smartphone usage, and new technological advancements, the Indian OTT market is enforcing a digitalization that integrates information, communication, and entertainment to engender a new mode of media discourse. This spontaneous digital change has reshaped the cultural reception of media consumption where user interactions and gratifications play a significant role in the process of adapting to a new streaming environment. Based on the Uses and Gratification (U&G) framework, this paper investigates how OTT platforms offer a set of cultural motives for users to explore gratifications that collectively encourage them to achieve a point of cultural reorientation. By following an empirical approach using semi-structured interviews, this study found that active users when exposed to diverse OTT content often assimilate cultural elements normally unfamiliar to them, followed by developing new cultural practices or reorganizing existing habits to have new experiences.

Keywords: OTT, cultural reception, Uses and Gratifications Theory, cultural motives, new media

Digitalization of everyday life has become a recognizable phenomenon as technological developments and new media forms are exponentially transforming the social and cultural coordinates of populations all over

^{*} Dr. Ronie Thomas is Assistant Professor at Department of Political Science and Public Administration, St John's College, Anchal, Kollam

^{*} Dr. Sony Jalarajan Raj teaches at Department of Communication, MacEwan University, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

^{*} Mr. Adith K. Suresh is Research Assistant at Department of Communication, MacEwan University, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

the world. Entertainment platforms are expanding to integrate more heterogeneous, complex, and interdisciplinary elements to create more content. Studies show that global over-the-top (OTT) media services are highly competitive in limited regional markets and are affecting the technological, economic, and cultural effects of broadcasting and content production (Chen, 2019; Ramasoota & Kitikamdhorn, 2021). The popularization of OTT video streaming platforms exemplifies this specific phenomenon of concocting information, communication, and entertainment to engender a new cultural mode of interactivity; which emerged to encapsulate the change in both universal and local structures of culture, society, and the individual.

The emergence of OTT platforms not only conceptualized the possibility of a newly 'connected user' who has 24/7 access across multiple devices and media contents, but also initiated a behavioral shift of viewers from traditional cable television to OTT media through a process known as 'video cord cutting' (Fuduric, Malthouse, & Viswanathan, 2018). Although this is relatively a slow process in countries like India where television is still controlling media consumption, recent studies found that Indian users have more reasons to subscribe to over-the-top services than reasons to resist using them (Nagaraj, Singh, & Yasa, 2021). India, currently the second-largest smartphone market in the world, has cheap and affordable internet access. This enhanced the burgeoning of the low-cost, subscription-based OTT platforms, which are replacing the complex, linear, and vertically integrated television distribution industry of the country.

As the role of traditional television viewing is being replaced by OTT platforms in the country, the contents of these platforms and their impact on culture are also widely debated, criticized, and challenged (Ahmed, 2017; Chatterjee & Pal, 2020; Fitzgerald, 2019; Jin, 2017; Khanna, 2017; Raikar, 2017). Regarding the self-regulating nature of content creation and distribution, there is growing anxiety concerning the structure, content, and impact of OTT on society. Previous studies observed the digitalization of culture as a significant effect of media use

(Abeele, 2014; Mihelj et al., 2019) which indicates how new media interferes with existing cultural practices of society (Pathak-Shelat & DeShano, 2013). Combined with globalization and technological expansion, media delivery is marketized by external forces (Chalaby & Plunkett, 2020), thus compromising the pre-existing structural configurations of cultural modes. This article argues that OTT platforms have a strong and dramatic influence on altering cultural codifications of geographical areas that show less resilience to cultural changes.

This article is based on a contextual study about the cultural reception of OTT streaming services in South India. The city of Bangalore, often referred to as the 'cultural capital of India' for its distinct cultural dynamics (Srinivas, 2013), is selected for sampling. In this context, this study makes a qualitative approach using interviews with open-ended questions (Lotz, 2000) to analyze the reception of OTT platforms, and the Uses and Gratifications (U&G) theory to predict specific cultural motives. U&G Theory assumes the position of an active user in consuming media, therefore constantly challenges the longevity of existing media forms. For example, consumer priorities for real-time broadcasting have challenged traditional cable TV to adopt new strategies to cope with the market (Shin, Park, & Lee 2016). This paper found that OTT platforms are engendering new reasons for using them (Steiner & Xu, 2018), thereby gratifying new motivations. These new motivations have affected the everyday cultural existence of users, resulting in the adoption of new habits and practices that reconfigure the coordinates of the existing culture.

Culture and OTT Use in India

The cultural landscape of India is shaped by a long history of collective changes that continues to be affecting the mode of cultural operation involved with its population. Therefore, culture is a continuously changing and emerging category that depends upon the exposure of new changes with which people interact to form new habits. These changes become the characteristics or signifying practices of a particular group of people, defined by everything from language, religion, cuisine, social habits, music, and arts. New perceptions of popular culture encompass the subjectivity of the participants and the preferences of the individual in a collective manner (Storey, 2009), and modern media studies tend to focus on 'adding cultural values on an individual level' (Sheldon et al., 2017). As a consequence, new information fusion methods OTT services with propose that overlap other telecommunication services (Seo, Lee, & Kim 2020) and suggest that such investments are required to meet a more personalized digital life of users (Chen, 2019).

Since over-the-top services are defined as 'digital services deployed on the already existing physical network infrastructure' (Kramer & Wohlfarth, 2018), the arrival of OTT platforms in India was a sign of threat to an already established television culture. For instance, platforms like Hotstar, Amazon Prime, and Netflix have increased their viewership by allowing easy and early access to popular reality shows via mobile phones (Natarajan, Jayapal, & Gangadharan, 2021). The expansion of the OTT industry created a 'content overflow' that underscored the need to define a new media discourse (Cunningham, 2012; Hallinan & Striphas, 2016) where platforms like YouTube became a technical and cultural intermediary between television and audience (Kumar, 2016; Lobato, 2016). Their proliferation was elevated by the availability of a large market of diversified cultural fabric in which more original contents are produced and distributed in a localized manner. One report found that in India, with 22 official languages and more than 450 dialects, 45 percent of the users consume regional language content (MICA, 2018). This is also reflective of a complementary relationship between OTT services and traditional television broadcasting where OTT platforms are inclined to produce content preferred by users rather than mere cord-cutting (Kim, Lee, Lee, & Kim 2021).

According to Cunningham and Craig (2016), India is emerging as one of the largest non-Western online spaces in the world, indicating that global OTT platforms facilitate, rather than control cultural participation. After India embraced globalization in the 90s, this form of glocalization began to appear as a 'cultural anxiety' for social, political, and religious commentators (Butcher, 2003). Their accusations were centered on the observation that the 'invasion' of Westernized media forms corrupted the 'Indian way of life'. Similar to the arrival of satellite television, the fear of cultural invasion was magnified by anxieties surrounding consumerism and religion (Bodle, 2010; Jin, 2015; Ninan, 1995; Punathambekar & Mohan, 2019; Smith, 2015).

This deliberately-enforced transmutation of the Indian television landscape by the sudden sprout of online streaming platforms has reconfigured the fragile cultural fabric of Indian society. These platforms did not just increase the 'screen time' of the audience but carefully amplified their 'cultural galaxy'. The audiences were opened to new content, style, and presentation which, often conflicted with their perceived ideology, and pushed them into confusion, coercion, and confrontation. However, it is quite difficult to measure the impact of mass media on people as different people consume media differently, and the way they perceive the content is an intangible process for a laconic conclusion. This leads to the expansion of new theories that focus on the users and their specific motivations.

Uses and Gratifications Theory

Studies conducted in the 1980s and 1990s concluded that viewers interpret television programs according to their social, cultural, economic, and individual life experiences (Fiske, 1987; Kottak, 2012; Roach, 1997). Summarizing the mass media effect in a technologically expanding era, therefore, demands the need to centralize the consumer in an active position where selectivity and convenience are of supreme importance. This conceptualization of the independent user is the driving force of the modern digital consumer culture where telecommunication service providers and OTT platforms fight for customer ownership (Dairo & Szűcs, 2021; Dey, Yen, & Samuel, 2020). Uses and Gratifications Theory (U&G), instead of treating its audience as passive consumers, argues that people use media for their own needs

and get satisfied when their needs are fulfilled, allowing them access to more possibilities to use media.

Theories that focus on consumption value/customer value have found unique factors like fandom and social viewing are deciding online media viewing behavior (Yoon, Kim, & Kankanhalli, 2021). Jang, Baek, and Kim (2021) also found that movies with fandom or part of a shared imaginary entertainment environment are more accepted in the videoon-demand market. However, the cultural effect of such factors needs to be elaborated to understand the degree to which they become established as collective effects. Here, U&G models are useful in understanding the 'mediated communication situations' by studying 'psychological needs, motives, communication channels, communication content, and psychological gratifications within a crosscultural context' (Lin, 1996, p. 574). The media culture is therefore defined by different scales of motivations for using particular media platforms (Sheldon, 2012; Sheldon & Bryant, 2016; Timmermans & Caluwé, 2017).

New advancements in U&G research deal with new media technologies in an evolving psychological, sociological, and cultural context to answer why people prefer one medium over the other to gratify their needs (Ruggiero, 2000). New media often blends technology with culture to execute new styles of behavior (Sheldon et al., 2019) where new motives like 'interactivity' are key to future research (Leiner & Quiring, 2008; Ruggiero, 2000) that predicts streaming television viewing (Tefertiller & Sheehan, 2020). A combination of different attributes of these platforms has integrated diverse business models for the user (Park, 2019) and practices like 'binge-watching' have emerged as a cultural behavior (Steiner & Xu, 2018).

Since online streaming platforms are transforming the television landscape by the way users select, view, interpret and decode the content (Raikar, 2017; Seetharam, 2017; Wayne, 2018), U&G can predict how OTT contents are locally produced and are in tune with local popular interest to cope with exploding market challenges. This is

more crucial in the Indian context which, after the popularization of the internet and mobile phones, has transformed from television to OTT platforms to carve a new niche in the media landscape. Hence, to understand the relationship between mass media and society, the focus needs to be on the reception of these new media forms, and how it varies with a particular social and cultural fabric.

Method of Data Collection and Analysis

The objective of this study is to investigate how technology-assisted new media forms interact with culture and bring changes to society. Since culture is a discursive category with more descriptive connotations, we chose a qualitative method, where semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions were used as the mode of data collection. Typically, gratification motives of television viewing or emerging new media are tapped by quantitative analysis using surveys. We decide to deviate from this practice because of two reasons: (a) Most of the past studies on usage motives of OTT are based on existing literature. For example, the study of Tefertiller and Sheehan (2020) is based on Rubin's (1983) scale, Camilleri and Falzon (2020) was based on the scale developed by Tefertiller (2018), and Chen (2019) is based on the scale of Rubin (1983) and Ferguson and Perse (2000). However, this kind of survey method is criticized as participants often need to respond to questions that have been used in prior research (Massey, 1995), and this fails to consider gratifications emerging from new media (Steiner & Xu, 2018). (b) Although quantitative studies have used factor analysis methods to extract the emerging gratifications from OTT, the nuances of new gratifications from the media (Sundar & Limperos, 2015) remain undiscovered. We believe that gualitative method can overcome these limitations. Also, semi-structured interviews are helpful in maintaining a natural flow of conversation that is essential in the production of new themes, understanding lived experiences, and endorsing subjective viewpoints of individuals (Choak, 2012; Flick, 2009; Rubin & Rubin, 2005). This approach was adopted as it was rationalized as useful in giving more freedom to the respondents to actively express their motives and experiences in using OTT platforms. To pursue the objective of the study, we articulated the following research questions:

- RQ1: What are the cultural motives for using OTT platforms?
- **RQ2**: Does culture interfere with the production and consumption of OTT content?
- **RQ3**: How does OTT viewing affect the lifestyle and existing culture of users?
- RQ4: How does the cultural impact result in a cultural change?

This research is based on the data collected from the interviews conducted with participants from the South Indian city of Bangalore between 2020 March and July. There was a total of 38 participants which consisted of 22 women and 16 men. To use purposive sampling, the socio-economic status of the participants was considered, and it was operationalized into categories of age, educational qualification, occupation, and monthly income to ensure a varying range of representations of participants. All the interviews were conducted through online mode as in-person interactions were restricted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The interviews were in a time frame of approximately 60 to 90 minutes.

The questions of the interview were divided into two parts and asked in a definite order proceeding from general to more specific issues. The first part contains 14 questions that intend to examine the interviewee's cultural motives for using OTT, which were found by analyzing the user's preferences over various OTT platforms, program preferences, viewing habits, etc. This also explores more about cultural motives; such as whether they are natural or forced and which direction they are projected. The second part of the questionnaire addressed how using OTT platforms affect the everyday lifestyle of individuals. The interviewees were asked a set of 22 questions to study the possible lifestyle changes to understand the cultural impact of OTT use. Data were collected and recorded using memos to find patterns of motivations, behaviors, and themes associated with OTT use in India. The analysis was based on the grounded theory approach and the data were coded, closely reviewed, and theorized (Charmaz, 2014; Corbin & Strauss, 2008). The data were subjected to a thematic analysis as it is an important process of identifying recurring responses, themes, and trends associated with the research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2006). As the next step, the latent analysis is employed to the level of interpretations that foreground the U&G theory. Further theoretical assumptions are made from developing and categorizing the specifications of user interactions with OTT to attain general conclusions regarding the cultural repercussions of OTT use in India.

Findings and Discussion

Cultural motives for OTT use

After analyzing the data, it was found that Indian users prefer OTT platforms for a number of reasons that significantly affect their cultural life. This paper identified the following cultural motives as strong influences for OTT use: a sense of mobility, community inclusion, desire for exotic content, imitation of external culture, and violation of taboos.

The interviewees iterated that OTT platforms have given them a sense of freedom and choice which allowed them to experience a new form of mobility. They suggested the convenience of OTT platforms as opposed to traditional methods of broadcasting which lack a 'user-friendly' approach. OTT video streaming is focused on the consumer desire to ensure a more satisfactory experience like ad-free viewing (Shon, Shin, Hwang, & Lee, 2021). This centralization of the user as an active agent is a virtual displacement as interviewees opined that OTT has replaced television, radio, and newspaper. Instead, platforms like YouTube are preferred, suggesting its easy use and free availability of massive content of information as motives. Six interviewees revealed that this new 'boundless' and 'fluid' nature of OTT platforms gave them 'anxiety' as they are lost in a 'vast sea of content'. This virtual mobility is cultural mobility as users literally experience their 'movement' within different forms of content and information. Their convenience of use is maximized by modes of 'anonymity' and 'free access'.

Users acknowledged that OTT platforms have created a 'community feeling'. According to them, people watch multiple contents because they were recommended to them by friends or family. 'Exploring new content', 'familiarizing with famous shows', 'updating with new trends', and 'peer pressure' emerged as reasons that wield community inclusion. An interviewee stated that not watching '*Game of Thrones'* or '*Friends'* made her feel alienated from peer discussions. But once she has watched it, she was included in new 'groups' that are exclusively dedicated to conversations exploring new dimensions of the show. Besides this, there are instances cited by interviewees where multiple users; usually family members or friends, use a single account for access. Those who paid for using a particular OTT are willing to share it with others whom they consider kin. Interestingly, recent research reports also stated that Indians lead amongst 70 million global OTT account sharers (Bhattacharya, 2018; Indian Television, 2020).

As OTTs have proliferated in content production and expanded their space across regional landscapes of India, new users are exposed to new content which often gives them the opportunity to explore more exotic content. Viewers responded that they always have an affinity to watch the 'new releases'. Platforms like Netflix, Amazon Prime, and Hotstar have massive content, which they 'recommend' to users. Kwon, Park, and Son (2021) argue that recommendation agent artifacts like thumbnail images and recommendation lists are related to search experience variables such as perceived diagnostically and perceived serendipity. Accidental as well as the deliberate discovery of new content satisfy users and enforces them to continuous use. Interview responses indicated that users often fail to resist the curiosity to look for external elements of culture in the form of web series or movies. They specifically stated that elements of sexual activity, violence, and vulgar comedy are subjects of curiosity for the Indian users as their home media are deprived of it since they are subjected to cultural,

moral, and political censorship. This leads to new cultural motivations like imitation and violation.

Users revealed that the imitation of external cultural elements includes imitating food habits, clothing styles, language use, new temperaments, and perceptions. Some interviewees reported that after exposing to OTT platforms, they have significantly improved the way they see the world. Some said that they have become more 'liberal' in their approach to certain topics such as religion and sexuality. This act of imitation has consequences such as more people being able to violate existing cultural taboos. Interviewees responded that they are 'less guilty' and 'freer' when it comes to making opinions about discourses related to homosexuality, gender equality, and extramarital affairs. Many of the OTT contents have depictions of extreme violence, nudity, and sexual activity that raised concerns to regulate their content. For example, web series like Sacred Games, Laila, Ghoul, Godman, and The Patriot Act were criticized by the Hindu right-wing organizations as they were perceived as "Anti-Hindu' and posing a serious threat to Indian Culture (The Print, 2019). Therefore, OTT platforms have become a safe space for both creators and users to explore media without barriers. These platforms have also helped to depict topics that are taboo in mainstream society. For example, EOR TV, an OTT platform launched exclusive original content focusing on the LGBTQ community (Faroogui, 2020).

OTT platforms use the religious, political, and social dimensions of the cultural quality of the Indian population to create original content. Since we have seen motives like mobility, inclusion, desire, imitation, and violation are cultural, OTT viewing is also a cultural activity, thereby indicating a significant impact on the daily activities and preferences of the users. It suggests that the users have to change many of their previous activities to accommodate the new motivations for using OTT platforms. Further study is intended to explore how these new changes and gratifications boost new habits and result in a new cultural restructuring of the individuals.

OTT use and cultural change

As a result of the cultural motivations for OTT use, further analysis of the data indicated a strong impact of cultural change on perceptions, behavior, and lifestyle of users. Many of the responses revealed that OTT platforms have reduced social interactivity. For example, bingewatching favorite shows forced them to limit themselves within the space of their rooms, thus, interaction with family members and friends is reduced to a great extent. Some people said that they have skipped social gatherings and family functions to watch their favorite shows. Their work life was also affected, oftentimes postponing work to finishing a TV series. Students showed a great trend of missing school, refusing to do homework, and postponing their assignments as part of consuming OTT content; suggesting a new mode of media interactivity that instigates active procrastination (Filemoni, 2017).

Binge-watching has emerged to pose a risk to personal life and habits such as sleep, exercise, and healthy eating (Exelmans & Bulck, 2017; Vaterlaus et al., 2019). A number of candidates revealed disparities in eating habits and sleeping cycle; one user frequently postponed eating meals while watching TV shows or movies. As indicated by one interviewee, the continuous Netflix use has transformed him from a 'morning person' to a 'night owl'. He suggested that the 'one more episode' rule has forced him to sleep very late. The convenience of using OTT platforms can also influence users to explore different modes of purchasing such as online shopping (Ho & Rajadurai, 2020). A majority of the interviewees specifically preferred to have an Amazon Prime membership as it can be used for both OTT viewing and online shopping. This resulted in new habits replacing old ones, such as developing a habit of ordering food online instead of cooking. This hybridization of user motivations integrates cultural activities like shopping and media consumption to cater to multiple gratifications at once.

The increase in OTT use also affected other media use of individuals. For instance, the dissemination of numerous OTT platforms has taken over film theaters during the Covid-19 lockdown in India (ETGovernment,

2020). Interviewees emphasized the convenience of OTT platforms over traditional theater releases. They argued the easy availability of quality content, saving time and effort, the convenience of 'pause and resume', more concentration, and avoiding other 'nuisances' and distractions as reasons for preferring OTT to cinema halls. Another major change was a decrease in the frequent use and checking of social media apps; as one participant responded: 'after OTT subscription, I feel that I spend considerably less time on social media platforms like Facebook, Instagram, and WhatsApp'. There was also a reduction in the consumption of news and news-related programs.

Responses showed that exposure to OTT platforms has affected the users to have new imaginations and fantasies about the content they consumed. This is partly because of a new environment created by OTTs where the inflow of overseas content takes over the production of domestic content (Shon, Lee, & Kim, 2021). Interviewees expressed the desire for exotic content and an affinity for imitating and practicing foreign lifestyles. Many responses indicated an active urge to transgress existing cultural taboos to normalize new external values they inherited from using OTTs. There are many shows on OTT platforms with a storyline that has premarital, extramarital, and homosexual affairs; themes unfamiliar to standardized Indian culture (BollyTVadda, 2017; India Today, 2016; Top Lead India, 2019). For example, the OTT platform ALTBalaji has same-sex love series like Boygiri (2017), Class of 2017 (2017), Gandi Baat (2018), and Romil & Juagal (2017). After watching them, some interviewees realized the universality of such acts and even guestioned their presentation as immorality in the Indian culture. This is also reflected in society as some reports suggest that there is an increase of infidelity in Bangalore (Menon, 2020). Also, these cultural shifts became officially evident when the supreme court of India recently decriminalized extramarital affairs and homosexuality in India. The depictions of explicit sexual imagery in many shows were a new exploration for the traditional users. Users suggested that this provided new information about areas that were least explored in the traditional media forms in India. OTT exposure to foreign/transnational shows

helped to learn and accept new lifestyles; this includes imitating the mannerisms and aesthetics of OTT characters, using famous quotes/lines from OTT shows in real life, and purchasing products /apparel seen in OTT shows.

When users are exposed to new media and technology, their preferences change according to what uses they were catered by the media and how they were pursued to achieve new gratifications from it (Sundar & Limperos, 2013). Lifestyle plays an important role in adopting OTT (Li, 2017) and new motives and gratifications result in a change in lifestyle among a group of users who either adopt new norms or rearrange existing patterns of culture (Cashmore, 1994). This also indicates that the cultural changes must maintain the previously observed connection between the product's quality of service and the user's quality of experience (Ahmad, Floris, & Atzori, 2016; Li et al., 2018). Interviewees stated that using OTTs has helped them to transgress the barriers of language and culture. OTTs help users to turn on subtitles or switch between different audio versions to understand more foreign and local content. Many users felt that OTT platforms are creating more local content to increase viewership. Such cultural impacts indicate that the involvement of OTT platforms in India is active and continues to reinterpret cultural norms, and therefore reconfigures the local cultural paradigms with external norms.

Conclusion

The cultural changes brought by the new medium of OTT indicate that there is a significant correlation between the process of consuming content from OTTs and the shaping of new cultural norms. These changes suggest a systematic reduction or increase in certain personal and social activities of users that continually affect future endeavors of the individual, either by reinforcing new motives or withdrawing old motives for media use.

This analysis found that new cultural motives like a sense of mobility, community inclusion, desire for exotic content, imitation of external

culture, and violation of taboos have influenced Indian users to choose OTT platforms over traditional satellite television. This brought relative changes in lifestyle and a cultural shift in attitude which are broadly reflected in the personal, interactive, and social modalities of users. Extensive use of OTT platforms affects daily routine, work schedule, physical health, and social media use; forcing users to develop new habits to cope with phenomena like 'binge-watching'. As a result, traditional social interactions are replaced by a new form of virtual interactivity and communication.

A scale of culture is persistently present in media consumption as new media exposure results in comparisons with different cultural modes and activities. An important aspect of this cultural comparison is the reciprocity of its operation. This study revealed that such comparisons made by users often persuade them to have motivations for obtaining information about new cultural practices existing outside their observation. The curiosity for information led them to consolidate new knowledge that they used to imitate and integrate into their own lives and sometimes helped them to overcome existing cultural barriers and taboos. Since these platforms do not fall under any umbrella of content regulation, these shows explicitly portrayed sexual content. The main reason behind this popularity is the possibility of OTT platforms providing personalized content to its consumers which the viewers can anonymously stream on their mobile phones rather than showcasing on a big screen. This indicates that OTT platforms, by their technological advantage over traditional television, are successful in altering the existing cultural milieu.

The result of this study shows that, besides the content of the programs, OTT as a medium has an impact on its viewers. Unregulated, liberal, glocalized, and micro-targeted cacophony of moving imageries emulating from OTT platforms have redefined many of the traditional parameters of Indian culture and cleaved new gestures, behaviors, and lifestyles by intruding into the 'techno-cultural vacuum' left by the traditional television. Contents of the OTT platforms; original contents

in particular, influenced the viewers by altering their language and changing their attitude towards many of the so-called taboos. Unlike conventional cable or satellite television which 'filtered content', OTT platforms bring unregulated syncretic images which cross traditionally demarcated boundaries of 'Indianness' by constantly synthesizing the meaning of culture.

This study has several limitations that demand more future research. Firstly, although in-depth interviews have many advantages, there are limitations as well. This study considered limited participants and hence we acknowledge that they may not be sufficiently diverse to extrapolate this finding to another cultural setting. Secondly, it focuses on the cultural implications of OTT use in the Indian context and suffers from the lack of a more generalized theoretical framing. It does not explain how the complex regional cultural elements of India are interfering with media use, instead, it used relatively small samples from a limited section of society. The behavioral changes identified in this paper are therefore specific and subjective to a particular population. More research on this topic might reveal new motivations for using OTT content, and large-scale studies on different cultures will be effective in conjoining multiple perspectives and unique cultural changes.

References

- Abeele, M. MP. V. (2014). Mobile lifestyles: Conceptualizing heterogeneity in mobile youth culture. New Media & Society, 18 (6): 908-956. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814551349.
- Ahmad, A., Floris, A., & Atzori, L. (2016). QoE-centric service delivery: A collaborative approach among OTTs and ISPs. *Computer Networks*, 116: 168–179. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.comnet.2016.09.022.
- Ahmed, A. A. M. (2017). New era of TV-watching behavior: Binge watching and its psychological effects. *Media Watch*, 8(2): 192-207. doi: 10.15655/mw/2017/v8i2/49006.
- Bhattacharya, A. (2018, September 19). Almost everyone in India is borrowing some else's log in to stream movies and TV. *Quartz India*. Retrieved from https://qz.com/india/1395088/indians-love-sharing-amazonprime-netflix-hotstar-subscriptions/
- Bodle, R. (2010). Assessing social network sites as international platforms: Guiding principles. *Journal of International Communication*, 16(2): 9-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/13216597.2010.9674765.
- BollyTVadda. (2017, April 26). 5 Indian web-series on Forbidden Love and Extramarital Affairs. Retrieved from http://bollytvadda.blogspot.com/ 2017/04/indian-web-series-forbidden-love-stories.html.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2): 77–101. doi: 10.1191/ 1478088706qp063oa.
- Butcher, M. (2003). *Transnational Television, Cultural Identity and Change: When STAR Came to India*. Delhi: Sage.
- Camilleri, M. A., & Falzon, L. (2020). Understanding motivations to use online streaming services: Integrating the technology acceptance model (TAM) and the uses and gratifications theory (UGT). Spanish Journal of Marketing - ESIC. doi: 10.1108/SJME-04-2020-0074.
- Cashmore, E. (1994). And there was Television. London & New York: Routledge.
- Chalaby, J. K., & Plunkett, S. (2020). Standing on the shoulders of tech giants: Media delivery, streaming television and the rise of global suppliers. *New Media & Society*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444820946681.
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Chatterjee, M., & Pal, S. (2020). Globalization propelled technology often ends up in its micro-localization: Cinema viewing in the time of OTT. *Global Media Journal*, 12(1): 1-22.

- Chen, C. M. (2019). Evaluating the efficiency change and productivity progress of the top global telecom operators since OTT's prevalence. *Telecommunications Policy*, 43: 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.telpol.2019.01.004.
- Chen, Y. N. K. (2019). Competitions between OTT TV platforms and traditional television in Taiwan: A Niche analysis. *Telecommunications Policy*, 43: 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2018.10.006.
- Choak, C. (2012). Asking questions: Interviews and evaluations. In S. Bradford & F. Cullen (Eds.), *Research and Research Methods for Youth Practitioners* (pp. 90-112). London: Routledge.
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2008). Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Cunningham, S. (2012). Emergent innovation through the coevolution of informal and formal media economies. *Television & New Media*, *13*(5): 415-430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476412443091.
- Cunningham, S., & Craig, D. (2016). Online entertainment: A new wave of media globalization? *International Journal of Communication*, 10(2016): 5409-5425.
- Dairo, A., & Szűcs, K. (2021). Battle for digital customer ownership between the Telcos and Over-the-Top (OTT) players: Emerging markets perspective. African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1080/20421338.2020.1866147.
- Dey, B. L., Yen, D., & Samuel, L. (2020). Digital consumer culture and digital acculturation. International Journal of Information Management, 51(c). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.102057.
- ETGovernment. (2020, April 4). OTT platforms to take over cinema due to lockdown. Retrieved from https://government.economictimes. indiatimes.com/news/digital-india/ott-platforms-to-take-over-cinema-due-to-lockdown/74979023.
- Exelmans, L., & Bulck, J. V. D. (2017). Binge Viewing, Sleep, and the Role of Pre-Sleep Arousal. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 13(8):1001-1008. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.6704.
- Farooqui, M. (2020, June 5). India gets in first LGBTQ- focus platform. Money Control. Retrieved from https://www.moneycontrol.com/news/ trends/entertainment/india-gets-its-first-lgbt-focused-ott-platform-5360201.html.

- Ferguson, D. A., & Perse, E. M. (2000). The World Wide Web as a functional alternative to television. *Journal of broadcasting & electronic media*, 44(2): 155-174. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4 402_1.
- Filemoni, T. (2017). To study or Not to Study: The Influences of Procrastination, Self-esteem, and Self-efficacy on Self-handicapping Among College Students. FHSS Mentored Research Conference. 306. Retrieved from https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/fhssconference_studentpub/306.
- Fiske, J. (1987). *Television Culture*. UK: Routledge.
- Fitzgerald, S. (2019). "Over-the-Top Video Services in India: Media Imperialism after Globalization." *Media Industries, 6*(2): 89-115. https://doi.org/10. 3998/mij.15031809.0006.206.
- Flick, U. (2009). An Introduction to Qualitative Research. London: SAGE Publishing.
- Fuduric, M., Malthouse, E. C., & Viswanathan, V. (2018). Keep it, shave it, cut it: A closer look into consumers' video viewing behavior. *Business Horizons*, 61: 85-91. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor. 2017.09.008
- Hallinan, B., & Striphas, T. (2016). Recommended for you: The Netflix Prize and the production of algorithmic culture. *New Media & Society*, 18(1): 117-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814538646.
- Ho, R. C., & Rajadurai, K. G. (2020). Live streaming meets online shopping in the connected world: interactive social video in online marketplace. In *Strategies and tools for managing connected consumers* (pp. 130-142). IGI Global. doi: 10.4018/978-1-5225-9697-4.ch008.
- India Today. (2016, October10). Swara Bhaskar's new web-series is about extramarital affairs. Retrieved from https://www.indiatoday.in/ lifestyle/celebrity/story/swara-bhaskars-new-web-series-is-aboutextramarital-affairs-345821-2016-10-10.
- Indian Television. (2020). Indians lead amongst 70mn global OTT account password sharers. Retrieved from https://www.indiantelevision.com/ iworld/over-the-top-services/indians-lead-amongst-70-mn-global-ottaccount-password-sharers-200610.
- Jang, M., Baek, H., & Kim, S. (2021). "Movie characteristics as determinants of download-to-own performance in the Korean video-on-demand market." *Telecommunications Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. telpol.2021.102140.

- Jin, D. Y. (2015). *Digital Platforms, Imperialism and Political Culture*. UK: Routledge.
- Jin, D. Y. (2017). Digital Platform as a Double-Edged Sword: How to Interpret Cultural Flows in the Platform Era. *International Journal of Communication*, 11: 3880–98.
- Khanna, V. (2017). A study on factors affecting subscription rates of Netflix in India. *Delhi Business Review*, 18(1): 83-100.
- Kim, S., Lee, C., Lee, J., & Kim, J. (2021). Over-the-top bundled services in the Korean broadcasting and telecommunications market: Consumer preference analysis using a mixed logit model. *Telematics and Informatics*, 61: 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2021.101599.
- Kottak, C. P. (2012). Prime-Time Society: An Anthropological Analysis of Television and Culture. UK: Routledge.
- Kramer, J., & Wohlfarth, M. (2018). Market power, regulatory convergence, and the role of data in digital markets. *Telecommunications Policy*, 42: 154–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2017.10.004.
- Kumar, S. (2016). YouTube Nation: Precarity and Agency in India's Online Video Scene. International Journal of Communication, 10: 5608–25.
- Kwon, Y., Park, J., & Son, J. (2021). Accurately or accidentally? Recommendation agent and search experience in over-the-top (OTT) services. *Internet Research*, 31(2): 562-586. doi: 10.1108/INTR-03-2020-0127.
- Leiner, D. J., & Quiring, O. (2008). What Interactivity Means to the User Essential Insights into and a Scale for Perceived Interactivity. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 14: 127–155. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1083-6101.2008.01434.x.
- Li, S. C. S. (2017). Lifestyles, Technology Clustering, and the Adoption of Overthe-top Television and Internet Protocol Television in Taiwan. *International Journal of Communication*, 14: 2017–2035.
- Li, W., Spachos, P., Chignell, M., Leon-Garcia, A., Zucherman, L., & Jiang, J. (2018). A quantitative relationship between Application Performance Metrics and Quality of Experience for Over-The-Top video. *Computer Networks*, 142: 194–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comnet.2018. 05.020.
- Lin, C. A. (1996). Looking back: The contribution of Blumler and Katz's uses of mass communication to communication research. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 40: 574–581. https://doi.org/10. 1080/08838159609364379.

- Lobato, R. (2016). The cultural logic of digital intermediaries: YouTube multichannel networks. *Convergence*, 22(4): 348-360. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1354856516641628.
- Lotz, A. D. (2000). Assessing qualitative television audience research: Incorporating feminist and anthropological theoretical innovation. *Communication Theory*, 10(4): 447-467. https://doi.org/ 10.1111 j.1468-2885.2000.tb00202.x
- Malhotra, S., & Rogers, E. M. (2000). Satellite television and the new Indian woman. *Gazette (Leiden, Netherlands),* 62(5): 407-429. https://doi. org/10.1177/0016549200062005004.
- Massey, K. B. (1995). Analyzing the uses and gratifications concept of audience activity with a qualitative approach: Media encounters during the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake disaster. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 39(3): 328-349. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838159 509364310.
- McMillin, D. C. (2001). Localizing the global: Television and hybrid programming in India. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 4(1): 45-68. https://doi.org/10.1177/136787790100400103.
- Menon, R. (2020, January 8.). Bengaluru No.1 in Infidelity. Deccan Herald. Retrieved from https://www.deccanherald.com/metrolife/metrolifeyour-bond-with-bengaluru/bengaluru-no-1-in-infidelity-792551.html.
- MICA. (2018). Indian OTT Platforms Report -2018. Retrieved from https://www.mica.ac.in/images/OTT/Indian_OTT_Platforms_MICA.pdf.
- Mihelj, S., Leguina, A. & Downey, J. (2019). Culture is digital: Cultural participation, diversity and the digital divide. *New Media & Society*, 21(7): 1465-1485. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818822816.
- Nagaraj, S., Singh, S., & Yasa, V. R. (2021). Factors affecting consumers' willingness to subscribe to over-the-top (OTT) video streaming services in India. *Technology in Society*, 65: 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.techsoc.2021.101534.
- Natarajan, T., Jayapal, J., & Gangadharan, N. (2021). The Television Cult: Prevalence of Brand Placements in an Indian Reality Show. Journal of Promotion Management, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/10496491 .2021.1888176.
- Ninan, S. (1995). Through the Magic Window: Television and Change in India. India: Penguin Books.

- Park, E. A. (2019). Prevalence of Business Models in Global OTT Video Services:
 A Cluster Analysis. *International Journal on Media Management*, 21 (3-4): 177-192. https://doi.org/10.1080/14241277.2019.1695257.
- Pathak-Shelat, M., & DeShano, C. (2013). Digital youth cultures in small town and rural Gujarat, India. New Media & Society, 16(6): 983–1001. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813496611.
- Punathambekar, A., & Mohan, S. (2019). Digital Platforms, Globalization and Culture. In J. Curran & D. Hesmondhalgh (Eds.), *Media and Society* (pp. 207-226). London: Bloomsbury Publishing Inc.
- Raikar, R. (2017). The Binge Watching Trend: An Analysis of Audience Behavior and Network Strategies in a Competitive Environment. Master's Thesis, Drexel University, Philadelphia.
- Ramasoota, P., & Kitikamdhorn, A. (2021). The Netflix effect" in Thailand: Industry and regulatory implications. *Telecommunications Policy*, 45: 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2021.102156.
- Roach, C. (1997). Cultural imperialism and resistance in media theory and literary theory. *Media, Culture & Society*, 19(1): 47-66. https://doi. org/10.1177/016344397019001004.
- Rubin, A. M. (1983). Television uses and gratifications: The interactions of viewing patterns and motivations. *Journal of Broadcasting*, 27(1): 37– 51. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838158309386471.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2005). *Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data*. London: SAGE Publishing.
- Ruggiero, T. E. (2000). Uses and gratifications theory in the 21st century. *Mass Communication & Society*, 3(1): 3-37. https://doi.org/10.1207/S153 27825MCS0301_02.
- Seetharam, G. (2017, January 8.). Netflix vs Amazon: The battle to attract viewers with original content set to intensify in India - The Economic Times. The Economic Times. Retrieved from https://economictimes. indiatimes. com/ magazines/panache/with-amazon-launching-itsstreaming-service-in-indiabattle-of-original-content-on-web-tointensify/articleshow/ 56394918.cms.
- Seo, Y. D., Lee, E., & Kim, Y. G. (2020). Video on demand recommender system for internet protocol television service based on explicit information fusion. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 143: 1-13. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eswa.2019.113045.

- Sheldon, P. (2012). Profiling the non-users: Examination of life-position indicators, sensation seeking, shyness, and loneliness among users and non-users of social network sites. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28: 1960–1965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.05.016.
- Sheldon, P., & Bryant, K. (2016). Instagram: Motives for its use and relationship to narcissism and contextual age. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58: 89-97. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.059.
- Sheldon, P., Herzfeldt, E., & Rauschnabel, P. A. (2019). Culture and social media: the relationship between cultural values and hashtagging styles. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 758-770. https:// doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2019.1611923.
- Sheldon, P., Rauschnabel, P. A., Antony, M. G., & Car, S. (2017). A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Croatian and American Social Network Sites: Exploring Cultural Differences in Motives for Instagram use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 75: 643–651. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017. 06.009 0747-5632.
- Shin, J., Park, Y., & Lee, D. (2016). Strategic management of over-the-top services: Focusing on Korean consumer adoption behavior. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 112: 329–337. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.08.004.
- Shon, M., Lee, D., & Kim, J. H. (20210. Are global over-the-top platforms the destroyers of ecosystems or the catalysts of innovation? 60: 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2021.101581.
- Shon, M., Shin, J., Hwang, J., & Lee, D. (2021). Free contents vs. inconvenience costs: Two faces of online video advertising. *Telematics and Informatics*, 56: 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2020.101476.
- Smith, D. E. (2015). *India as a Secular State*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Srinivas, M. N. (2013). *Social Change in Modern India*. Hyderabad: Orient Blackswan.
- Steiner, E., & Xu, K. (2018). Binge-watching motivates change: Uses and gratifications of streaming video viewers challenge traditional TV research. Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies, 20(10): 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/135485 6517750365.
- Storey, J. (2009). *Cultural Theory and Popular Culture: An Introduction.* New York: Pearson.

- Sundar, S. S., & Limperos, A. M. (2013). Uses and Grats 2.0: New Gratifications for New Media. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 57(4): 504-525. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2013.845827.
- Tefertiller, A. (2018). Media substitution in cable cord-cutting: The adoption of web-streaming television. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 62(3): 390-407. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2018. 1451868.
- Tefertiller, A. C. & Sheehan, K. B. (2020). Innovativeness, Interactivity, and the Adoption of Streaming Television. *Southwestern Mass Communication Journal*, 35(2): 17-27.
- The Print. (2019). Hindu group wants a ban on Netflix: Should streaming platforms be more culture-sensitive?. Retrieved from https:// theprint.in/talk-point/hindu-group-wants-a-ban-on-netflix-should-streaming-platforms-be-more-culture-sensitive/288393/.
- Timmermans, E., & Caluwé, E. D. (2017). Development and validation of the Tinder Motives Scale (TMS). *Computers in Human Behavior*, 70: 341-350. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.028.
- Top Lead India. (2019, November 3). Out of Love: First look of Hotstar's new web-series on infidelity released. Retrieved from https://topleadindia. com/2019/11/03/out-of-love-first-look-of-hotstars-new-web-serieson-infidelity-released/#:~:text=New%20Delhi%3A%20Web%20series %20and,often%20deal%20with%20complex%20emotions.&text=Be%2 0it%20Kehne%20Ko%20Humsafar,side%20to%20extra%2Dmarital%20 relationship.
- Vaterlaus, J. M., Spruance, L. A., Frantz, K., & Kruger, J. S. (2019). College student television binge watching: Conceptualization, gratifications, and perceived consequences. *The Social Science Journal*, 56(4): 470-479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2018.10.004.
- Wayne, M. L. (2018). Netflix, Amazon, and branded television content in subscription video on-demand portals. *Media, Culture & Society*, 40(5): 725-741. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443717736118.

Dara Shukoh: The Lost Lineage of Universalism

Neena Bansal*

Abstract

Dara Shukoh represents the great literary and spiritual tradition of India that attempted to construct a 'weave of congruence' in the seventeenth century what Kabir and Akbar had done before him in the fifteenth and the sixteenth centuries respectively. He discovered the roots of Islam in the ancient Indian Upanishad. He also seized upon a Qur'anic passage starting that the Qur'an itself is 'in a hidden Book [that] none but the purified shall touch, a sending down from the Lord of all Beings'. Placing this passage side by side with his monotheistic reading of the Upanishads, Dara convinced himself that the 'hidden Book' mentioned in the Qur'an was in fact the Upanishad. He patronised Sanskrit scholars with whose help he translated the Bhagavad Gita, Jog-Vashistha (Yog- Vashistha), under the title of Tarjuma-i-Jog-Vashistha (1656), the famous play Probodha-Chanrodaya and 50 volumes of Upanishads into Persian. The list may still may not be complete for many of Dara's writings and work of art were deliberately obliterated from the royal catalogues.

Keywords: Dara Shukoh, Majma-ul-Bharain, Risala-i-Haqnuma, Sirri-i-akbar, Tragedy of Dara's life, Prince of Great Fortune, *ya takhta ya tabut*.

'Mughal history's biggest puzzle solved by municipal engineer - where is Dara Shukoh buried'? (Menon, 2021) The above line reads like a dialogue of some sensational television serial, but alas, it is the heading of a news piece claiming to have located the 'grave' of Emperor Shah Jahan's eldest son Dara Shukoh. The news also tells us that the Ministry of Culture, Government of India had set up a seven-member panel of the Archaeological Survey of India (ASI) for locating the grave of the Mughal prince in 2020. There are about 140 graves in the Humayun Tomb complex of Delhi, and most of them are 'not marked or inscribed'.

The claims of assistant engineer of South Delhi Municipal Corporation, Sanjeev Kumar Singh are contested by some and confirmed by others, but the fact remains that Dara Shukoh, for whom Shah Jahan is known to hold special affection for, met with one of the most tragic deaths in

^{*} Dr Neena Bansal is Associate Professor at Kamala Nehru College, University of Delhi.

the Mughal history. The question here is less about 'who' killed Dara and 'how', but actually the 'why' of the entire episode. Amongst all the claims and repudiations about the location of Dara's grave, one truth is certainly undisputable, that not only the destiny but also the history has been heartless to this tall personality, who is believed to have opened the gates of the subtle knowledge of ancient India to the world. Not only a gentle luminary been forsaken, but the entire lineage of an ethos has been lost. The present paper seeks to trace the marks of this lost lineage in the history of India.

Dara: Early Life and Times

Dara Shukoh was the eldest son of Shah Jahan and his wife Mumtaz Mahal, born in the suburbs of Sagartal Lake near Ajmer, on 30th March 1615 C.E. His birth was said to be the blessing of the Sufi saint Muinuddin Chishti to the father - Shah Jahan, who had performed earnest prayers for a son, since all the earlier children to him had been daughters. The new-born was hailed as Gul-i-awwalin-i-gulistan-i-Shahi meaning "The Prime Rose of the Empire" (Qanungo, 1935, p.2). We know comparatively little about the childhood days of Dara because almost all the official court records describe more about the political events, ranks, promotions, royal gifts and visits of Dara once he attained the teenage. Even in his own account in Majma-ul-Bahrain, we get a glimpse of Dara when he, along with elder brother Aurangzeb were handed over to Jahangir (grandfather), as hostages on behalf of their father Khurram, who had turned a rebel against Jahangir. Dara was about ten years and his younger brother Aurangzeb was just about seven, when they witnessed the bloody battle between their father and grandfather's armies. As captives of the royal family, their stay at the imperial court was not easy. They were covetously guarded by their step-grandmother Nurjahan and they hardly knew whether they would re-unite with their family or not. Supriya Gandhi reveals, while the young boys were under their grandparent's surveillance, the royal army of Jahangir constantly fired on the tents of their father Khurram. The bloody ordeal for the three princes was over only at Shah Jahan's accession in February 1628, when they got united with the family. (Shuja, the younger son of Shah Jahan was already in the court with

Nurjahan throughout his father's rebellion, for he was the most beloved of the grandchildren). (2019, pp. 56-8).

Political contestations for the throne have been a common feature for a number of ruling dynasties all over the world. Gruesome fights for the throne in the run-up to a dynastic change was a normal phenomenon of Mughal India. Records by European travellers, traders and historians cite conflicts and homicides in this pursuit. However, Shah Jahan's ascendancy to the royal throne defined a new scale of violence in the bloody war for power. Supriya Gandhi observes in this context that though the Mughal history is replete with examples of rebellions by the sons and severe treatment of brothers, but if we look at the count of princes killed by Shah Jahan on his route to the coveted throne, he did 'set a new standard for bloodiness' (2020, p. 62). Faruqui confirms, that by executing five princes in asserting his exclusive right to the throne, Khurram (Shah Jahan) 'set a bloody precedent for future princely rivalry'. (2012, p. 37) A few years down the history, Aurangzeb, the son of Shah Jahan went beyond his father's standards of brutality in his pursuit for the throne. He not only got his elder brother Dara Shukoh captured, humiliated and killed, but according to Manucci's accounts, is also said to have sent the beheaded skull of Dara to his father Shah Jahan, whom Aurangzeb had kept under his captivity. (Manucci, 1907, pp. 359-60)

In his work on Dara, Kalika Ranjan Qanungo cite Manucci's version of Aurangzeb sending the severed head of Dara to Shah Jahan at the suggestion of Raushanara Begum, but also raises doubts about its authenticity by calling Manucci 'a violent partisan of Dara'. According to him, the contemporary chroniclers and the later historians uphold that the cut-off head of Dara was joined to its trunk and sent for the grave. However, he confirms that the body was not washed and neither were any prayers performed for the deceased prince. Nonetheless, Qanungo does comment that given the character of Aurangzeb, presenting the severed head of the son to the father was 'perhaps not too atrocious' to be credited to him. (Qanungo, 1935, pp. 320-21)

Education, Marriage and Family Life

The official chronicles do not say much about the education of the prince. Hasrat reveals that Padshahnama by Abdul Hamid Lahori mentions 'ba maktab raftan' or 'the going to the school' of the prince at the age of thirteen. Dara did the primary and secondary education like the other Mughal princes – Learning Qur'an, the standard Persian poetry and history. He cites Mulla Abdul Latif Sultanpuri, as Dara's guide and teacher, responsible for his 'intellectual advancement' and 'scholarly habits'. (1953, p.3) Dara had a speculative mind from the very childhood for he would study even Quran and Hadith with an open mind, and many a times rejected the commentaries of the orthodox school. He took keen interest in reading Aristotle and Plato. Dara had a taste for fine arts like poetry and calligraphy. Rumi was one of his favourite poets. He learnt calligraphy from the famous calligrapher of his times, Abdul Rashid Dailemi. He took more interest in the mystic readings of different saints rather than the valiant deeds of the past warriors and war heroes. (Qanungo 1935, pp. 5-6). Dara was initiated in the Qadiri order and his close association with Mian Mir, Mulla Badakhashi and other saints is said to have brought about a change in his outlook towards life.

Jadunath Sarkar gives an insight into the education system of the times in his work, Studies in Mughal India. According to him, education for both Hindus and Muslims was 'purely a private matter', related intrinsically to religion, since it was not a State's duty even in Europe of the 19th century. The Kings and Sultans used to make hefty grants to mosques, monasteries, individual saints and scholars, which made education available to all. However, there were certain renowned scholars in certain parts of the country like Tatta, Ajodhan, Sialkot, Sarhind, Kanauj, Nagor, Ahmadabad, Pattan, Jaunpur who attracted students because of their dedication and speciality in some subjects, and who also 'maintained high schools and colleges'. These were the times when Arabic was not a popular language, but the 'highest Muhammadan education' was imparted in this language. Persian was one of the common language of communication and was 'studied only as an accomplishment necessary for cultivated society' and not as an important mode to serious learning. Mecca was the centre of higher

knowledge for the Muslims and a degree from Mecca 'commanded the highest respect in India'. A scholar with a degree from Mecca was often sought for the princes to impart education (1919, pp. 299-301).

Two incidences that marked the 'adult status' for a Princes in the royal tradition were: marriage and a 'share' in the 'financial resources' of the empire, which meant official ranks or *mansabs* and territories or *jagir*. Dara's wedding to Nadira Begum in February 1633 is guessed to be the costliest marriage of the Mughal history. The records of the marriage particularly mention the details of the expenditure of this grand event. Qanungo mentions the total expenditure to be thirty-two lakh rupees, of which sixteen lakhs were given by Jahanara (sister) from her own inheritance. (1935, p.12). Peter Mundy, an English traveller (also served in the East India Company), who was present in the city at the time of Dara's wedding gives a vivid description of this extravaganza of more than million lights or *chiraq*, and lively but 'loud' noise of hundreds of fireworks as a part of the festivities for many days. (Temple 1914, pp. 201-2). Apart from this, numerous lavish gifts were a part of the event, a description of which runs into pages and Shah Jahan made sure that the Padshah-nama, the imperial manuscript by Lahori illustrates the same for 'splendour and posterity'. (Tabatabai cited in Gandhi, 2019, pp. 80-1) Though Dara's harem did have the 'usual supplement of slave-girls', he did not enter into any other marital contract. Manucci does mention one Hindu dancing girl Rana Dil, whom Dara is said to have fallen deeply in love with. But, "all his sons and daughters were born of Nadira Begum", a practice that was quite rare in Mughal India. (Qanungo, 1935, pp.12-19).

When Nadira, Dara's 'constant companion and counsellor' passed away due a prolonged illness, he was totally shaken and stumped. He is said to have grown 'frantic with grief' and lost his 'judgement and prudence'. He was so stupefied with grief that despite strong warnings from his sons and followers, entered the house of Jiwan Malik, who treacherously made Dara captive and brought him to Delhi. After the death of his beloved wife, Dara wanted to spend three days in mourning before proceeding to his next expedition to Persia. Since he wanted to fulfil his wife's last wish of laying her in Hindustan, Dara sent her corpse to Lahore to be buried in the graveyard of his spiritual master and renowned saint Mian Mir. In his bewilderment, he made the major mistake of sending his trusted officer Gul Muhammad along with all the seventy soldiers as escorts to the coffin. He was 'utterly helpless' and 'dependent of his host's fidelity', when Jiwan Malik captured him, (Sarkar, 1925, pp. 333-5) informed Aurangzeb and brought him to Delhi.

Ranks, Promotion, and Emoluments

The education for a prince of royal families was not considered complete unless the same was substantiated with the professional talent of combat and a hands-on learning in warfare and administrative skills. For the purpose, the princes were assigned independent Jagirs to give them practical experience on the ground. Dara had a command of some very big Jagirs, which were larger than the combined Jagirs of all the young princes put together.

Dara received his first military command or mansab on October 5, 1633 with a grand ceremonial honour, when he was in his early twenties. It consisted of 12000 zat,* 6000 sawar and Hissar (Punjab), a territory associated with Babur (*Zat was a rank in the Mansabdar system in Mughal India). Qanungo says, the choice of the territory by the emperor was "not accidental but made deliberately to proclaim the eldest prince as the Heir Designate to the Throne." (1935, p. 21) Thereafter, Dara was accorded 'rapid' and 'high' promotions, breaking 'all previous records of the family.' Within a period of five years his zat got increased to 20,000 and sawars to 10,000. The upgradation did not stop here, in 1648 and 1656 Dara received two 'lifts' adding 10,000 zat each time. Dara also received an extraordinary rank of 60,000 zat and 40,000 sawars as a recognition of the care and nursing during the illness his father, the emperor. He commanded the viceroyalty of Allahabad, Kashmir, Punjab, Gujrat, Multan, Kabul and the region between Agra and Delhi etc. during his lifetime. (1935, Chapter 3) Dara was a wealthy prince for his military ranks alone fetched him a salary of two crores, seventy five thousand rupees per year. Besides this, the income from his fiefs and Jagirs was around twenty two lakhs.

A point worth noticing in this context is that while Shah Jahan bestowed on Dara all the resources – military and financial, he failed to give him enough opportunity to utilize them on ground. Dara was seldom sent away from the court. The result was that when he was actually faced with resistance on the field and lead real expeditions, he lacked in political and strategic astuteness to manage them well. At the first expedition against the Persians, the Prince was re-called to Kabul (1639). The second expedition of Dara to Qandahar could be won because of the intelligent decisions by Shah Jahan and able generals in his army. However, Dara was given the honour of a victorious general on his arrival back at the Lahore court. Dara was 'renowned as scholar than a soldier' in his empire. Qanungo observes:

During his official career he [Dara] commanded three military expeditions against the Persians, and of these two were almost holiday parades without any enemy to encounter, but in the third fortune deserted him sadly....The Crown prince was reared up like a green-house plant carefully shielded from dangers and disappointments, and watered by the perennial spring of Shah Jahan's affection. (1935, pp. 26-7)

Avik Chanda recounts when Shah Jahan took along Dara to the war of Deccan in December 1629 but, was deliberately kept away from the frontline. Dara Shukoh did gather a feel of the horrors of war field, but only with a 'second-hand' experience. He describes thus:

When the army was on the march, the Prince could see beyond the fringes of the camp: a reddish, arid ground, starving peasants, bodies of slain rebels heaped like rubbish along both sides of the road....There were also those gruesome trophies of war that made Dara cringe: heads that had been hacked off, unwrapped and rolled onto the ground, kicked and spat on, amidst a general wave of approbation....What more horrors would he witness if he were leading the campaign from the front? (2019, p. 35) That Dara was kept away from the battle-field by Shah Jahan is a fact that many scholars recount, but the explanations for the same is a subject that has not been seriously discussed. What could have been the reason for the same? Dara's own inaptitude to handle the battlefield? Lack of trust by the Emperor? Shah Jahan's over-affection towards Dara? Or, the fact that as the eldest son, he was proclaimed Heir Beneficiary by the Emperor and thus he wanted to protect the 'would be' Sultan? The answer to these questions is not likely to be definite, for most of the historians count either all, or some of the above explanations to the question. The ambit of the present paper doesn't allow to delve this problem in details. However, we shall look into a related issue - the norms of succession in Mughal India and its political attributes.

The War of Succession and its Political Magnitude

Shah Jahan proclaimed Dara as his Heir and publically indicated it time and again. Firstly, by assigning him Hisar - the ancestral territory associated with the lineage of Babur, as a part of Dara's very first mansab in 1633, when he was still in his early twenties. Secondly, by giving him speedy promotions and extending his fiefs to larger than the combined strength of all the younger sons, raising his financial returns to the tune of rupees two crores plus annually. Thirdly, according him the title Prince of Great Fortune (shāhzāda-vi buland igbāl), when he had not even completed thirty. Fourthly, keeping Dara by his side during the royal 'Darshan' to the public in the morning hours. Since the times of Akbar, Darshan was the 'sole prerogative of the Emperor', but Dara's face became familiar to the public as 'he stood beside the Emperor at the *jharokha*'. (Chanda, p. 40) There are other signs in Shah Jahan's chronicles that indicate Dara as his choice for the next emperor. Many historians count this inclination of Shah Jahan as the chief cause of rebellion of the younger princes against their father.

The compelling question here is – if Shah Jahan was fully aware that there was no established 'law of primogeniture' in Mughal history of India, why did he envision such a possibility for his eldest son? There existed an 'unspoken rule' of an open-ended system signifying an equal

share for all males of the royal family in 'father's patrimony', which had its genesis in the 'Turco-Mongol ideas'. The norm of a Persian phrase – *ya takhta ya tabut* (either throne or coffin) conveys the political necessity of the war of succession at every dynastic change, that assumed the primary mode to decide the next emperor. Since this was an accepted norm, all the princes knew that their very existence depended on their achievements, strengths and skills of manoeuvring their way out, linkages of support, and networks of reliable relations they were trained from the early age to be 'independent minded, tough, and ruthless'. (Faruqui, 2012, *Introduction*). A letter written by Muhammad Akbar to his father Aurangzeb bears an interesting testimony to this fact. It reads:

The duty of a father is to bring up, educate, and guard the health and life of his son. Praise be to God, [that] up till now I have left no stone unturned in service and obedience, but how can I enumerate the favors of your Majesty? . . . it is brought to the notice [of Aurangzeb] that to help and side with the youngest son is the foremost duty of a revered father always and everywhere, but your Majesty, leaving aside the love of all the other sons, has bestowed the title of 'Shah' upon the eldest son [i.e., Muazzam] and declared him the heir-apparent. How can this action be justified? Every son has got an equal right in his father's property. Which religion permits preference of one over the others? [Emphasis added] (B. N. Reu, "Letters exchanged between Emperor Aurangzeb and his son Prince Muhammad Akbar," Proceedings - Indian History Congress cited in Faruqui, 2012, p. 11)

Discussing the succession in contemporary Islamic Empires, Faruqui reveals that during 1362-89 and until early 1600, the Ottoman codes of succession were not only narrowed down to the direct heirs of the ruling emperor, but passed to the prince who managed to kill the other contenders inside the Ottoman royal family. These norms were codified and the ruler Mehmed II (r. 1444-6, 1451-81) issued an imperial decree that plainly stated: "For the welfare of the state, the one of my sons to

whom God grants the sultanate may lawfully put his brothers to death". Even the majority of the 'ulama' consented to this without any objections. (Halil Inalcik, cited in Faruqui, 2012, p. 14) However, the Mughal system in India never codified its law of succession, no matter how brutal the process was. And, this could be another reason for Shah Jahan to gamble a chance in favour of his favourite son, who also happened to be the eldest among the contending princes. Establishing the *raison deter* for the Mughal laws of succession Faruqui, in his work *The Princes of the Mughal Empire* says, "no matter the outcome of a particular conflict between father and son, I argue, rebellions served to reinforce the foundations of dynastic power and authority". (2012, p. 12) However, Faruqui leaves one wondering, if the brutal and bloody war amongst the sons and between the sons and the fathers of the same family was a source of 'power and authority', then what could be the reasons for the tumbling of the Mughal Empire.

Whatever may have been the laws of succession in Mughal India, and how bloody the battle amongst the political contenders, the common people did not lose their sense of wisdom, justice, pity and compassion. They may, or may not have taken the relevant action at the appropriate time, but did seem to register their reactions at the injustices, some even at the cost of losing their lives. The gruesome battle for the throne generally limited itself to the royal family and at the most the family confidants. Jadunath Sarkar gives a peek into the day when on August 29, 1659 Dara was paraded on the roads of Delhi in chains along with his fourteen year old son Sipihr Shukoh. He describes the kindness that Dara exhibited in the nastiest of the life situations, in response to the frenzy amongst the audience:

Dara was seated in an uncovered *hawda* on the back of a small female elephant covered with dirt. By his side was his second son Sipihr Shukoh, a lad of fourteen; and behind them with a naked sword sat their gaoler, the slave Nazar Beg....The captive heir to the richest throne in the world...was now clad in a travel-tainted dress of the coarsest cloth, with a dark dinge-coloured turban, such as only the poor wear, on his head, and no necklace or jewel

adorning his person. His feet were chained, though his hands were free. Exposed to the full blaze of an August sun, he was taken through the scenes of his former glory and splendour. In the bitterness of disgrace, he did not raise his head, nor cast his glance on any side, but sat "like a crushed twig". Only once did he look up, when a poor beggar from the road-side cried out, "O Dara! When you were master, you always gave me alms; today I know well thou hast naught to give." The appeal touched the prisoner; he raised his hand to his shoulder, drew off his wrapper and threw it to the beggar. (Sarkar. 1925, p. 336)

The parade was organised by Aurangzeb to ridicule Dara in the public eye. On the contrary, the outcome proved otherwise as the "pity of the citizens swept every other feeling away". The incident proved unfortunate for Aurangzeb and fatal for Dara. Aurangzeb probably did not expect the public outburst of love and sympathy for Dara at the sight of his 'fallen greatness'. (Sarkar. 1925, p. 337). Dara had been popular amongst the 'lower orders' because of his 'lavish charity'. Francois Bernier who stayed for 12 years at the court of Mughals and was present at the scene gives an account of the incident. He says:

...when the prince was brought to the gates of Delhi, it became a question whether should he be sent to Gwalior or should he be passed through the city to strike the terror....The crowd assembled was immense; and everywhere I observed people weeping and lamenting the fate of Dara in the most touching language....From every quarter I heard piercing and distressing shrieks,...men, women and children wailing as if some mighty calamity had happened to themselves...for the Indians have a very tender heart. (1916, pp. 97-9)

The evening of August 29th, the parade day, Dara's fate was the subject of debate in the 'emperor's Hall of Private Audience' or *Diwan-i-Khas* of the Delhi Fort, where some ministers pleaded for Dara's life. But, many others including Dara's own younger sister Raushanara were against any mercy for the *infidel* who had turned a *kafir*. Sarkar says, "The pliant theologians in the Emperor's pay signed a decree" for the death of Dara on the grounds of "deviation from Islamic orthodoxy". These, so called pillars of the 'Canonical Law and Faith' feared several instabilities and conflicts if Dara was left alive. Thus, the official history published under Aurangzeb's reign 'justified' this act of political murder as a "necessity to protect the faith and Holy Law". For the sake of the State it was considered 'unlawful' to let Dara live, because he had proved to be a 'destroyer of public peace'. (Sarkar. 1925, pp. 337-8). Dara did write to his brother for mercy, but the overall political situation after the parade deteriorated to such an extent that Aurangzeb could possibly not consider the plea of his brother.

As stated earlier, the parade proved *unfortunate* for Aurangzeb and *fatal* for Dara. Unfortunate for Aurangzeb because the very next day a riot broke out in the city. The people came to know about the treachery committed by Jiwan Malik in capturing Dara. On August 30, when he along with his Afghan followers was on their way to the Court, they were first 'mobbed and abused', and then 'hurled stones', 'clods of earth', and beaten with sticks by the people. They are said to have been instigated by one Haibat an *ahadi* (a gentleman trooper - a guard) and joined by 'beggars', 'ruffians' and other 'desperadoes' from every lane and bazaar of Delhi. Not only this, the women joined the commotion from over their roof tops and threw ashes and pots filled with filth on the trope. Some of Jiwan's people were wounded and killed, while he himself had to be escorted under shield.

On the other hand, the parade proved fatal for Dara because immediately after this incident Aurangzeb ordered the execution of Dara. The same night of 30th August 1659, Dara was murdered in the prison, his head brought to Aurangzeb who got it washed and made sure that it was that of Dara and not substituted for some other person. (1925, pp. 339-40). Political murders are with a reason and a target. In order to fulfil the purpose and create the required fright in the public memory, the very next morning Aurangzeb (August 31, 1659) ordered the dead remains of Dara Shukoh placed on the back of an elephant and taken along the bazaars and roads of Delhi. The people standing on the sides 'wept at the ghastly spectacle'. Haibat, the *ahadi*, who was found to have instigated the fellow citizens to attack Jiwan Malik was sentenced to the cruellest death by Aurangzeb. He was ordered to be 'sawn alive into two halves', an example of atrocious barbarism under Aurangzeb's reign. (Kanungo, 1935, pp. 319-20) Supriya Gandhi cites Muhammad Faiz Bakhsh who condemns Aurangzeb for his hypocrisy in his work *Tarikh-i-Farahbakhsh*:

...that one who clothed himself as Aurangzeb did, with a cloak of godly reverence, piety, devotion, consistency, sanctity and moderation, should treat his own father and brothers so foully as he did; should murder Dara Shukoh pleading the law of the Muslim faith as his authority. . . all this is certainly inconsistent with piety and love of God. (2019, p.248)

Violence breeds violence, for down two centuries, the Great Mughal Epoch closed down with bloodier scene. Sarkar writes:

On 22nd September 1857....Princes Mirza Mughal, Mirza Quraish Sultan, and Mirza Abu Bakht, the sons and grandsons of the last Emperor of Delhi...were shot dead in cold blood by a foreign soldier...devoid of...pity....The bodies of the last of the legitimate Timurids were flung like carcases on the terrace of the Police Office and exposed to the public gaze, as Dara's had been. *In brother's blood did Aurangzeb mount to the throne, and in the blood of his children did the royal name pass away from his race.* (1925, p. 341)

Dara as a Person

Historians and European travellers like Bernier and Manucci describe Dara as a man of varied qualities, like 'courteous in conversation, polite and extremely liberal', kind and compassionate with a dignified and joyous persona. But, is also said to have carried some typical traits like holding too high an opinion about himself, not open to any useful advice by others. This quality deterred even his well-wishers to inform him about the stratagem of his enemies and brothers. Dara believed that he could accomplish anything with the power of his mind. At times, he was disrespectful even to the *ulamas*. But, his anger was 'seldom more than momentary'. Born as a Muslim, participated in the activities of all the religions. While he 'publically professed his adherence to his faith, Dara was in private a Hindu to Hindus and a Christian to Christians. He is said to have been in regular touch with Hindu scholars and doctors and also bestowed on them large sums of pensions. Dara is said to have been close to Father Buzie, a Jesuit. (Bernier 1934, p.6)

Niccolao Manucci, was a Venetian, who reached India in January 1656, took service under Dara Shukoh and later Shah Alam. At intervals he set up practice as a doctor without any medical training, travelled all over India and passed his old age at Madras and Pondicherry, dying in 1717. His life in India covered more than sixty years and is said to have been quite friendly to Dara. He also describes Dara as over-confident and despising those who tried to give him advice, but it was 'very easy to discover his intentions'. Manucci marks an over-positivist trait when he says, Dara thought that everyone loved him and also that the fortunes would favour him 'invariably'. Bernier and Manucci seem to converge when it comes to describing Dara's interaction with the peers of different religion, like, praising the tenets of Muhammad while meeting a Mohammedan, admiring Jewish religion when he met a Jew and hailing Hinduism when he met the Hindu saints. He was most 'delighted' in the company of the Jesuit Fathers, and enjoyed the most when they would overcome everyone in their arguments. He sometimes drank with fathers but with discretion. While this attribute of respecting different religions is a streak of open-mindedness in today's context, did not impress the European travellers. They seem to concur with the common impulse of the time that 'Dara had no religion', the reason that Aurangzeb labelled him a *kafir*. (Manucci, 1907, p. 221-4).

When it comes to describing Dara as a person, one encounters varied and conflicting opinions. One of the reason can be that he, being the most prospective contender for the hot seat by the fact that he was indicated in many ways by Shah Jahan as his Heir Designate, Dara was under the sharp scanner of all and was expected to be the perfect person worthy of the Throne in all respects – character, military strength, political acumen, sharp and diplomatic, kind and compassionate and above all a good Mussalman. In Qanungo, we find a more thoughtful and considerate view of Dara as a person. He says:

...chapters...dealing with his political career, are an ample commentary on the defects of Dara's character. But his virtues were his own, while his weaknesses, which leaned only to virtue's side, were the unhappy accidents of a combination of circumstances. These defects are the more deplorable...because they loom unreasonably large because of his failure in the field of politic and war. However, there was something in Dara which in spite of his weaknesses and indiscretion endeared him to all but his...enemies. Prince Dara Shukoh is often pronounced as a failure in history. This is perhaps an injustice to Dara as well as an insult to the modern conception of history. (1935, pp 373-4)

Qanungo cites Manucci, who happened to meet a person Abdul Qasim on his tour to Patna. He sincerely regretted that he could not get enough opportunity to show his love and devotion to the Prince, while repenting for having done some wrong and injustice to Dara. Qanungo says:

History cannot but judge a man by the criterion of the sumtotal of the good done by him to his own species. Judged by this standard, Aurangzeb's half a century of barren rule was the most conspicuous failure in Indian history. (1935, p. 374)

There is no doubt that Dara proved a failure in war and political stratagem, but then by these standards even the other princes of the same family met with almost the same fate, though trained rigorously in all political aspects. Dara devoted his time to some finer task of carrying out literary accruals in order to promote peace and harmony among the nobler minds of Islam and Hinduism, and further the cause of collective concord in the society. The young Abdul Kalam Azad in his twenties (1910) expressed about Dara in an essay that was translated later. He said: It is a blot on historical veracity that the pen which recorded the history of the Mughal period was always held by Dara Shukoh's enemies...From his early years Dara displayed the attributes of a Dervish...The overwhelming proof of his taste is that in pursuing his goal he lost the distinction between the temple and mosque. (Hameed, Trans. 1991, pp.29-30)

Richard Eaton observes the purpose of Dara's scholarly engagements with pious luminaries like saint Baba Lal:

One of his [Dara's] preoccupations centred on a classic theme of Indian philosophy: the problem of how to reconcile the renunciation of the world, necessary for achieving spiritual liberation, with engagement in the world, necessary for upholding and maintaining a functioning society... for a ruler charged with overseeing the social order of an entire kingdom, the contradiction could be especially acute...While returning to north India from Afghanistan, where he had just led a failed effort to recapture Kandahar from the Iranians, he passed through Lahore, where he visited a Punjabi holy man, Baba Lal. In the wake of his stunning defeat at Kandahar...the question puts to Baba Lal...focused principally on the he compatibility of rulership and renunciation. (Eaton, 2019, p.302)

We are reminded of Majumdar here when he says, "Herein lies the greatest tragedy of Dara's life. He had an aptitude for a higher spiritual life, but he had to spend his days amid the sordid materialism of the Mughal palace. His special qualities of the head and heart were meant for the ennobling of mankind, but he was called upon to use them for gaining a royal throne." (Mujumdar in Foreword to Qanungo, 1935 p. vi)

The literary activities of Dara can be distinctly divided into two phases. Till the completion of his *Risala-i-Haqnuma* in 1647, he engaged himself mainly with the familiarity of mystic Islam and Sufi theosophy, under the guidance of Mian Mir and Mulla Shah Badakhshi, the two Sufi saints. From 1647 till 1657 Dara dedicated himself to the study of Jewish, Christian and Hindu religions with the purpose of discovering the underlying principles of these religions and to harmonize them with the tenets of Islam. It was during this period that he met, among others, saint Sarmad; the four Christian Jesuit Fathers – Estanilas Malpica, Pedro Juzarte, Father Henri Busee and Heinrich Roth.

The Books authored by Dara Shukoh in Persian:

(1639) *Safinat-ul-awliya* – or Lives of Muslim Saints, his first work.

(1642) *Sakinat-ul-awliya* - dealing mainly with life of Sufi Mian Mir.

(1647) Risala-i-Haqnuma – or Compass of the Truth.

(1650-56) Majma-ul-Baharain - or Mingling of Two Oceans

(1657) *Sirr-i-Akbar* – or The Great Secret or The Secret of Secrets - the last and the greatest literary achievement of Dara Shukoh.

Minor works:

(1652) *Hasanat-ul-Arifin* –written mainly to meet the public criticism of his pantheistic views, seen as un-Islamic by the orthodoxy.

Tariqat-ul-Haqiqat – another work on pantheism.

Translation Work

With the help of Sanskrit scholars whom Dara had patronised, he commissioned translation work of the *Bhagavad Gita*, *Jog-Vashistha* (*Yog- Vashistha*), under the title of *Tarjuma-i-Jog-Vashistha* (1656), the famous play *Probodha-Chanrodaya* and 50 volumes of *Upanishads* into Persian.

The list may still be only partial because many of Dara's literary and work of art were purposefully destroyed from the royal collections. We come across various royal edicts, writings, travelogues and chronicles that describe Dara as the doomed prince. But, one cannot deny the fact that close to fifty years of Aurangzeb's rule after the assassination of Dara was long enough a time for the emperor to ensure the obliteration of Dara Shukoh's memory from all tangible records. Supriya Gandhi reveals:

The new emperor was likely responsible for having his brother's name scratched or blotted out from the valuable manuscripts that bore his autograph... Though a manuscript of Dara's earliest work, the *Safinat-ul-auliya*, still survives, written and corrected in the prince's distinctive hand, there do not seem to be any remaining autographed manuscripts of Dara's *Majma-ul-bahrain* or *Sirri-i-akbar*." (2019, p. 248)

Conclusion: The Lost Lineage of Universalism

Scholars and historians see a political motive behind Dara's engagement with saints and seers of different religions. Whereas Hasrat rejects any political intent behind his spiritual probes, which was the case with Akbar for he wanted to build a 'political synthesis' for the 'divergent creeds' in India, (1953, p.6-7) Munis Faruqui (2014, p. 57-9) and Supriya Gandhi (2019, p.189) seem to converge on the political reasons behind his literary endeavours, for Dara wanted to project himself as the most worthy for the throne. Whereas the possibility of a political motive behind all of Dara's religious and spiritual endeavours cannot be ruled out, one argument may well be considered. To pursue the political motive of being a 'worthy monarch in the public eye', fifteen years of scholarly engagements seems little too long a period. It would have been enough for Dara to have sponsored the projects under his name and guidance, rather than meticulously engaging with sufis, saints and yogis and carrying out the literary work. The area of religious philosophies may not be that enlivening so as to enlist the interests of anyone for that long a period (till death), unless one starts finding the inquiry satiating of a 'Spiritual Quest'.

Dara was not the first to show reverence to Sufis and saints, Jahangir and Shah Jahan both are commonly known to visit Hindu saints and Sufis quite often. As a teenager, when Dara had fallen seriously ill, Shah Jahan had taken him to Lahore to Mian Mir, the famous Sufi Qadiri of Punjab. The blessings had cured Dara, but at the same time left a mark of deep veneration for the Sufi saint, which finds a mention by him in his work Safinat-ul-awliya. In fact, Dara is said to have accepted the governorship of Allahabad in 1645 because of his inclination towards philosophy and mysticism. Allahabad was the seat of Allah Mohammad Allahabadi, the most famous interpreter of the philosophy of Ebn al-Arabi (1165 - 1240) in that period. Inquiring into the influences of Majma-ul-Bahrain or Mingling of Two Oceans, Manisha Mishra discusses in details how Dara strove to 'reconcile' the philosophies of Hindus and Muslims, knowing well the 'intricacies' of the two. Not only this, he also sought to 'synthesise' the diverse Indian 'philosophical schools of Ramanuja's Vishistadvaita, Shankara's advaita Vedanta' and the prevailing 'Pauranic views' of the times.

After completing *Majma-ul-Bharain*, Dara started the translation work of the Upanishads and established a close connection between these texts and the Quran. He got deeply convinced that the religious truth is not only contained in the books that Quran explicitly mentions - the Torah, Psalms, and the Gospels. In Quran itself a 'hidden book' not yet discovered is mentioned. Dara claimed that the "protected book" literally 'hidden' or well-guarded (kitab maknun) mentioned in the Quran is non-other than the Upanishads. He said this, one; because the Upanishads talk about the same concept of the transcendental unity of the absolute as does the Quran. Two; they are the oldest revelation, as contained in the Vedas and in particular the Vedanta. Since Dara deemed it necessary to reveal this wisdom to his fellow Muslims, he embarked upon his famous work - Sirr-i-akbar or the Secret of Secrets, by undertaking the translation of 52 Upanishads with the help of a team of Brahamin scholars. In the preface to Sirr-i-akbar Dara Shukoh communicates that he translated the Upanishads with the help of pandit scholars of Banaras 'without any worldly motive'. That he regards them as 'Divine Secrets' and this is the reason that he gives them the title of Sirr-i-akbar. To him, the Veda seemed 'the essence of Monotheism', and also the 'most ancient book' that held in them the guarded secrets. This is how the things that were unknown became known, and that which was 'incomprehensible became comprehensible to this *fagir*'. Having made the 'bold assertion' that might send a shock wave to the orthodoxy, Dara takes a step back and writes in the preface itself, saying that the translation of Upanishads is undertaken for the benefit of his children, seekers of truth and his own self and "not for the general public". (Hasrat, 1953, pp. 268-9) According to Friedmann, "Dara Shukoh's view of the relationship between the Hindu religious literature and the Qur'an seems to be his most significant contribution to Islamic thought." (cited in Hayat, 2016, p. 52) Hayat also cite Filliozat and Tara Chand who acknowledge the scholarship of Dara and describe Sirr-i-akbar as a 'masterpiece' and an "achievement of the highest order."

In the house of Timurs, Dara Shukoh was undoubtedly the most learned prince, with a 'passion' to discover the 'principle of unity-in-plurality in revealed religions'. He took the initiative and the courage to sincerely venture into activities of literary discussions and researches in different religions. He was convinced that the diverse religions differ only in manifestations and not in their essence. Believed that by popularising the 'great truth' of *tawhid* or divine unity, he would be able to 'balm' the soring wounds of religious discords in the society that was 'eating into the vitals of the mankind'. He tried to establish this "not by repudiating the religion of Muhammad but by reading an original meaning into it, by removing the stigma of narrowness from the noble brow of Islam".

Even if we discount the chronicles, official records, travelogues and the writings done especially during the time of Aurangzeb, there is no dearth of material on Dara that is not only sympathetic to him, but is full of affection, and revers him for the value that his work carries to the world of knowledge and wisdom. In fact, Dara's work thrived after his death. After some years of his killing, his literary work started getting

picked up by readers beyond the known circles of people and topography. A Persian copy of Majma-ul-Bahrain, along with a text of Dara's dialogues with saint Baba Lal was found in the collection of a Hindu writer and a seeker Debi Das, apparently having no connection with either the royal court or Dara. Debi Das is said to have completed his compilation Khulasat-ul-khulasa (or Quintessence of the Quintessence) in the thirteenth year of Aurangzeb's rule. Another copy of Majma-ul-Bahrain was found in Arabic translation, bearing more than one names of the owners, reflecting its journey through a 'lineage of Qadiri-affiliated Sufis'. With notes written on the margins in Arabic, the manuscript not only suggests the 'transregional reach' of Dara's work, but also indicate the 'curiosity of the Arabic-speaking migrants or travellers to India' who would have found the text fascinating and thus worthy of translation.

Sirr-i-akbar or 'The Great Secret' found notable readers amongst the Persian reading Hindus of the subcontinent. In the absence of the photocopier machines in those times, the texts were usually written down by transcribers. A few copies of *Sirr-i-akbar* had Muslims transcribers who had scribed the text for their Hindu patrons like the case of some 'Ashraf Ali' who is said to have 'copied the text for Rai Sankat Prasad, the rais of Benaras in 1875'. The details can be corroborated since several copies were found with the 'opening invocation' to Lord Ganesha, the Hindu God. One place in India, where *Sirr-i-akbar* was extensively found is Kashmir, where one can find several manuscripts bearing the names of Kashmiri Pandit scribers.

Dara's work proved to be ground-breaking, lending it the universal streak for all times to come. It was through this work that the West got introduced to the Upanishads of India. French Orientalist A. H. Anquetil-Duperron, who was keenly interested in Hindu scriptures for a long time, got hold of Dara's Persian copy of *Sirr-i-akbar* through a friend Gentil in India. Gentil, who was appointed as a French Resident at the court of Oudh and was aware of the significance of *Sirr-i-akbar*, sent a copy to his friend Duperron in France in 1775, who meticulously translated it to Latin. (Cross, 1998, pp. 123-9) This is how the Upanishads reached Europe, found their way to Libraries and the

"bedside of the German philosopher Arthur Schopenhauer. By such circuitous pathways, interest in ancient Indian philosophy quickened in nineteenth-century Europe." (Eaton, 2019, p. 303) Dara could not possibly have foreseen that the Latin translation of his work by A. H. Anquetil Duperron, which appeared in Europe in 1801 under the title *Oupnek'hat, Id Est Secretum Tegendum*, would arouse among European thinkers an immense interest in Indian mystical philosophy and would lend India an image of a 'home of all mystical wisdom'. (Huart and Massignon, p. 287, cited in Encyclopaedia Iranica).

Few events prove to be the 'significant milestones of world's history' for they carve the pathway to the future course of mankind. One such event was the defeat of Dara at the battle of Samugarh (1658) that categorically outlined the fact, that the 'Age of Akbar', signifying a 'period of nationalism in politics and culture' and the 'revival of letters and fine art', was over. (Qanungo, 1935, pp. 258-9) Aurangzeb is abominated as a religious bigot, impelled by the hatred of Hindus. His aspiration to Islamize its non-Muslim populations at all costs did invite a looming threat of disintegration on the Mughal Empire. No matter, what the norms of open-ended struggle lay before the contenders, Dara is generally seen as a more tolerant and open-minded person, universally glorified as a champion of Mughal pluralism - a lineage of universalism. There cannot be more apt words to affirm the contribution of Dara Shukoh than these word of Qanungo, "The world has not become richer in any way by the long reign of Aurangzeb; but it would have been certainly poorer without a Dara Shukoh." (1935, p. 375) It is high time that we accorded Dara Shukoh the prestige and recognition that is due to him in the history for so long. In fact, anyone intending to find a viable solution to the religious acrimony and bitterness that can be witnessed around the world in the present times, should step into the footsteps of Dara and begin the work where he has left. The message that Dara conveyed by his work was one of Unity of Divinity. If this motive is termed as 'political', so be it, for noble politicians are a rarity in this world.

References

Books

- Azad, A.P.J. Abdul. (1991). *The Rubaiyat of Sarmad*. (Transl. by Syeda Saiyidain Hameed). New Delhi: Indian Council for Cultural Relations.
- Chanda, A. (2019). *Dara Shukoh: The Man who would be King*. Noida, India: HarperCollins.
- Bernier, F. (1916). Travels in the Mogul Empire A.D. 1656-1668, (Translated and Annotated by Archibald Constable on the Basis of Irving Brock's Version 1891). London: Oxford University Press.
- Bernier, F. (1934). *Travels in the Mogul Empire A.D. 1656-1668*, (2nd edition Trans. Smith, V. A) London: Oxford University Press.
- Eaton. R. M. (2019). *India in the Persianate Age: 1000 1765*. New Delhi: Allen &Lane.
- Faruqui, M. D. (2012). *The Princes of the Mughal Empire* 1504 -1719. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gandhi, S. (2020). *The emperor who never was: Dara Shukoh in Mughal India.* London: Harvard University Press.
- Hasrat, B. J. (1953). *Dara Shikoh: Life and Works*. Calcutta: Vishwabharati Publishing Department.
- Manucci, N. (1907). *Storia Do Mongor or Mughal India: 1653-1708, Vol-1.* (Trans. Irvine, W) London: John Murray (Published for the Government of India).
- Qanungo, K. R. (1935). *Dara Shukoh: Vol 1*. Calcutta, India: M. C. Sarkar & Sons Ltd.
- Sarkar, J. (1919). Studies in Mughal India. Calcutta: M.C. Sarkar & Sons,
- Sarkar, J. (1925). History of Aurangzeb Vol I&II. Calcutta: Orient Longman.
- Shikoh, Prince. M. Dara. (1998). Majma-ul-Bahrain or The Mingling of Oceans. (Edited and translated by M. Mahfuz-ul-Haq). Calcutta: Asiatic Society [first pub. 1926]
- Temple, R. C. (ed.) (1914). *The Travels of Peter Mundy in Europe and Asia 1628-1667* & *Travel in Asia-Vol 2*. London: Hakluyt Society.

Thesis

Hayat, Perwaiz. (2016). The Conversation between Dārā Shukōh and Lāl Dās:

a Şūfī-Yogī dialogue of the 17th - century Indian subcontinent, Doctoral Thesis, Institute of Islamic Studies, McGill University, Montreal.

Journals & News Papers

- Cross, S. (1998). Turning to the East: How the Upanishads reached the West India International Centre Quarterly, Vol. 25, No. 2/3 pp. 123-129. Retrieved from Stable URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/23005685
- Ganeri, J. (2009). Intellectual India: Reason, Identity, Dissent. *New Literary History* Vol. 40, No. 2, pp. 247-263

Stable URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/27760257

- Menon, V. (2021, November 10). Mughal History's Biggest Puzzle Solved by Municipal Engineer - Where is Dara Shukoh Buried? *The Print*. Retrieved from https://theprint.in/features/mughal-historys-biggestpuzzle-solved-by-municipal-engineer-where-is-dara-shukohburied/764003/
- Mishra, M. (2005-2006). Contributions of Influences in the Writing of "Majmaul-Bahrain": An Enquiry. *Proceedings of the Indian History Congress*, pp. 423-429.

Retrieved from Stable URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/44145858

Encyclopaedia Iranica, Dara Shukoh

https://www.iranicaonline.org/articles/dara-sokoh#article-tags-overlay

What Fueled the Russia-Ukraine War?

Hari Mohan Sharma* & Hari K. Sharma^{*}

Abstract

The ongoing Russia-Ukraine war is a grave reminder that conflict and wars are yet to be over. Humanity has yet to find more pragmatic, effective and consensus based solutions to the deeply entrenched, persistent disagreements between the states. It has also underlined the limitations of international organizations, global civil society, mass media, international laws, treaties, conventions, regimes etc. in preventing the outbreak of conflict and wars. It has also put a question mark on the assertions and key assumptions of globalization theorists, particularly of hyper globalists regarding global exchange, cooperation and possible unification of states. It has uncovered the worst side of human beings despite all the claims of civility, rationality and a genuine common concern for lasting global peace. Now a question emerged as to what leads to this conflict, who can be held responsible for it and in what direction it's heading? Can we take it as the beginning of the World War III as said by some global leaders or it may die down with some mutually agreed solutions? The present study would attempt to explore the key causes of the Ukraine crises from its history, contemporary policies and international politics.

Key Words: Russia, Ukraine, Conflict, Causes, NATO, US

Introduction: the outbreak of the War

Both Russia and Ukraine have their own reasons for the outbreak of the present conflict, its motive, nature and culpability. Most American allies and European states blamed Russia as the aggressor and try to portray Russian leader Putin as a 'dictator' with global geopolitical ambitions and a potential danger to global peace. The Russian side accused the US and NATO's eastward expansion of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine.

^{*} Dr. Hari Mohan Sharma is Associate Professor at Satyawati College (Evening), Department of Political Science, University of Delhi.

^{*} Hari K. Sharma is Assistant Professor at Lady Shri Ram College for Women, Department of Political Science, University of Delhi.

Russia attacked Ukraine on February 24, 2022, intending to "demilitarise and de-Nazify Ukraine". The Russian leader Vladimir Putin has declared that he aimed to protect the Ukrainian People subjected to eight years of bullying and genocide by the Ukrainian government. Russia also wants Ukraine to remain neutral in the ongoing tussle between US lead NATO and Russia. The Chief of Russia's foreign intelligence Sergei Naryshkin has argued that "Russia's future and its future place in the world are at stake". The Russian side even refuses to acknowledge it as war or invasion and termed it as a "special military operation" initiated to liberate Ukraine. (Kirby, 2022)

On the other hand, Ukraine has categorically rejected all such claims and blamed Russia for invading a sovereign country with a democratically elected leader. Ukrainian president, Volodymyr Zelensky has retorted to all the 'false claims' made by Russia and said that "the enemy has designated me as target number one; my family is target number two". His advisor alleged that two attempts have already been made by the Russian side to destabilize the Ukrainian government. Scholars are also of the opinion that Russia has also expanded the goals and scope of this conflict. Initially, its objective was the liberation of Donbas and now it seems that it either wants to take its full control or to divide it.

Causes of the Conflict

In general, every conflict starts due to some instantaneous factors amounting to its sudden outbreak. But, every conflict also has a background and history behind it that keeps the disagreements and hostility alive and lets the parties and scholars keep anticipating its abrupt outburst at a particular time in future. The following are some of the probable reasons for the conflict between Russia and Ukraine:

Historical reasons: contested "commonality"

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine is not new. It has a long history stretching from the times of imperial Russia. The present territory of Ukraine became part of the Russian empire in the late 1700s after successive rules by the Mongols, the Poles and Lithuanians. After the

success of the Bolshevik revolution in 1918, Ukraine declared independence; but by 1921 the Red army conquered most of it and Ukraine became a republic within the Soviet Union. (Donahue, 2022) After the disintegration of the former Soviet Union in 1991, this conflict took a new shape as now the re-unification becomes one of the goals of the political heir of the Soviet legacy, Russia.

Supreme Russian leader Vladimir Putin had expressed his worldview and vision way back when he argued about the inherent unity among the Eastern Slavs—Russians, Ukrainians, and Belarusians, who all trace their origins to the medieval Kyivan Rus commonwealth. It was an indication and desire that the modern states of Russia, Ukraine, and Belarus should share a common political destiny in present and future. (Mankoff, 2022) Vladimir Putin has always sought to reverse the "disintegration of historical Russia" and declared his intentions to restore Russian greatness. (CEPA, 2022) He has claimed that Russians and Ukrainians are one people, denying Ukraine its long history and termed the independent status of the state merely as an "anti-Russia project". He also asserted that "Ukraine never had stable traditions of genuine statehood" which can be seen as a crude expression of his future intentions.

Disagreements always persist between the two regarding the nature and extent of the relationship of Ukraine with the European Union, NATO and the United States of America. Armed conflict erupted in Eastern Ukraine in early 2014 after the Russian troops took control of Ukraine's Crimea region in March 2014. At that time, Russian President Vladimir Putin said that there was an emergent need to protect the rights of Russian citizens and Russian speakers in Crimea and southeast Ukraine. Later on, Russia formally annexed the Crimean peninsula through a disputed local referendum in which the Crimean population voted to join the Russian Federation. (Council on Foreign Relations, 2022) It leads to further ethnic divisions within Ukraine and after a few months, pro-Russian separatists in the Donetsk and Luhansk regions of eastern Ukraine held a similar referendum to declare independence from Ukraine. Soon, an armed conflict in the region broke out between the Russian-backed forces and the Ukrainian military. The present conflict can be seen in the continuation of the old hostility and rivalry between Ukraine and Russia. Other than the political reasons, it also has an ethnic dimension that provokes Russia time and again.

Date	Event
1918	Ukraine declares independence
1922	Ukraine becomes a republic within the Soviet Union
1991	It regains independence with the Soviet Union's collapse
2004	Orange Revolution annuls the rigged election of Russia-backed Viktor Yanukovych as president
2008	Ukraine applies to join NATO
2010	Yanukovych is elected president
2012	Ukraine and the EU draft an agreement to foster closer ties
2013	Yanukovych rejects the EU deal, sparking mass protests
Feb. 2014	Yanukovych is overthrown
Mar. 2014	Russia seizes Crimea
Apr. 2014	Pro-Russia separatists begin seizing territory in eastern Ukraine
Feb. 2022	Russia launches full-scale war on Ukraine

Table 1: Key Dates in Russian Ukrainian Relations

Source: Bloomberg, Asia Edition

Nord Stream II Project

Under the leadership of President Vladimir Putin Russia emerged as an energy giant, becoming the world's third-largest producer of oil and the second-largest producer of natural gas. Russia has used energy revenues to accumulate around \$630 billion in foreign exchange reserves to boost its economy. (Krishna, 2022) The relationship between Russia and Europe is based on some mutual requirements and dependencies. Russia is the largest single energy source for European Nations. While Russia needs revenues through the export of energy resources to European states the latter heavily depends on the supply

of energy to keep their economies moving. Currently, Russia was supplying about One-third of Europe's natural gas consumption and more than one-quarter of crude oil imports.

Due to this interdependency, it would be unlikely for Europe to impose any tougher sanctions on Russia. Here, particularly the case of Germany, which is the largest economy in Europe, is important because it was getting more than half of its natural gas and over one-third of its crude oil supplies from Russia. From the cold war days, there have been disagreements between the USA and Russia (former the Soviet Union) regarding Europe's energy dependency on Russia. It has the potential to prevent any punitive action against Russia, if required or make those actions largely ineffective. Successive US governments from John F. Kennedy to Ronald Regan have faced this dilemma as to how to tackle this problem. On the other hand, Russia has always been looking for some alternative routes and supply lines to directly supply energy to its largest customers in Europe like Germany rather than through some proxy US ally like Ukraine. Russia stopped its subsidized supply through Ukraine after the Pro-US governments came into power there. When Ukraine refused to comply, Russia earnestly started looking for some alternative energy supply routes as it has to fulfil its contracts and commitments with other European states. It was at that juncture a new pipeline named Nord Stream- that can directly supply gas from Russia to Germany was planned. Nord Stream pipeline became operational on November 8, 2011, and was hailed by political and business leaders as making a significant contribution to Europe's long-term energy security. (Nord Stream, 2011) It has two long-term consequences- It inflicted a huge annual loss of transit fees to Ukraine and further increased Germany's energy dependency on Russia.

Many scholars view the ongoing crises in Ukraine from the prism of the US attempt to derail the Nord Steam 2 pipeline project, which is an expansion of the original Nord Stream pipeline. It was approved by the German government in 2018 and its construction was completed in September 2021. Once operational it would smoothly transit a higher level of energy supply from Russia bypassing Ukraine, Poland and other

countries. Norm Stream 2 not only inflict huge revenue losses; but was also seen as an attempt of Russia to divide Europe along their energy requirements and supply lines. America and its allies also believe that once it becomes operational it can be used to arm-twist Europe to meet Russian geo-political goals in the region. However, on February 22, 2022, Germany halted the Nord Stream 2 Baltic Sea gas pipeline project after Russia formally recognised two breakaway regions in eastern Ukraine. (Marsh & Chambers, 2022)

Ukraine's relationship with the West and NATO membership

Russia fundamentally believes that the existence of NATO and its expansion in the post-cold war era in Eastern Europe is an imminent danger to the Russian political and security interest in Europe. Russian leadership considers that the sole aim of NATO is to weaken it, divide its society, isolate it and ultimately destroy it. Russia has accused NATO that the primary motive of its eastward expansion was to launch an "active military build-up on territories adjacent to Russia". Deployment of weapons and Missile Defense Systems in territories close to Russian borders, which means Central Europe, Eastern Europe and the Baltic states, were viewed as a direct threat and challenge by the Russian leadership and they have raised this issue multiple times with European states. Russia has warned Ukraine to shun its ambitions of joining NATO otherwise it would be forced to take military action.

Russia has expressed its concerns regarding the cosying up of relations between Ukraine and the West. We can partially blame this on the cold war mentality and lack of trust between the US and Russia. On numerous occasions in the past two years, Putin has publically expressed his thinking and concerns regarding Ukraine; but the other side seems determined to ignore it or took it too lightly. Some scholars believe it was more of testing Russia's patience, its political will and its capability to act.

US culpability

Eminent scholar John J. Mearsheimer while giving a speech on June 16 at the European Union Institute (EUI) blamed America for the current crises in Europe. He argued that "The United States is principally responsible for causing the Ukraine crisis. This is not to deny that Putin started the war and that he is responsible for Russia's conduct of the war. Nor is it to deny that America's allies bear some responsibility, but they largely follow Washington's lead on Ukraine". He largely attributed this to "America's obsession with bringing Ukraine into NATO and making it a Western bulwark on Russia's border". He further said that rather than trying to settle the issue through constructive dialogue Biden administration has reacted to the outbreak of war by doubling down against Russia. (Mearsheimer, 2022) America's punitive approach, arming and rearming of Ukraine, running global propaganda to unilaterally blame the imperial intentions of Russia for the war and creating hurdles in positive dialogue, amplified the scope of the war. It seems that the United States of America is not willing to find a diplomatic solution to the problem.

Apart from that Russia has repeatedly blamed and warned America against arming Ukraine. In April 2022, Russia sent a formal diplomatic note to the Biden administration warning the U.S. against further arming Ukraine as it could have "unpredictable consequences". Although the US officially denied receiving any such communication but reiterated, "What we can confirm is that, along with allies and partners, we are providing Ukraine with billions of dollars' worth of security assistance, which our Ukrainian partners are using to extraordinary effect to defend their country against Russia's unprovoked aggression and horrific acts of violence." (Brennan, 2022)

On the other hand the Secretary of State of the US, Antony Blinken has described this strategy as part of its plan to increase Kyiv's leverage at the negotiating table which may eventually help in settling the differences and end the conflict. It has been reported by The New York Times that in less than a week after the outbreak of the conflict the United States and NATO have pushed more than 17,000 antitank weapons, including Javelin missiles, over the borders of Poland and Romania to be transported to Ukraine. In April 2022 President Biden further approved fresh military assistance to Ukraine, including \$800 million worth of arms including artillery such as medium-range

howitzers for the next phase of the conflict in eastern Ukraine. The US President also announced \$500 million in direct economic assistance to the Ukrainian government as it battles to save the lives of people under siege by Russian forces. (Holland, 2022b) It has been reported that Washington has already provided \$6.9 billion in military assistance to Kyiv since the beginning of the Russian invasion. (Euronews, 2022) The supply of weapons and other logistical and economic support has been continuously provided by US and NATO in this conflict.

An opportunity to unite Europe against Russia

It has also been argued that for long US was looking for an opportunity to unite the European countries against its perceived enemy Russia, but it was not getting a solid reason and purpose to do so. The European countries have diverse economic and political interests that obstruct common reasoning and action. Somewhere, the European countries also want economic sovereignty and freedom from great power global competition and domination. It is pertinent to note that China and the United States couldn't separate their economic interests from geopolitical interests, but the member European Union states have learned this art. (Pisani-Ferry et al., 2019)

However, the Ukrainian crisis has provided that very ground to solidify NATO, persuade other countries like Finland and Sweden to join NATO and isolate and punish Russia. The US was looking for some kind of a broader alliance of democracies against the 'authoritarian states. As a Presidential candidate, Joe Biden had expressed his intent to "organize and host a global Summit for Democracy to renew the spirit and shared purpose of the nations of the free world". (Miller, 2020) Such an alliance would be useful and relevant in furthering American interests in different parts of the world once the Ukraine conflict gets over.

To seize Ukrainian territory and rebuild the Russian empire

It has long been argued that Russia under Putin is determined to rebuild 'Soviet' Russia. Vladimir Putin has been at the helm of affairs in Russia either as the President or Prime Minister of the Russian Federation since August 9, 1999. It has been more than 20 years since Putting took over. Many scholars believe that ever since Putin took over the control of the Russian state his attempts were directed to strengthen Russia militarily and economically, unite Russia, deal with all the internal challenges with an iron fist and ally with like-minded states globally. (Shvangiradze, 2022) While addressing Duma in one of his initial speeches Putin said, "Russia has been a great power for centuries, and remains so. It has always had and still has legitimate zones of interest ... We should not drop our guard in this respect, neither should we allow our opinion to be ignored". His annexation of Crimea, political intervention in former Soviet states, opposition to NATO's eastward expansion, crushing of internal dissent, and separatism within Russia can be seen from that perspective. Putin's tough response to the secessionist rebels in Chechnya at the start of his premiership boosted his popularity and credentials among the Russian people. Domestically, his policy was to ensure stability at any cost and his foreign policy was to regain Russia's lost place in world affairs.

Russia under Putin has started withdrawing from some of its earlier commitments and common European security architecture. Ambassador Kurt Volker has argued that President Putin's speech at the 2007 Munich Security Conference amounts to Russia's rejection of the existing European security architecture. Russia had already withdrawn from its commitments to the Conventional Armed Forces in Europe (CFE) Treaty and opposed all NATO future plans in Europe.

However, this hypothesis has been questioned by Mearsheimer in the context of the current Ukraine war. He stated that Putin has never hinted or shown any interest to make Ukraine part of Russia until the Ukraine crisis first broke out on February 22, 2014. He was even an invited dignitary to the NATO summit at Bucharest in April 2008 where the alliance announced that Ukraine and Georgia would eventually become its members. We should analyze before assuming that it was a well-calculated move of Russia. Here, it is important to explore the shreds of evidence on three grounds- first, is it a desirable goal; second, was it a feasible goal and third, was he really intended to pursue that

goal? Evidence suggested that Putin was not intended to make Ukraine part of Russian territory however he has made some references such as Russians and Ukrainians are "one people" with a common history. However, the possibility of it now can't be denied under the changed circumstances and progression of conflict.

Fear of Escalation

Ever since the conflict started leaders and scholars are investigating its probable outcome and future course of action of the parties involved. Although, at the end of March Ukraine proposed not to join NATO and would become a non-aligned and "non-nuclear" state, with no foreign military bases or contingents on its territory but the conflict is intensifying. Noted scholar John J. Mearsheimer has argued there is a danger that the war will escalate, as NATO might get dragged into the fighting and nuclear weapons might be used. He said that we are living in perilous times. The same fear of nuclear escalation was also expressed by the Russian leadership. In an interview with Russian state television in April 2022, Foreign Minister Sergei Lavrov told the world not to underestimate the "considerable risk" of nuclear conflict. He said that NATO's supply of weapons to Ukraine "in essence" meant that the Western alliance was engaged in a proxy war with Russia. (Reuters, 2022) He warned the world that the risk of World War III "is serious" and criticised Kyiv's approach to floundering peace talks at the behest of the US. (Agence France-Presse, 2022) Responding to this both Ukraine and the US have rejected Russian claims. The U.S. State Department spokesman Ned Price said Lavrov's comments were part of a "pattern of bellicose statements" from Russia that is not irresponsible but indicates "a clear attempt to distract from its failure in Ukraine."

In one of the most recent cautionary, on July 6, 2022, former Russian President Dmitry Medvedev told the United States that attempts by the West to punish a nuclear power such as Russia for the war in Ukraine risked endangering humanity. He further said that the United States as an empire had spilt blood across the world by killing Native Americans, nuclear bombing Japan and a host of wars in different parts of the world from Vietnam to Afghanistan.

Amidst the current crises, Russia announced its new naval doctrine on July 31, 2022, and avowed the United States' pursuit of global maritime dominance and the growth in NATO activity as the two main threats to Russia's national maritime security. The concerned document categorically that, "The main challenges and threats to the national maritime security and sustainable development for the Russian Federation related to the world oceans are the strategic course of the US toward domination in the world oceans and their global influence on the development of international processes, including those related to the use of transport communications and energy resources of the world ocean". It further read that the expansion of NATO's military infrastructure progressively closer to Russian borders and the growing number of naval drills in areas adjacent to Russian waters are also posing threats to the national security of Russia. (2022)

Under present circumstances, it is difficult to predict the future of this ongoing conflict, but the fear of its escalation to a dangerous level can't be denied. It is the collective responsibility of the international community to resolve it amicably. Currently, tensions are also piling up between US and China over the Taiwan issue. China's unconditional support to Russia during the current conflict might prove to be ominous for world peace and stability in future.

References

- A. (2022, July 31). Russia's new naval doctrine calls US, NATO main sources of threat to national sea security. The Print. https://theprint.in/world/ russias-new-naval-doctrine-calls-us-nato-main-sources-of-threat-tonational-sea-security/1063076/
- Agence France-Presse. (2022, April 26). "Danger Of World War III Real": Russia On Arms Supplies To Ukraine. NDTV.Com. https://www.ndtv.com/ world-news/russia-ukraine-war-western-aid-to-ukraine-world-war-3russia-warns-of-world-war-3-ahead-of-western-summit-on-aid-toukraine-2920222
- Brennan, M. (2022, April 16). Russia warns U.S. against further arming Ukraine. CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/russia-warns-us-armingukraine/
- Council on Foreign Relations. (2022, May 12). Conflict in Ukraine. Global Conflict Tracker; Council on Foreign Relations. https://www.cfr.org/ global-conflict-tracker/conflict/conflict-ukraine
- Donahue, P. (2022, March 2). Understanding the Roots of Russia's War in Ukraine. Www.bloomberg.com. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-03-02/understanding-the-roots-of-russia-s-war-in-ukraine-quicktake
- Euronews. (2022, July 10). Ukraine war: Five things to know about the conflict with Russia from Saturday. https://www.euronews.com/2022/07/09/ ukraine-war-five-things-to-know-about-the-conflict-with-russia-fromsaturday
- Holland, S. (2022b, April 21). Biden unveils \$800 million in new Ukraine military aid, to ask Congress for more. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/ world/europe/biden-speak-ukraine-war-amid-expectation-newmilitary-aid-2022-04-21/
- Kirby, P. (2022, May 9). Why has Russia invaded Ukraine and what does Putin want? BBC News. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-56720589
- Krishna, A. (2022, March 4). Russia Ukraine conflict: Why did Russia attack Ukraine? Russia Ukraine conflict reason, Read Here. The Economic Times.

- https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/view-the-root-cause-ofthe-ukraine-conflict/articleshow/89807225.cms?from=mdr
- Mankoff, J. (2022, April 22). Russia's war in ukraine: Identity, history, and conflict. Www.csis.org. https://www.csis.org/analysis/russias-war-ukraine-identity-history-and-conflict
- Marsh, S., & Chambers, M. (2022, February 22). Germany freezes Nord Stream 2 gas project as Ukraine crisis deepens. Reuters. https:// www.reuters.com/business/energy/germanys-scholz-halts-nordstream-2-certification-2022-02-22/
- Mearsheimer, J. J. (2022, June 25). The Causes and Consequences of the Ukraine Crisis. The National Interest. https://nationalinterest.org/ feature/causes-and-consequences-ukraine-crisis-203182
- Miller, A. R. D. S. (2020, August 13). An Alliance of Democracies[™] Sounds Good. It Won't Solve the World's Problems. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.
- https://carnegieendowment.org/2020/08/13/alliance-of-democracies-soundsgood.-it-won-t-solve-world-s-problems-pub-82478
- Nord Stream. (2011, November 8). Nord Stream Pipeline Inaugurated Major Milestone for European Energy Security [Press release].
- https://www.nord-stream.com/media/news/press_releases/en/2011/11/nordstream_press-rel_inauguration_eng_20111108_388_20111108.pdf
- Pisani-Ferry, J., Ribakova, E., Shapiro, J., Wolff, G., & Leonard, M. (2019). Mark Leonard former Visiting Fellow at Bruegel Redefining Europe's economic sovereignty.
- https://www.bruegel.org/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/PC-09_2019_final-1.pdf
- Putin is Determined to Rebuild Russian Empire | CEPA. (2022, January 10). https://cepa.org/putin-is-determined-to-rebuild-the-russian-empire/
- Reuters. (2022, April 26). Russia warns nuclear war risks now "considerable." The Economic Times. https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/ defence/russia-warns-nuclear-war-risks-now-considerable/articleshow /91092124.cms?utm_source=contentofinterest&utm_medium=text& utm_campaign=cppst

Shvangiradze, T. (2022, May 5). Vladimir Putin's Russia: Trying to Rebuild the Soviet Era? The Collector. https://www.thecollector.com/vladimirputin-russia-rebuilding-the-soviet-era/

Strategic Significance of Sri Lanka in India's Indian Ocean Approach

Debasish Nandy & Alik Naha^{*}

Abstract

The Indian Ocean has long been a significant topic of historic-strategic debate in the annals of world history. The region, which is home to a variety of activities ranging from trade to transportation, and a tangled web of power struggles, is also gaining prominence as a major energy corridor for Asia's energy-hungry nations. For India, a close relationship with Sri Lanka is important for several reasons: first, the latter's proximity to the strategically important Andaman & Nicobar Islands, as well as the SLOCs that fall under India's EEZ; second, safeguarding Indian initiatives in the Western Indian Ocean; and, third, Beijing's antagonistic and hegemonic advancement in the region. On the other side, for Sri Lanka, which is mired in debt, cooperating with old friend India can help alleviate the load while also contributing to the country's development. Sri Lanka has lately realized that in Beijing's Indian Ocean strategic chessboard, it has been more of a 'pawn' than a 'pearl'. For Sri Lanka, India is an ideal partner due to its geographical proximity, historical linkages, and strategic location.

Keywords: Indian Ocean, India, Sri Lanka, China, and Maritime strategy.

1.0 Introduction

The Indian Ocean has emerged as the focal point for international concerns since the turn of the century, and it continues to be a site of collaboration, competition, and conflict. The world's third-largest body of water has been neglected for generations. Despite its geographic importance and large population, its position in global politics and geostrategic planning has been weakened by economic and political events elsewhere. Furthermore, during the majority of the preceding century, geopolitical processes were centered in various geographic settings, but have recently shifted to the Indian Ocean. Superpower

Dr Debasish Nandy is Associate Professor at Department of Political Science, Kazi Nazrul University, Asansol, West Bengal, India

Alik Naha teaches at Department of Political Science, Vidyasagar College, Kolkata

rivalry conducted abroad and across seas has now relocated to the IOR as the geopolitical framework has moved beyond the aegis of the American empire, and Asian countries such as India and China are rising as powerful in the international environment. As a result, this body of water's geostrategic and economic significance is greater than it has ever been.

The Indian Ocean is without a doubt the most lively and sought-after nowadays. The world's rising reliance on nonrenewable energy resources from the Middle East and Africa, the ocean's abundant hydrocarbon resources, and the increasing reliance on the Sea Lanes of Communication (SLOCs) and chokepoints for global trade are all contributing to the Indian Ocean's importance. Its geographical features of several small chokepoints make it vulnerable to power domination, putting other countries at risk. In addition, these waters transport 90% of India's trade by volume and 90% of its energy imports (Kanodia, 2020). Thus, India emphasizes peace and security in the Indian Ocean for both economic growth and social stability. India's position allows it to play a key role in the developing geopolitical landscape of the IOR.

The expanding presence and involvement of far-off powers such as China, Japan, and the United States, as well as the advent of India, are among the factors that have propelled the Indian Ocean to the forefront of world attention. Their presence has altered the dynamics of the region and has influenced the policy of littoral states. The increased competitiveness creates possibilities for tiny littoral governments by giving them a greater voice, as well as problems by forcing small countries to rethink their approaches and policies to avoid becoming embroiled in power struggles.

Sri Lanka, a small littoral state in the Indian Ocean, is caught in the middle of this regional power struggle. The strategic importance of the island nation does not need to be explained. Its strategic location in the middle of the Indian Ocean's busiest shipping channels, connecting the East and the West, explains why it has been a site of strategic

contestation in the Indian Ocean's evolving geopolitical dynamics for millennia.

China and India regard Sri Lanka as a necessary element of their Indian Ocean maritime discourse. The two players have been attempting to garner influence through multipronged initiatives since the early 2000s. China utilizes its economic might to entice the island nation with muchneeded aid and investments. India, for example, leverages historical ties and geographical proximity to exert influence in the country. To Sri Lanka, India was more of a 'big brother' and an 'intrusive neighbor' than a helping hand (Attanayake, 2021). However, as a result of China's spectacular entrance, India is rethinking its role in Sri Lanka and focusing more on improving the economic and development partnership.

In his book 'Asia's Cauldron', Kaplan predicts that the IOR will be the century's most intense point of confrontation. This puts pressure on Sri Lanka to comply with global demands or remain neutral. As a result, maintaining Sri Lanka's sovereignty and non-alignment foreign policy will be difficult. Since the end of the civil war in 2009, Sri Lanka has gone through its transformations. Its strategic horizons have been broadened to include the maritime environment. As a result, Sri Lanka has a revived interest in the Indian Ocean after decades of neglect. It now occupies a central position in the country's strategic planning and policymaking. As such, Sri Lanka is seen emphasizing its Indian Ocean identity as never before. In this context, the chapter, using a *content analysis methodology*, will examine the strategic relevance of Sri Lanka in the IOR, Indian interests in Sri Lanka that contribute to its multifaceted engagement in the IOR, and the importance of New Delhi-Sri Lanka-Male Trilateral for fostering maritime security and regional peace.

2.0 Geographic Significance of Sri Lanka

Sri Lanka's geographic location as a littoral has historically been significant for global and regional power rivalry and struggle. Sri Lanka is situated in the heart of the Indian Ocean and the southernmost section of the Asian continent, on the world's busiest shipping channel and second-largest oil transit chokepoint. In terms of transportation, about two-thirds of the world's oil and half of the world's container shipment pass via Sri Lanka's southern coast, making it crucial for the security of regional Sea lanes of communication (Wijesinha, 2016). Apart from that, Sri Lanka has several ports that, if fully developed, may become important commercial and strategic hubs in the Indian Ocean. Sri Lanka's geographic location and access to regional markets benefit its economic interests greatly, and because the region is a hotbed for great power projection, its location makes it a significant role in the IOR security and geopolitics.

Sri Lanka was governed by both the Portuguese and the Dutch before becoming a British colony. As these colonial powers established authority over enormous swaths of territory in Asia and Africa, there was a heated battle for control over the Indian Ocean, which included vital sea lanes for maritime trade and from which the empires drew their strength. The British Defense and External Affairs Agreement of 1948 and the Maritime Agreement with the Soviet Union of 1962 (Lee, 2013), both signed during the Bandaranaike administration, are two examples of major powers' interests in Sri Lanka's strategic location (Nissanka, 1984). Sri Lanka was chosen to establish the Voice of America transmitting station (suspected of being utilized for intelligence collection and electronic monitoring of the Indian Ocean) even during the tenures of J.R Jayewardene and Ranasinghe Premadasa. Sri Lanka's geostrategic importance increased manyfold during the Cold War. As a result, major powers have strived to influence the island nation, which grew in importance in the global geostrategic battle (Chauhan, 2020).

Sri Lanka has several strategically important ports along the world's busiest shipping corridors. According to the Lloyds List, Sri Lanka's Colombo Port is the world's 25th busiest container port (Fernando N. , 2018). Trincomalee's natural deep-water harbor is the world's sixthlargest natural harbor. During WWII, the port city of Trincomalee was the principal base for the Eastern Fleet and the Royal Navy of the United Kingdom (Nissanka, 1984). This port serves as a key transit route due to its strategic location in the Indian Ocean in terms of armed and unarmed ships. The Hambantota port, one of the controversial ports built by China in the southern part of Sri Lanka, plays a strategic role in the Maritime Silk Road in the Indo-Pacific region, in addition to the Colombo and Trincomalee ports. Sri Lanka's ports are very close to the major SLOCs in the east and west IOR, compared to other ports in the region. Sri Lanka has become an attractive trading hub in terms of terminal productivity and the successful handling of mega-ships because of its unique physical setting in the IOR.

Small powers, such as Sri Lanka, can be influenced by superpowers, great powers, and regional powers in terms of strategic importance. Sri Lanka's strategic location in the IOR is a major bargaining chip for a small country. However, in the international system, each state must fend for itself. In the international arena, all states are equal, but their capabilities are not. Sri Lanka is the only country in the IOR with the strategic location to become a maritime hub, and it may evolve as a major sea-trade facilitator in the IOR. As Mahan observed: "Whoever controls the Indian Ocean dominates Asia. In the 21st Century, the destiny of the world will be decided on its water". In the IOR, Colombo has become a major powers hoping to dominate the IOR.

3.0 India's Strategic Interests in Sri Lanka

India's interests in Sri Lanka have evolved from geostrategic power balance to pragmatic security considerations since the end of the Cold War. Efforts to help Sri Lanka's peace and stability were overshadowed by India's strategy to escape the Cold War power struggle in the 1980s and early 1990s. However, in the post-Cold War period, India's economic and pragmatic security interests drove it to place a greater emphasis on Sri Lanka's peace and security to contain the conflict's externalities, which jeopardized India's security. As a result, India's top focus now is Sri Lanka's unity, peace, and stability. Maritime security in the Indian Ocean, particularly between India and Sri Lanka, has also become a major worry for Indian officials. Third, China and Pakistan's involvement in Sri Lanka is concerned with India's security concerns. Many geo-strategic analysts have remarked that the start of the post-Cold War period weakened Sri Lanka's strategic prominence in regional affairs (Sahadevan, 2007). Because of the impact on India's stability, India's main strategic focus switched to Sri Lanka's instability. Sri Lankan ethnic violence harmed India-Sri Lanka relations. Instability in Sri Lanka also jeopardizes security in the Indian Ocean, which India has a vested interest in safeguarding. International shipping channels pass immediately near Sri Lanka's southern coast, making it an important location in the Indian Ocean's strategic environment.

India, in particular, has significant economic incentives to maintain a secure security environment in and around the Indian Ocean. Maritime trade accounts for approximately 89 percent of India's total transnational trade, and nearly all of the country's oil imports arrive by sea. Sri Lanka is particularly important in India's maritime trade: the port of Colombo receives more than 70 percent of Indian imports. India's reliance on the Indian Ocean as a maritime trading zone and transitway for oil trade has meant that securing the Indian Ocean is crucial to its continued engagement with the international marketplace in the post-Cold War period, particularly since India passed trade-oriented economic reforms in 1991.

Sri Lanka is also strategically located to project naval might into the Indian Ocean, making it a sought-after military staging point for large nations with interests in the region. Even though the post-Cold War balance of power conflict has subsided, India has strategic interests in Sri Lanka due to pragmatic security concerns.

4.0 India-Sri Lanka Maritime Cooperation in IOR

India's maritime engagements with Sri Lanka include training, ship visits, staff meetings, intelligence sharing, the supply of military assets such as ships and planes, hydrographic assistance, and exercises involving the Indian Navy and Coast Guard. Sri Lanka, along with India and the Maldives, participates in the trilateral maritime security cooperation exercise DOSTI (Naha, 2020). The Indian Navy undertakes an exclusive bilateral exercise with Sri Lanka named SLINEX since 2005. Sri Lanka is

also a member of the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium (IONS) and Exercise MILAN, a multilateral maritime exercise conducted by India. In addition, the Indian Navy trains officers from the Sri Lankan Navy regularly. Importantly, the Sri Lankan navy personnel make up the largest number of foreigners trained by the Indian Navy (Ministry of Defence, 2005). Sri Lanka has also received the most military help and exports from India (Q-Tech Synergy, 2015). The SLNS Sayura, Sri Lanka's largest ship, is an offshore patrol vessel (OPV) presented to the country by India in 2000. The Sri Lanka Navy has received two Barracuda-class OPVs from India (PTI, 2014).

Amid the presence of Chinese shadow all over the island, the return of the Rajapaksa brothers has caused considerable alarm in India. However, Colombo's close ties with Beijing only serve to drag the island nation deeper into debt. Sri Lanka owes China at least \$8 billion (Malhotra, 2022). Sri Lanka has been forced to surrender Hambantota, to the Chinese since 2017 owing to its inability to pay \$ 1.1 billion Chinese debt (Schultz, 2017). Sri Lankans are becoming increasingly resentful of China and its presence in the country, and this feeling could benefit India if it decides to resolve the bilateral irritants with Sri Lanka (Srinivasan, 2021). However, China's constant intervention makes it difficult for Sri Lanka to pursue development goals with other significant countries such as India, Japan, and the United States, which Beijing regards as competitors. This is seen in the cancellation of the Eastern Container Terminal (ECT), a trilateral initiative with India, and Japan, the suspension of the Japan-funded Light Rail Project, and the risk of abandoning the US-backed Millennium Challenge Corporation Project (MCC) (Fernando A., 2020).

At a time when Sri Lanka's tourist-dependent economy has been severely harmed by the extended Covid crisis, Colombo is beset with embarrassingly large debt, which it has requested Beijing to restructure. China has refused to comply with the request. It could be one of the reasons why Sri Lanka's Rajapaksa brothers - President Gotabaya, Prime Minister Mahinda, and others – believe it's time to diversify their international interests and stop putting all their eggs in the 'Chinese *basket*' (Malhotra, 2022). In this context, India's decision to grant a \$912 million loan and a \$1.5 billion credit line for the purchase of food and gasoline from the country is seen as a big rebuke to China (Dikshit, 2022). the Sri Lankan government recently cleared the way for the collaborative development of the Trincomalee oil tank project in eastern Sri Lanka (Srinivasan, 2022). India has also outsmarted China in terms of Vaccine diplomacy during the pandemic. Sri Lanka has flatly rejected the Sinopharm vaccine developed by its 'closest friend' to combat the COVID-19 outbreak. Instead, it preferred the AstraZeneca-Covishield vaccine that was gifted by India (ANI, 2021). As Sri Lanka's High Commissioner to India observed,

'The west terminal [at Colombo port] and the tank farm are two very important transactions (with India). Of course, given the nature of the power play in this region, Chinese presence can be looked at differently. In that context, I think our dialogue with India is what is important – to build trust and to understand each other...' (Dikshit, 2022).

India and Sri Lanka have an equally important strategic position, which forces them to work together to keep the Ocean rim peaceful and secure. Above all, India's strategic location in the Indian Ocean means it is directly accountable for regional security. President Gotabaya recognizes India's critical contribution to the IOR's peace and security. During his visit to New Delhi, Gotabaya declared that Colombo will never do anything to harm India. Sri Lankan Foreign Secretary Colombage also stated that the country's new foreign policy will be based on an 'Indian first approach'. (Sri Lanka will adopt 'India first policy': Foreign Secretary Jayanath Colombe, 2020). India has also designated its southern neighbor as a 'Priority One' defense partner (Moorthy, 2021). The Indian Air Force took part in the Sri Lankan Air Force's 70th-anniversary festivities. During his visit to Sri Lanka, National Security Advisor (NSA) Ajit Doval too reaffirmed India's commitment to complete cooperation in the fields of defense and security (Subramani, 2020). This marks a sense of renewed strategic pragmatism in the relationship. In November 2021, Chief of the Indian Navy Admiral Karambir Singh and Sri Lankan Vice Admiral Nishantha Ulugetenne met at the Goa Maritime Conclave. They addressed ways to improve mutual

collaboration in maritime security, mutual support, information sharing, and navy and coast guard training, among other things (Times of India, 2021).

With escalating Indo-Chinese competition in the Indian Ocean, their respective military ties with Sri Lanka are becoming increasingly essential in this great maritime game. Thus, Sri Lanka must conduct a balancing act between India and China, which it does admirably (Rajagopalan, 2021). In the words of Induja JS, 'This balanced nature provides the island immense possibilities to shift according to its national interests and gain.' (JS, 2021). The narrow space that occurs as a result of this pivoting nature serves as a platform for India and China to project their might. Sri Lanka is trapped in the middle of a strategic conflict between India and China, from which the island benefits by playing the 'China Card'. Maintaining a balance in South Asia despite the India-China rivalry is achievable if Sri Lanka takes a more balanced approach based on the realization of a multilateral system (Basu, 2021). In the post-covid world, Sri Lanka can act as a stabilizer amongst powers, resulting in a less chaotic zone where powers cooperate to achieve good outcomes and mutual progress.

5.0 Combating Terrorism

Ethnic tensions in Sri Lanka have resulted in violent terrorist assaults. Thousands of people had died and many more had been injured as a result of decades-long civil warfare. With the death of LTTE supremo Prabhakaran in May 2009, the LTTE episode came to an end. Terrorism, on the other hand, has not yet been eradicated. Terrorism has been a constant threat to India and Sri Lanka. The deadly Easter Sunday assaults in Sri Lanka in 2019 leftover 250 people dead and exposed significant flaws in the country's security structure. Despite many warnings from Indian intelligence, the criminals were able to carry out various acts, inspired by ISIS. Due to a breakdown in the working relationship between Sri Lanka's former President, Sirisena, and then-Prime Minister, Wickremesinghe, as well as a sense of complacency in Colombo following the end of the civil conflict in 2009, these warnings were missed.

Both countries have taken several collaborative steps to combat international terrorism. In November 2015, India announced a USD 50 million special line of credit to help Sri Lanka improve its counterterrorism capabilities, especially the skills of its intelligence services. This is the first time India has granted a credit line to another country just to fund counter-terrorism efforts; previous lines of credit have been used to pay infrastructure projects and defense equipment purchases. ISIS has attracted Sri Lankan and Indian youth. More than a hundred Indians are thought to have traveled to Syria to join ISIS. The security of South India has been jeopardized as a result of the influx of Indian youngsters from the region. The credit line from India will mostly be utilized to give further counter-terrorism training to Sri Lankan police, as well as bomb disposal help.

In a recent piece published in The Hindu, Meera Srinivasan discussed Sri Lanka's pleas for military help from India. Sri Lanka has sought increased military training from India as well as security and defense cooperation in a variety of sectors, including regional security, drug smuggling, human trafficking, and security force training. India and Sri Lanka should continue their bilateral cooperation and dialogue on (i) delimitation of the continental shelf in the Bay of Bengal; (ii) adopting a common position on the statement of understanding concerning a specific method; and (iii) strengthening measures to prevent poaching in the two countries' internal waters, territorial seas, and Exclusive Economic Zones.

6.0 New Delhi-Colombo-Male Maritime Trilateral

The Maldives is strategically important for Indian security. Located in the middle of the Indian Ocean, it is situated about 450 miles westward of Sri Lanka and its, northernmost tip is nearly 300 miles away from the Southern coastline of India. To mitigate conventional and nonconventional maritime threats the littorals of the IOR must develop 'cooperative security' to explain the underlying logic of regional cooperation, which according to C. Rajamohan, could be understood, as policies of governments, which see themselves as former adversaries or potential adversaries to shift from or avoid confrontationist policies (Rajamohan, 2004).

In 2020, after a gap of six years, the triangular maritime security dialogue started between New Delhi, Colombo, and the Maldives. Mr. Ajit Doval, the national security advisor of India, and the defense minister of Maldives went to Colombo to attend the meeting. In 2014, when the first trilateral maritime security was started with a lot of expectations then it was very responsive. After becoming the President of Sri Lanka Gotabaya Rajapaksa gave a proposal to resume the trilateral meeting, but the pandemic COVID-19 made an unprecedented obstacle in this regard. However, this meeting among the South Asian Indian Ocean littoral states created an opportunity towards ensuring collective security in IOR. This meeting focused on trilateral naval exercises and defense cooperation and preparing a legal framework and policies to stop sea piracy. On July 2021, a virtual trilateral meeting was conducted to discuss the best practices to counter common trans-national crimes, such as narcotics, sea piracy, etc. The top-ranked defense officers of India, Sri Lanka, and the Maldives had given their opinion. As a part of the cooperation, the trilateral exercises are very caring about the safety of cargo ships also. As a part of trilateral maritime security, through the successful operation of Sagar Aaraksha-2, the Singaporean cargo ship MV X-Press Pearl was rescued from a fire in May 2021. After a very difficult joint operation by India Coast Guard and Sri Lankan Navy the fire was doused (The Print, 2021). Through the trilateral maritime cooperation, these three counties of IOR not only ensure the potential Interaction among India, Sri Lanka, and the Maldives but also protects these states from external traditional and non-traditional security threat.

In November 2020, the 4th trilateral meeting of the National Security Advisors was held in Colombo for enhancing trilateral maritime security. In March 2021, these countries formed a trilateral secretariat for National Security Advisors (NDSA). The member countries agreed to enhance maritime domain awareness. They also discussed introducing an automatic identification system and long-range identification and tracking to identify suspicious vessels. As a part of the activities of the NSA, some mechanisms were taken to stop illicit maritime activities in the Indian Ocean region. A coastal surveillance radar system was installed to ensure the surveillance of the security of Indian Ocean littoral states including Andaman and Nicobar Islands, and Lakshadweep. The last southern edge of Lakshadweep is geographically very close to the northern edge of the Maldives. Most of the islands of the Maldives are vacant. These islands can be occupied by China or any other extra-regional powers. The security of Andaman and Nicobar Islands and Lakshadweep are also threatened by China. So, the security of India, Sri Lanka, and the Maldives can be ensured by umbrella diplomacy. As an important initiative for the maritime security of the Indian Ocean, India set up the CSRS in the Maldives, Mauritius, and Seychelles (Sultana, 2021).

7.0 Sri Lankan Economic Crisis and Indian Efforts

Since gaining its independence, Sri Lanka's economy has consistently experienced a trade deficit since its import expenses have constantly exceeded its export earnings. For years, a sizable portion of the foreign exchange earnings has been used to pay import expenses. The government's commitment to debt servicing has increased the strain on foreign reserves in recent years. On the other hand, foreign exchange inflow to the nation decreased, first as a result of the Easter Sunday attack's effects on the tourism sector in 2019 and then as a result of the Covid-19 that affected all of the island nation's main foreign exchange earning sectors, including 'export, remittances, and tourism' (Sultana, 2022). Sri Lanka lost almost \$4 billion in annual tourism-related foreign currency inflows as a result of the pandemic.

The government's obstinate refusal to seek assistance from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and careless economic policy adjustments, such as the tax cuts offered in late December 2019, led to a steady decline in the country's credit ratings. The reluctance to seek IMF's assistance was because the Rajapaksa administration promptly slashed tax rates and eliminated several taxes following its election victory. The IMF has strongly backed the proposed law that would have guaranteed the independence of the Central Bank, but the government decided against moving forward with it. Additionally, contrary to what the IMF advises, the

Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) has been managing the exchange rate. Therefore, requesting IMF support would require the Rajapaksa administration to implement economic reforms and revise the majority of its economic policies. On the other hand, China and India may lend Sri Lanka money without any restrictions. Of course, some stipulations and agreements must be met to receive this financial aid. However, these criteria diverge from those promoted by the IMF since Chinese and Indian interests are more geopolitical compared to the economic interests of the IMF.

Indian bilateral assistance can be broadly categorized into two groups: (i) assistance to meet immediate needs; and (ii) assistance to Sri Lanka in its efforts to revive the sectors that were negatively impacted by the global pandemic and the foreign reserves crisis. Sri Lanka and India agreed to a \$500 million credit facility in February for the importation of fuel (Jayasinghe, 2022). This was a component of the \$1.5 billion financial aid India had pledged to give Sri Lanka to help it through its current economic crisis (Chaudhury, 2021). On June 23, 2022, a group of senior Government of India representatives traveled to Colombo under the direction of Foreign Secretary Vinay Kwatra and included Secretary of the Department of Economic Affairs Ajay Seth, Chief Economic Advisor Dr. V. Anantha Nageswaran, and others. Their goals were to assess the situation on the ground in Sri Lanka and look into potential areas of cooperation for mutual benefit. It is important to note that India has been a key player in the IMF, as well as in regional and plurilateral organizations, in urging other nations to assist Sri Lanka in coping with the post-COVID normalization of economic activity, which has been well acknowledged and appreciated by the island nation.

The Indian government gave the Sri Lankan government a US\$ 1 billion concessional loan in March 2022 that will be available until March 2023 in addition to more than 3.5 billion dollars in foreign reserves assistance and a shipment of 40,000 MT of fuel delivered outside the LOC facility by Indian Oil Corporation. India has also provided a US\$ 400 million currency swap facility under the SAARC Currency Swap Framework 2019–22 and a US\$ 1 billion deferment of dues until March 2022, to be paid by the CBSL

to the Reserve Bank of India under the Asian Clearing Union, to support Sri Lanka's declining foreign reserves.

Additionally, in response to the urgent need for medications, a sizable shipment of pharmaceuticals and medical supplies was donated to numerous hospitals in Sri Lanka. Additionally, kerosene has been provided for Sri Lankan fishermen to use. Ahead of Eid-ul-Fitr in April 2022, representatives of the Indian High Commissions gave dry ration packs to widows and other impoverished families in Kalmunai, Ampara District. The Tamil Nadu government has also promised to provide \$16 million in humanitarian aid, including 40,000 MT of rice, 500 MT of milk powder, and medications for the people of Sri Lanka. The government of India has agreed to provide a US\$55 million-dollar credit line at the request of the government of Sri Lanka for the purchase of 65000 MT of urea fertilizer for the Yala season's planting. India and Sri Lanka have also entered into several cooperative agreements to strengthen the ailing energy sector. These agreements include one to jointly develop the Trincomalee oil tanks farm, one between NTPC Limited from India and the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB) to develop a 100 MW Solar Power Plant at Sampur, and another for the establishment of two renewable energy projects in Northern Sri Lanka.

India's support for Sri Lanka is consistent with its 'neighborhood first' strategy and 'Security and Growth for All' (SAGAR) agenda. These two guiding principles highlight India's priority of becoming a first respondent and collaborating with other nations to satisfy the needs of neighbors in the region. India has therefore taken a multifaceted approach to the Sri Lankan problem, not just to offer urgent aid but also to assist the nation in recovering the economy and maintaining stability. India has been successful in changing the thinking of the people of Sri Lanka thanks to their concerted efforts. While a sizable portion of Sri Lankans appreciates India's efforts, there is still a constituency in Sri Lanka that is dubious and skeptical of India's strategy for solving the Sri Lankan crisis.

8.0 Conclusion

The geopolitical map of the world has shifted faster than it did in the preceding century with the center of gravity shifted to the Indian Ocean.

The strategic maneuvering of the powers might be interpreted as a return of great power politics to the IOR. As a result, the Indian Ocean's prominence has been established in the new geopolitical map. The new alterations are having a significant influence on the littorals. Sri Lanka is no exception. Sri Lanka transformed the end of the conflict in 2009. It has expanded its strategic horizons to encompass the maritime environment. As a result, after decades of neglect, Sri Lanka has rekindled its interest in the Indian Ocean. It now plays a key role in strategic planning and policymaking in the country. It is difficult for a small country like Sri Lanka to emphasize its Indian Ocean character in the face of changing geopolitical imperatives. As a result, Sri Lanka is presented with a wide range of opportunities and problems. It is, however, placed at the core of a regional geopolitical power struggle. It urges Sri Lankan policymakers to develop ways to fully exploit the potential. Due to the ferocity of the power battle and the quick changes in the geopolitical landscape, Sri Lanka will need to be watchful and modify its policies regularly to survive in this big power war.

India's key goal will be to preserve a stable and peaceful Indian Ocean, with an emphasis on economic and military changes that will eliminate the frightening Chinese menace. New Delhi has expanded its military capabilities from a local presence to a regional presence spanning the Malacca Strait to the oceans of the African shores. India would seek to enhance its position in the IOR in the aftermath of the COVID-19 outbreak when the world order is projected to undergo a geostrategic upheaval. In this dynamic, India will look forward to expanding its engagement with Indian Ocean littorals, particularly Sri Lanka, to monitor China's rise. While Modi has not made a significant change in India's general policy toward Sri Lanka, the present government's outreach to Colombo appears to be much more focused, focused, and energetic. The implications of China's rise have been a recurring issue in much of Modi's foreign policy activity, and this is reflected in the way Sri Lanka is addressed. Modi also appears to be less bound by the traditional Tamil Nadu factor, suggesting that he may be able to reach out to all of Sri Lanka's many constituencies and achieve a favorable outcome for India.

References

- Adani signs BOT deal for Colombo Port's Western Container Terminal. (2021, October 1). *Ship Technology*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.ship-technology.com/news/colombo-port-westerncontainer-terminal/
- ANI. (2021, February 26). Sri Lanka puts Chinese Covid-19 vaccine on hold. *The Times of India*. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://timesofindia. indiatimes.com/world/south-asia/sri-lanka-puts-chinese-covid-19-vaccine-on-hold/articleshow/81231841.cms
- Attanayake, C. (2021). Power Struggle in the Indian Ocean: Perspective from Sri Lanka. In *Maritime Sri Lanka: Historical and Contemporary Perspectives.* World Scientific Publishing Company.
- Baruah, D. M. (2020). Strengthening Delhi's Strategic Partnerships in the Indian Ocean. Center fora New American Security. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://www.cnas.org/publications/reports/strengtheningdelhis-strategic-partnerships-in-the-indianocean
- Basu, N. (2021, June 21). India in 'close touch' with Sri Lanka amid concerns over new Colombo-Beijing bonhomie. *The Print*. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from theprint.in/diplomacy/india-in-closetouchwith-sri-lankaamid-concerns-overnew-colombo-beijing-bonhomie/68195
- Chaudhury, D. R. (2021, December 30). Sri Lanka seeks \$1.5 billion Indian credit line to tide over crisis. *The Economic Times*. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/india/sri-lankaseeks-1-5-billion-indian-credit-line-to-tide-overcrisis/articleshow/88578816.cms
- Chauhan, K. (2020, September 2). Sri Lanka's Geopolitics in the Indian Ocean. *Kootneeti*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://thekootneeti.in/ 2020/09/02/sri-lankas-geopolitics-in-the-indian-ocean/
- Dikshit, S. (2022, January 15). India to top up \$ 900 million aid for Sri Lanka with \$1.5 billion bail-out package. *The Tribune*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.tribuneindia.com/news/nation/india-to-top-up-900-million-aid-for-sri-lanka-with-1-5-billion-bail-out-package-361569
- Fernando, A. (2020, August 6). Sri Lanka, India and China: Here's What Keeps Neighbors Friendly – And What Doesn't. *The Wire*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://thewire.in/southasia/sri-lanka-india-modirajapaksa-china

- Fernando, N. (2018). Can Sri Lanka capitalise out of its strategic location in the Indian Ocean Region? London School of Economics. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/southasia/2018/08/06/can-srilanka-capitalise-out-of-its-strategic-location-in-the-indian-oceanregion/
- Indian Navy. (2019). INS Kohassa- A New Brid's Nest in the Andamans. Government of India. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://www.indiannavy.nic.in/.
- Jayasinghe, U. (2022, February 2). Sri Lanka signs \$500 mln credit line for fuel with India. *Reuters*. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.reuters. com/business/energy/sri-lanka-signs-500-mln-credit-line-fuel-withindia-2022-02-02/#:~:text=COLOMB0%2C%20Feb%202%20(Reuters), of%20diesel%20for%20power%20plants.
- JS, I. (2021). The Pivotal Role of Sri Lanka between the Elephant and Dragon. New Delhi: Center For Land Warfare Studies (CLAWS). Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.claws.in/the-pivotal-role-of-srilanka-between-the-elephant-and-dragon/
- Kanodia, H. (2020). India's SAGAR Policy in the Indian Ocean Region. Diplomatist. Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://diplomatist. com/2020/12/25/indias-sagar-policy-in-the-indian-ocean-region/
- Kumara, J. S. (2021). The Sea Power of Small States: A Case Study of Sri Lanka. European Scientific Journal, 17(2), 151-169. doi:https://doi.org/ 10.19044/esj.2021.v17n2p151
- Lee, C. J. (2013). The Indian Ocean during the Cold War: Thinking through a Critical Geography. *History Compass*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1111/hic3.12056
- Madanayaka, S. (2017). The Strategic Importance of Sri Lanka in Indian Ocean Region: Reference to String of Pearls Strategy. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from http://ir.kdu.ac.lk/bitstream/handle/345/1728/021.pdf? sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Malhotra, J. (2022, January 18). Sri Lanka in 'debt trap', India's response shows pushback against China has begun. *The Print*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://theprint.in/opinion/global-print/sri-lanka-in-debttrap-indias-response-shows-pushback-against-china-hasbegun/806121/
- MEA. (2015). Prime Minister's Remarks at the Commissioning of Offshore Patrol Vessel (OPV) Barracuda in Mauritius. New Delhi: Government of India. Retrieved February 4, 2022, from http://www.mea.gov.in/Speeches

Statements.htm?dtl/24912/Prime_Ministers_Remarks_at_the_Commi ssioning_of_Offshore_Patrol

- MEA. (2019). Joint Press Statement on the 6th Joint Commission Meeting (JCM) between India and Maldives. New Delhi: Government of India. Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://www.mea.gov.in/bilateraldocuments.htm?dtl/32207/Joint_Press_Statement_on_the_6th_Joint _Commission_Meeting_JCM_between_India_and_Maldives
- MEA. (2021). Brief on India Sri Lanka Relations. New Delhi: Government of India. Retrieved Februaty 1, 2022, from https://mea.gov.in/Portal/ ForeignRelation/Brief_on_India_for_website.pdf
- Miere, C. L. (2014). *Maritime Diplomacy in the 21st Century: Divers and Challenges* (1st ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Ministry of Defence. (2005). Annual Report 2004-05. New Delhi: Government of India.
- Ministry of Defence. (2018). Admiral Sunil Lanba CNS addressing media during Navy Day Annual Press Conference 2018 at Kota Housw. New Delhi: Government of India.
- Mohan, C. R. (2015). Modi and the Indian Ocean: Restoring India's Sphere of Influence. Asia Maritime Transparency Initiative. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://amti.csis.org/modi-and-the-indian-oceanrestoring-indias-sphere-of-influence/
- Moorthy, N. S. (2021). India, Sri Lanka re-inject strategic realism into bilateral ties? New Delhi: ORF Raisina Debates. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/india-srilanka-reinjectstrategic-realism-bilateral-ties/
- Naha, A. (2020). Neighbourhood First Policy: Analyzing India-Maldives Relations. *Tabu Ekalavya*, *39*(25), 223-240.
- Naha, A. (2021). Franco-Indian Maritime Cooperation: Implications for the Indo-Pacific. *Journal of South Asian Studies, 9*(1), 37-55. doi:https://doi.org/10.33687/jsas.009.01.3597
- Nissanka, H. (1984). Sri Lanka's foreign policy : a study in non-alignment. New Delhi: Vikas Publication Pvt. Ltd. .
- Panda, A. (2016). India, US Sign Logistics Exchange Agreement: What You Need to Know. The Diplomat. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2016/08/india-us-sign-logisticsexchangeagreement-what-you-need-to-know/

- Panda, A. (2018). India Gains Access to Oman's Duqm Port, Putting the Indian Ocean Geopolitical Contest in the Spotlight. The Diplomat. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2018/02/india-gainsaccess-to-omans-duqm-port-putting-the-indian-ocean-geopoliticalcontest-in-the-spotlight/
- Prasar, S. (2017, April 19). Sri Lanka to offer India port development to balance out China. *The Economic Times*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/srilanka-to-offerindia-port-development-to-balance-outchina/articleshow/58253212.cms?from=mdr
- PTI. (2014, December 21). After Mauritius, India to export warships to Sri Lanka. *Deccan Chronicle*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.deccanchronicle.com/141220/nation-currentaffairs/article/after-mauritius-india-export-warships-sri-lanka
- PTI. (2018, March 10). India, France Sign Strategic Pact on Use of Each Other's Military Bases. *Times of India*. Retrieved February 2, 2022, from https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/indiaindiafrance-signstrategic-pact-on-use-of-each-others-militarybases/articleshow/63248889.cms.
- Q-Tech Synergy. (2015). Indian Defence Exports.
- Rajagopalan, R. P. (2021). Countering Chinese assertiveness: India's changing posture in the Indian Ocean. New Delhi: Observer Research Foundation.
- Rajagopalan, R. P. (2021, October 8). India Competes for Sri Lanka's Affections. *The Diplomat*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://thedi plomat.com/2021/10/india-competes-for-sri-lankas-affections/
- Sarangi, C. S. (2019). Unpacking SAGAR (Security and Growth for All in the Region). United Service Institution of India Occassional Paper. Retrieved February 4, 2022, from https://usiofindia.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/02/USI-Occasional-Paper_2_19-Unpacking-SAGAR-Final-print-File-1.pdf
- Schultz, K. (2017, December 12). Sri Lanka, Struggling with Debt, Hands a Major Port to China. New York Times. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/12/world/asia/sri-lanka-chinaport.html.
- Shukla, A. (2019, July 8). Budget 2019: India redirects foreign aid to Indian Ocean countries. Business Standard. Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://www.business-standard.com/budget/article/budget-2019-

india-redirects-foreign-aid-to-indian-ocean-countries-119070800030_1.html

- Sri Lanka will adopt 'India first policy': Foreign Secretary Jayanath Colombe. (2020, August 26). *The Hindu*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/sri-lanka-willadoptindia-first-approach-foreign-secretary-jayanathcolombage/article32447711.ece
- Srinivasan, M. (2021, July 9). A perception shift in relations between Sri Lanka and China? *The Hindu*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/news-analysis-aperception-shift-in-relations-between-sri-lanka-andchina/article35240800.ece
- Srinivasan, M. (2021, September 30). Adani signs \$700-mn deal for Lanka port. The Hindu. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www. thehindu.com/business/adani-signs-700-mn-deal-for-lankaport/article36764414.ece
- Srinivasan, M. (2022, January 7). India inks deal with Sri Lanka to develop Trincomalee oil tank farm. *The Hindu*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/india-inks-dealwith-sri-lanka-to-develop-trincomalee-oil-tankfarm/article38162574.ece
- Subramani, M. R. (2020, November 30). Three Things That NSA Ajit Doval Accomplished On His Recent Visit To Sri Lanka. Swarajya. Retrieved February 1, 2022, from https://swarajyamag.com/news-brief/threethings-that-nsa-ajit-doval-accomplished-on-his-recent-visit-to-sri-lanka
- Vice Admiral Anil Chopra. (2016). Sagarmala or SAGAR: a maritime dilemma. Gateway House. Retrieved February 4, 2022, from https:// www.gatewayhouse.in/sagarmala-or-sagar-our-maritime-dilemma/
- Wijesinha, A. (2016, June 20). Can Sri Lanka Leverage Its Location as Indian Ocean Hub? *The Diplomat*. Retrieved January 31, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2016/06/can-sri-lanka-leverage-its-locationas-indian-ocean-hub/

Understanding Baloch: Genesis and Continuum of their grievances

Bipin Kr. Tiwary & Akansha^{*}

Abstract

Pakistan has been a multi-ethnic nation. All the ethnic groups feel marginalised visà-vis Punjabis. Within this marginalisation, the Baloch ethnic group is the most exploited one. With a unique combination of largest area and smallest population, Balochistan is rich in natural resources. Due to its trivial population, Pakistan has constantly exploited it at every level. This is one of the most troubled and exploited areas of South Asia, which needs a thorough analysis of the inception of their grievances and the failure of Islamabad government to address them even after almost 75 years of Pakistan's creation.

Keywords: Balochistan, Ethnicity in Pakistan, Grievances of Baloch, Sardari system

Ethnic politics in Pakistan is a story of ambiguous, often turbulent relations between the center and the provinces and the net result of political, economic, and cultural alienation of minority ethnic groups. At another level, it is a tale of majority-minority bickering, exacerbated by rapid demographic changes propelling new economic forces and contestations over census statistics, quotas, and jobs.

This research paper is focused on the historical analysis of the problem that this marginalised group is facing at the hands of the Pakistan government. The various reasons for the discontent of this minority group are analysed and how Islamabad had failed to address the grievances at every level, be it political, economic, or social.

The Balochistan region and Baloch ethnic identity are quite complicated and intertwined with many factors like fractured leadership, historical grievances, and economic exploitation. Nationalism is generally seen as an effect of industrialisation and print capitalism by the modernists, but

^{*} Dr. Bipin Kr. Tiwary is Associate Professor at Department of Political Science, University of Delhi

^{*} Dr. Akansha is Assistant Professor at Department of Political Science, Indraprastha College for Women, University of Delhi

Baloch ethnonationalism refutes this claim as it is a highly fragmented tribal society with the least industrialisation and least literacy rate. It is seen as a response to alien domination, first by British colonialists and then by the Pakistani state (Bansal, 2006, p. 5).

Historical Overview of Balochistan

The tribal setup of the Baloch group has a long history that needs a thorough analysis to understand their psyche. The genesis of ethnonationalism can be traced by considering many variables constituting its identity. The existing issues can be understood when placed in the background of their historical development, as the historical narrative provides a context to view the colonial and contemporary stereotypes of the Baloch.

Geographic Location and Strategic Importance

Balochistan is significant for Pakistan due to its geopolitical setting and its strategic importance. In the words of Carol Mc C. Lewin, "Occupants of a frontier area on the crossroads between the Indian Subcontinent, Central Asia, and the Iranian plateau, the Baloch presently sit astride the boundaries of Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Iran. Moreover, as an eastward extension of the Iranian plateau, Balochistan presents an arid and rugged terrain, traditionally supporting various combinations of nomadic pastoralism, date palm cultivation, dry-crop agriculture, raiding, and(on the Arabian Sea coast) fishing. As a result, Balochistan has been a pawn in several versions of the geopolitical 'great game' in Asia, notably played by Russia, Persia, and Britain in the nineteenth century and the Soviet Union and the United States in the 1980s. In both instances, the warm waters of the Arabian Sea and the Gulf of Oman, that is, the southern boundary of Balochistan, have been an issue" (Lewin, 1996, p. xv).

Balochistan is a land of contrast. It has lofty and rugged mountains under Chiltan, Takatu, Sulaiman, Sultan, and plains stretching hundreds of miles. It has fertile land like Nasirabad and tracks that have been thirsty for centuries, and even a bush could hardly be sighted like the Pat section of Sibi District and Dasht-e-Makran in Makran Division. It has the hottest places in the country, like Sibi and Dhadar, where temperature shoots up to over 120 degrees Fahrenheit, as well as coldest towns like Quetta, Kalat, Ziarat, Kan Mehtarzai, where mercury falls much below freezing point (Khan, 2012, pp. 200-223).

Balochistan comprises 347,190 sg. km, constituting around 44 percent of Pakistan's total landmass. The Baloch homeland is divided into three countries of Pakistan, Iran, and Afghanistan. In terms of area and population, Pakistan is, by far, the largest Baloch territory. Its hugeness makes it hard to defend, and its location, stretching from the Afghan border all the way along the Iranian border to the sea, makes it strategically inviting. And not to forget the long coastline at the mouth of the Gulf of Oman, through which pass almost 80 percent of the world's oil supplies (Kukreja, 2006, p. 29). It is also rich in mineral and gas deposits, uranium, and copper. The Sui natural gas field in the Bugti area produces about 40 percent of Pakistan's natural gas (Khan, 2012, pp. 200-223). According to a newspaper report of 4th April 2005, "Mineral deposits usually occur within minerogenic zones (of nonmetallic minerals) and metallogenic zones (of metallic minerals)." Of nine such zones in Pakistan, five are located in Balochistan. Base metal deposits, such as copper, lead, and zinc, are found in Chagai, Khuzdar, and Lasbela Districts. In association with Saindak copper ore, silver and gold have recently been re-assessed (Dawn, 2005).

Balochistan also hosts numerous sizeable sub-bituminous coalfields in the Quetta-Harnai-Duki region. It has 49 percent of the total livestock in the country. In 2003 it produced 1.4 million tons of fruit. In 2002, 121,212 metric tons of fish were caught. However, only 11,575 metric tons were consumed locally, whereas 109,655 metric tons were available as exportable surplus (Dawn, 2005).

In the above context, if we see the statement made by Ghous Baksh Bizenjo, the Kalat State National Party leader in the lower house of Parliament of State of Kalat in1948: "They say we must join Pakistan for economic reasons. Yet we have minerals, we have petroleum, and we have ports. The question is, what would Pakistan be without us?" (Bansal, 2006, p. 3) we can see the dilemma that has been plaguing the Pakistani policymakers since its inception. The prospects of survival without Balochistan look bleak even today as they appeared in 1948. Balochistan never got the merited return for what it contributed to the economic growth of the country.

Descent

Baloch, anthropologically speaking, constitutes an ethnic amalgam, speaking a language class, along with Pashtu and Kurdish, in the Iranian division of the Indo-European language family. A traditional view, supported by ancient verse, posits that the Balochs were a tribe dwelling in Aleppo (now Syria) before the time of Muhammad. The earliest historical reference points towards the Balochis living in the region around Kerman during the Arab conquest. Later on, with the advancement of Turks from Central Asia, they moved further east to Seistan and Makran. Furthermore, by the fifteenth century, they had reached Sindh and Punjab. Under Mir Nasir Khan, the newly emerged Khanate (a centralised tribal confederacy) in Kalat expanded its frontiers into Iran and Punjab in the eighteenth century. The British confronted the Khanate with its emergent Baloch identity. The two negotiated a treaty in 1854, according to which British political agents were deputed for the next 20 years in Kalat (Lewin, 1996, p. xvi). Balochistan was important to the Portuguese, the Russians, and the British from the point of view of both strategy and trade, as it lay on the crossroads of the routes joining Central Asia, the Middle East, and South Asia. Due to local resistance and the rivalries of the European powers in the Persian Gulf, the Portuguese attempts to control the Baloch coastal area failed. Britishers made the most successful attempt to turn Balochistan into an object of colonial exploitation and a pathway for penetration into Central Asia.

All through this period of settling down, the Balochs never ceased in their tribal strives for a more stabilised life. It was not until the time of Sardar Miroo Khan Mirwari- the founder of Kalat state- that the people of Balochistan could ultimately breathe in peace with a certain amount of confidence and means of defending their hearths and homes against foreign invasions (Baluch, 1975, pp. xiii-xv). The Sardari system so profoundly engrained in the Baloch ethnic groups grew out of tribal homogeneity and loyalty towards the tribe. The hierarchy includes tribe-Sardars-Grand Sardar-Head of Confederacy (Khan of Kalat). From 1666 to 1839, the Khan ruled the 'nation-state' with absolute sovereignty. By 1876, the Britishers established their rule in Balochistan with the help of the Treaty of Gandamak signed in Afghanistan (Pande, 2005, p. 48). It points to the transnational affinities of the Baloch people. They follow the nomadic and semi-nomadic pastoral lifestyle, rooted in tribalism and sub-tribalism, with a societal emphasis on loyalty to the Sardars (Pande, 2005, p. 47).

Religious Orientation

The Baloch people have followed a resilient secular attitude despite the growth of religious radicalism elsewhere in Pakistan. The Baloch generally adhere to the Hanafi School of the jurisprudence of Sunni Islam and are generally casual about religious observance. Religious leaders play a marginal role in Baloch society. Baloch society has two authorities: Secular authority (vested in their elected leaders or traditional chiefs/sardars) and Spiritual authority (vested amongst Saints). The Baloch society follows a strict hierarchical pattern characterised as feudal militarism. The Sardari system is firmly rooted amongst the tribes like Bugti, Marri, Zarakzai, Mengal, and Achakzai. Inayatullah Baloch observes, "The Baloch people differ from those of Punjab and Sind and the Muslims of India in their notion of a religious state. They regard religion as the individual's private affair. An interesting story exemplifies the Baloch approach to religion: once, a Baloch was asked why he did not keep the fast of Ramzan (the holy month for Muslims). Baloch replied that he was excused, as his chief is keeping it for him" (Baloch, 1987, pp. 70-71). One more incident which shows the Baloch psyche was when a Baloch asked a practising Muslim about his evening prayers, "what are you doing?" he was answered: "Praying in fear of God." Baloch said: "Come along to my hills where we do not fear anything." A Baloch proverb says, "God will not favour a person who does not plunder and rob." It is said that in the late

19th century, when Britishers asked Baloch and Pashtuns how they wanted their civil cases should be decided, Baloch replied: "Rawaj" (Baloch customary law); the Pashtun answered: "Sharia" (Islamic law) (Baloch, 1987, p. 71).

While talking about the secular tendencies of his tribe, Baloch said, "In 1947, when the Indian subcontinent suffered under the effects of Muslim-Hindu riots, it was only the Baloch society where Hindu minorities remained untouched and lived in peace; their neighbors did not influence the Baloch. Throughout Baloch history, the Baloch people did not fight religious wars against India, except for Nasir Khan the Great, and the factors behind the Baloch invasion of India under Nasir Khan were more economical and political than religious" (Baloch, 1987, pp. 71-72).

Regarding the Two-Nation theory based on which India was divided into two parts, Nawab Khair Baksh Marri, in an interview, stated: "The Muslim nation or Pakistan ideology, of whom I am accused of being an opponent, (is) not, in reality, anything at all, how can I oppose them?... The 'Muslim nation' that does not exist in reality is simultaneously impracticable as a concept. For example, we do not give any(Muslim) Iranian, Afghan or Arab the right to vote in our country, nor can we appoint them to any high office here. However, on the other hand, we give the right to vote to Pakistan's Hindus, Christians, and Parsis, who can often be appointed to high positions. So it is obvious that this is an imaginary concept" (Baloch, 1987, p. 76). Sardar Mengal expressed similar views in another interview.

Causes of the Discontentment

There are many reasons for the Baloch's discontentment with the Pakistan establishment. The beginning of their problems with the government started with the creation of Pakistan and then, later on, the treatment met to the minority ethnic group. The causes of their grievances which went unheard and unanswered, led to many insurgencies in Pakistan by the Baloch people.

Merger with Pakistan

The roots of the crisis in Balochistan go back to the inception of Pakistan. The incorporation of the Baloch into Pakistan came as a traumatic blow to nationalist leaders who had campaigned clandestinely for an independent Balochistan during the last decades of the British Raj. During the time of the partition of India and Pakistan, many Balochs never wanted to join Pakistan in the first place. In the 1930s, some Baloch leaders, foreseeing the eventual departure of the British, started to advance claims for independence. Nevertheless, on the eve of departure, Britishers played a neat trick with the Baloch people. They composed a voting college- Shahi Jirga, Grand Council (to crush the 'anti-social elements' among tribes, Jirga was introduced. The British authorities nominated the Jirga members. In tribal areas, the Sardar was the head of the Jirga, known as Sardari Jirga, assisted by the selected elderly man of the tribe. Above these was the Shahi Jirga. Its task was to settle the intertribal conflicts and other important matters, such as revolts against the government and tribal chiefs. The cases were conducted under the 'Balochistan Penal Code' and the Frontier Crimes Regulation. The chiefs and the official Jirgas were entitled to pronounce a death sentence, life imprisonment, the forfeiture of property, and whipping. All Baloch national uprisings were crushed under this Jirga system), which would determine the future of British Balochistan. But this college limited the voting exercises to specific loyal British and Muslim League clients by excluding the representatives of the Balochistan state and the elected members of the Quetta municipality (Dhar, 2006, p. 9).

An agreement signed between the British government, Kalat state, and the government of Pakistan (proposed) was announced on 12th August 1947 regarding the establishment of the independent Kalat as proclaimed by the Khan of Kalat. After the establishment of Pakistan on 14th August 1947, the government of Pakistan, in contravention of the agreement dated 11th August 1947, pressurised the Khan to announce the merger with Pakistan (Dhar, 2006, p. 180).

Moreover, When Balochistan forcibly 'agreed' to join Pakistan, the Pakistan government agreed to pass a law that only Baloch would be recruited to government jobs in the provincial administration under the provincial quota policy. However, only non-Balochs, mainly Pakhtun and Punjabis re-settled in Balochistan, are recruited against this federal quota.

Division of Population

Despite its homogeneous name, Balochistan is heterogeneous like other provinces, with every third Sindhi and every fifth Punjabi claiming Baloch descent. Pakhtun-Baloch rivalries are inter-tribal dissensions that do not allow a well-defined, cogent, distinct Baloch ethnonationalism, especially as there are more Baloch in Karachi than in the province itself. The Baloch diaspora cannot overlook the parallel existence of three Balochi national identities in three sovereign countries- Pakistan, Iran, and Afghanistan. Therefore, any irredentist claims on Baloch areas of the Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Sindh, or South-western Balochistan would entail more problems than solutions. The province has also been threatened by a large influx of Afghan refugees, leading to significant alterations in the province's demography.

Of the total population of Balochistan, which is merely 5-6% of Pakistan's population, the Baloch numerically dominates the south of the province. The Pakhtuns are in the majority in and around Quetta and the northern part of the province. Many Punjabis have occupied fertile land in the east and are prominently present in industrial complexes in the Sui gas project, Port Gwadar and Port Qasim facilities, and other military installations. The majority of the professional workforce in the province originates from Punjab and Sind.

Regional Imbalances

The authoritarianism and inter-regional imbalances, uneven development, and demographic changes caused by immigration led to increased political tensions in Pakistan. It has continuously fiddled with ethnicity, and the martial-law regimes of the 1960s and 1980s have played a crucial role in ethnic marginalisation. With varying degrees of assertiveness, some Baloch leaders have pressed for greater autonomy and, at times, for independence. The Pakistani state has, when necessary, employed all the force at its disposal to suppress such demands.

Islamabad has supported the 'Talibanisation' of Balochistan and sought to eliminate the secular identities that are organic there. Senator Sanaullah Baloch, in a seminar in 2006, explained that the Pakistani army has 69 paramilitary cantonments, six heavy weapon cantonments, six naval bases, and three nuclear, biological, and chemical weapons testing facilities in Balochistan. The central army has approximately 700 checkpoints in the region, preventing the free movement of people and goods. He said that the army's presence (in 2006) was about 150,000, and they are conducting a ruthless operation against the Baloch people, and the international community should strive to stop it (Bigham, 2006).

The gas produced from Balochistan is high-heat compared to the gas produced in the Panj Pir area of Punjab. Whereas the Baloch are paid a royalty of a meager Rs.47 per cubic foot for their superior quality gas, the Punjabis are paid Rs.222 per cubic foot for their inferior quality gas. Even this meager royalty is not being paid regularly. The Federation owes Balochistan a sum of trillions of rupees on account of royalty since 1953. Whereas the government has no difficulty finding funds for the armed forces, it does not have funds to clear the past dues to the Baloch people, who are afraid that these dues may ultimately be written off (Talpur, 2007).

Moreover, The Sui gas is the single largest source of energy supply for industries, power generation, agriculture, commerce, and domestic use all over Pakistan. The gas is also used in the manufacturing of fertilisers and chemicals. While all the cities, towns, and many villages in Pakistan enjoy the gas produced in Balochistan, only the military cantonments, four of the 28 districts, and 250 of the 28,000 villages of Balochistan enjoy the benefit. Next to gas, Balochistan has the largest reserve of coal in Pakistan. All the mining and refining contracts have been awarded to Punjabi companies. Ninety percent of the coal mine workers are from Punjab (Talpur, 2007).

Feeling of Alienation

Balochistan is a strategically important region of Pakistan that has been wrecked by insurgency since its birth. There is a general alienation of the population due to many underlying factors. The Baloch perceive the government as an alien government as they have been denied their due representation. There are hardly any Baloch in the army or in top federal jobs; even most local jobs are held by outsiders. As a result, the unemployment ratio is relatively high in Balochistan compared to other provinces. Baloch has virtually no representation in the army and very little in bureaucracy. In the central bureaucracy, though a province-wise quota had been earmarked commensurate to the provincial percentage in the total population, most of these positions have gone to non-Baloch under the 'domicile clause' of the quota system.

Ethnicity intervened with a sense of political isolation, and relative economic deprivation continues to be a potent force in evoking Baloch mobilisation. As far as the channeling of funds is concerned, it had been mainly in the hands of non-Baloch, predominantly Punjabi bureaucracy. The other dispute is between Baloch and the local Pakhtun population in the province. There is a feeling among Baloch that with the patronage of the central government of Pakistan, Pakhtun are trying to outnumber them; this fear had increased in the Zia regime and continued after that. The lack of an effective urban middle class among the Baloch and inter and intra-clan conflicts are all being exploited by Islamabad to hold the insurgency in check.

To show the level of alienation in Balochistan, let us take the example of New Kahan, a settlement outside Quetta city. It is home to the Marri tribal people who fled to Afghanistan in the 1970s. After the Taliban came to power in the mid-1990s, they returned to Pakistan. Finally, they settled near Quetta, naming New Kahan after their original homeland in the remote eastern part of Balochistan. People over there live in pathetic and relatively primitive conditions. Many in the village live in tents made up of animal hide or thatch. People often have to share living quarters with animals, especially in cold weather. The more prosperous villagers live in hard-dried mud homes (BBC News).

Education and Health Facilities

Education and health facilities are inadequate in Balochistan. The 1998 census shows Balochistan had the highest illiteracy rate in Pakistan (excluding FATA); eight of the most illiterate districts were in Balochistan. It had its first university in the early 1970s (Phadnis, 1984, pp. 188-189). The unemployment rate is the highest in Balochistan; the literacy ratio of 10+ is the lowest of all the provinces. The plight of these unfortunate people is also an indicator of the lack of medical facilities in the region and the government's and provincial government's callous inhuman treatment of the people of Balochistan. The drought-stricken pastoral economy cannot provide enough food for even the small regional population. The data for 2018 does not show any indication of improvement in the condition of Baloch. It still has the lowest literacy rate in Pakistan. The human development index also ranks lowest in the province.

Language Policy of Government

The primary grievance of the Baloch intelligentsia is that the language movement in Balochistan has been marginalised and ignored rather than suppressed. The imposition of the Urdu language also led them to get threatened about their cultural heritage as they consider language as part of their identity. One interesting aspect is that since the Baloch are educated in Urdu, the language used in the urban areas, and are prone to expressing themselves more often in Urdu than Balochi or Brahvi. The significant achievement of the language movement in Balochistan is that it has made people conscious of their identity (Rehman, 1996, pp. 170-171).

Human Development Index Report

In the Human Development Index (HDI) ranking in 2015, according to the 2017 UNDP report, Punjab comes first in the ranking with an HDI of 0.732, higher than Pakistan (0.681); Sind has the second rank, with an HDI of 0.640; Kyber Pakhtunkhwa third with an HDI of 0.628; and Balochistan fourth at 0.421 (Pakistan Human Development Index Report, 2017). The condition of human rights in the province is getting worse day by day.

International agencies are not allowed into Balochistan even during quiet periods, leave alone in conflict times.

The Human Development Index indicators show the Baloch people's pathetic situation in general and in particular if compared with the people of the remaining provinces. According to the Pakistan Integrated Household Survey 2001-02, Balochistan has the highest poor population, with 48 percent, and the worst in rural areas, with 51 percent living below the poverty line. Despite the human rights given by Pakistan's constitution guaranteeing everyone the right to be informed of the charges against them, to be brought before a magistrate within 24 hours, to have legal assistance and to see their families, and most importantly, everyone has the right to be treated per law and to enjoy the protection of the law, disappearances are some of the most distressing human rights violations happening in the region. People are held in detention secretly, and the authorities refuse to reveal their whereabouts. They are described as having been 'disappeared', which often goes hand-in-hand with tremendous torture and ill-treatment.

In Pakistani secret dungeons, Baloch prisoners are told they have no right to meet anyone, see a lawyer, or do anything except what the police and agencies tell them. It was revealed that when one prisoner asked for a lawyer, he was punched, kicked in the stomach, handcuffed, and struck with a foreign object more than ten times. He was also threatened with beheading or amputation, and he was whipped, estimated 20 or more times, while chained to the floor in a crouching position with bareback. Later on, he alleged that he told a magistrate in the court that he wanted a lawyer and he had been mistreated and that the magistrate responded. "I will ask the officials," and handed him back to the police. Afterward, the Pakistani police accused him of 'making them look bad' in court and shackled his hands to a chain hanging from the ceiling for several hours. As mentioned in the Human Rights Watch, "Even if the president or chief justice tells us to release you, we won't. We can torture you, or kill you, or keep you for years at our will. It is only the Army chief and the [intelligence] chief that we obey." This is what a Pakistani official said to Bashir Azeem, the 76-year-old Secretary General of the BRP (Baloch

Republican Party), during his unacknowledged detention in April 2010 (Human Rights Watch, 2011).

The Human Rights Commission of Pakistan(HRCP) went to the Supreme Court with the list of 'disappeared' people and comments that over 70 percent of the list comprises people who could not be labelled jihadist, meaning that they were not wedded to the aggressive Islamism or Talibanisation that General Musharraf talked about. They were innocent Baloch and belonged to the secular local Baloch nationalist politics of the province (Amnesty International, 2008).

Role of Centre

The other grievances included the Baloch perception of the exploitative attitude of the centre in harnessing the natural resources of the province. They feel that Punjabis were reaping the benefits of the vast untapped natural resources without any benefit to Balochistan. Until now, it is the least developed province of Pakistan and gets the least amount of funds from the federal government. The deposits of natural gas in the province were discovered in Sui in 1953. Since then, the national economy has benefitted enormously from this cheap source of energy (Ansari, 2007, p. 25). Seventy percent of Pakistan's gas supply comes from Balochistan, and around 40 percent of the gas supply is from the Sui gas fields in the Dera Bugti area. Pakistan Petroleum Limited (PPL) produces 720 to 750 million cubic feet of gas per day from its 80-plus wells. The gas reserves discovered were estimated at 9,625 trillion cubic feet. Balochistan produces natural gas worth Rs.85 billion annually but gets a meager royalty of Rs. 7 billion from the Federal Government (Talpur, 2007). The royalty is based on well-head value, not the market value, whereas Punjab is paid a royalty for the gas produced in its territory at market value. The center is exploiting the gas and mineral resources at the expense of the province, resulting in the abject poverty of the minority group. Baloch believes that without economic autonomy and selfsufficiency, political autonomy is meaningless.

It is believed that China is participating with the Punjabis in plundering the natural resources of Balochistan. Chinese firms have been given contracts to exploit the coal reserves in Saindak. The Chinese firms transmit 50 percent of their profits to China, provide 48 percent to the Federal Government and give only two percent to the Balochs towards royalty (Talpur, 2007). The Ormara naval base in Balochistan employs 10,000 civilians, of whom only 40 are locals. The remaining are from Punjab, many of them Punjabi ex-servicemen (Talpur, 2007).

In addition to the FC, 44,000 Pakistan Army troops are deployed in Balochistan, thus making a total of 79,000 members of the security forces deployed in Balochistan to suppress the Balochs, almost the same number as General Pervez Musharraf claims to have deployed in the Federallyadministered Tribal Areas (FATA) against Al Qaeda and the Neo Taliban. In Balochistan, there is one member of the Federal Security forces for every 36 civilians, much higher than the ratio when NATO occupied Afghanistan and the US-occupied Iraq. The US reportedly objected to the Pakistan Army diverting some of the helicopter gunships against Al Qaeda and the Taliban in the FATA to Balochistan for use against the Baloch nationalists. Following this, the Pakistan Army received some helicopters from China to use in Balochistan (Talpur, 2007).

Role of Chieftains or Sardars

According to Urmila Phadnis, the feeling of relative deprivation has existed in both Pakhtun and Baloch but with greater intensity in the latter. However, this feeling has not been sufficient but rather an essential condition for the collective mobilisation of these communities. She further says that if the population dispersal of the Baloch has been an added constraint in such a mobilisation, so has been the fragmented character of its leadership. The province of Balochistan has the lowest literacy rate in Pakistan, and education is a provincial matter. Regarding the role of tribal chiefs in the Baloch community, the questions that need to be answered are who keeps the masses illiterate? Why is the trickledown effect not working? Why don't sardars allow schools in their area? Where do they spend all the royalty? It is said that the Sardars are responsible for the backwardness and non-development of Balochistan. As Musharraf says: "A few sardars have been manipulating and blackmailing every Pakistani for decades, using the militant mercenaries that they maintain as their local militia force. They have also kept their tribes suppressed under their iron grip through indiscriminate use of force" (Musharraf, 2006, p. 59). However, a significant change that has come with the latest spell of insurgency is that now it has gone beyond the hands of Sardars, and the new middle-class intelligentsia is leading it.

The establishment continues to treat Balochistan as a conquered colony of Pakistan where Baloch can enjoy only those rights that are allowed to them. Whenever Balochistan's economic backwardness is discussed, officials in Islamabad also tend to repeat that it is due to the tribal chieftains, particularly Sardar Khair Bakhsh Marri, Sardar Attaullah Mengal, and the late Nawab Akbar Bugti. Musharraf had dubbed them impediments to constructing "mega-projects in particular and development in the province in general".

Kalim Bahadur talked about some of the leading social, economic, and political issues that need a solution. Some of them are: the Sardari system, which is the relic of the feudal system, should be abolished; the implementation of the 1973 constitution's provisions of center-province relations; the announcement of the National Finance Commission award; the implementation of the resolutions of the Provincial Assembly; restoration of the right of the Provincial Assembly to legislate on local government laws; Balochis must be given the administration and control of the mega projects; jobs for the indigenous Balochis under the constitutional job quota; concurrent list to be abolished and provinces should be delivered right to legislate freely; gas royalty formula should be worked out based on equity for all provinces; no voting right for settlers for ten years (Bahadur, 2006, p. 27).

The killing of Akbar Bugti in 2006 may still be fresh in many minds. If one reads the narrative of Baloch nationalist historiography, their roadmap would have signposts like the hanging of Nauroz Khan's two sons in 1960 in Sukkur and Hyderabad jails. Prisons of Sindh coincidentally become places of choice to incarcerate agitating Baloch high-profile leaders. Akbar Bugti ironically was on the side of Z.A. Bhutto during the military operation in Balochistan in the mid-1970s when the triumvirate of Marri, Mengal, and Bizenjo was tried on charges of treason in Hyderabad jail.

Federation in name but an excessively over-centralised state in practice, run mainly by the army, has often been incapable of negotiating political solutions with the representatives of the constituent units forming Pakistan. Balochistan is the arch-example of a province that is marginalised in the current political economy of Pakistan.

The problems in the province are multi-dimensional, which includes political segregation, economic exploitation, and cultural alienation. The unaddressed grievances have led to various spells of resistance movements in the province, which were crushed repeatedly by the respective governments, leading to a strong sense of ethnic consciousness in the Baloch population. The Islamabad government's constant denials of any serious problem in Balochistan have estranged the group even more. The blames put on the Indian government by Pakistan for igniting the Baloch issues have no grounds but rather just an attempt to divert attention from the gross injustices happening to the minority ethnic groups in the country. The unaddressed grievance of Baloch will have implications not only for Pakistan or India but for the whole South Asian region.

While the Balochs, since the beginning, have fought for a separate state or at least autonomy and fair representation, none of the uprisings has gained them much. With the Pakhtun-dominated Taliban forming government in Afghanistan after 20 years, it will also have a spillover effect in the region of Balochistan, as the northern part of the province is majorly resided by the Pakhtun tribe. This issue has remained unsolved, rather unacknowledged, for a very long time. The alternating democratic and army regimes have failed to provide any answers to the grievances. The Afghanistan crisis in the neighborhood of this area might backfire for Pakistan. The violence in the region will increase due to the Baloch-Pakhtun rivalry in the province. It may turn out to be a significant security threat to the internal dynamics of Pakistan. The last nationalist movement of Baloch has been going on for around 20 years with varying intensity. Assimilation of the demands is the need of the hour. However, democracy in Pakistan could not develop under firm army control. Armies do not give autonomy, and they run strictly on hierarchy and chain of command. Baloch, sadly is at the lowest level of that hierarchy.

References

- Amnesty International. (2008, 23rd July). Pakistan: Denying the Undeniable: Enforced Disappearances in Pakistan. Retrieved from file: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/asa33/018/2008/en/
- Ansari, Massoud. (2007). Between Tribe and Country: The Crisis of Balochistan. *Himal South Asian XX*, No. 5, p. 25.
- Bahadur, Kalim. (2006). The Crisis in Balochistan. *World Focus XXVII*, No. 10, p. 27.
- Baloch, Inayatullah. (1987). Problem of Greater Balochistan: A Study of Baloch Nationalism. Stuttgart: Steiner Verlag Wiesbaden.
- Baluch, Mir Ahmad Yar Khan. (1975). Inside Balochistan: Political Autobiography of Khan-e-Azam. Karachi: Royal Book Co.
- Bansal, Alok. (2006). Balochistan: Strategic Importance & A tale of Ethnic Marginalization. *World Focus XXVII*, No. 10, p. 5.
- BBC News. Photo Journal: Life in a Tribal Balochi Settlement. Retrieved from file: http://news.bbc.co.uk/2 /shared/spl/hi/picture_gallery/06/south_asia_life_in_a_tribal_balochi _settlement/html/1.stm
- Bigham, Alex. (2006). Balochistan at the Crossroads. The Foreign Policy Centre. Retrieved from file: https://fpc.org.uk/baluchistan-at-the-crossroads/
- Dawn. (2005, 4th April). Minerals Resource Development in Pakistan. Retrieved from file: https://www.dawn.com/ne ws/387626
- Dhar, Maloy Krishna. (2006). Balochistan: Curses of History. *World Focus XXVII,* No. 10, p. 9.
- Human Rights Watch. (2011, 28th July). We Can Torture, Kill, or Keep You for Years: Enforced Disappearances by Pakistan Security Forces in Balochistan. Retrieved from file: https://www.hrw.org/report/ 2011/ 07/28/we-cantorture-kill-or-keep-you-years/enforced-disappearances-pakistan-security
- Khan, Mahrukh. (2012). Balochistan: The Forgotten Frontier. *Strategic Studies*, 32 (4), pp. 200-223.
- Kukreja, Veena. (2006). Balochistan After Bugti. *World Focus* XXVII, No. 10, p. 29.

Musharraf, Pervez. (2006). In the Line of Fire: A Memoir. New York: Free Press.

- Nayak, Pandav. (1984). *Pakistan: Society and Politics, South Asian Studies Series-6* (Ed.), New Delhi: South Asian Publishers.
- Pakistan Human Development Index Report 2017. UNDP, Pakistan. Retrieved from file: https://www.pk.undp.org /content/pakistan/en/home/
- Pande, Savita. (2005). *Politics of Ethnic and Religious Minorities in Pakistan.* Kolkata: Shipra Publishers.
- Rehman, Tariq. (1996). *Language and Politics in Pakistan.* Hyderabad: Orient Longman.
- Talpur, Mir Mohammad Ali. (2007, 1st February). Militarisation of Balochistan. The Post.
- Titus, Paul Brian. (1996). *Marginality and Modernity- Ethnicity and Change in post-colonial Balochistan. (Ed.),* Karachi: Oxford University Press.

A decade of Dragon's Debt & Trap Initiative in South Asia

Saurabh *

Abstract

In order to expand its influence through the harshly criticised Belt and Road programme, China deliberately enters into unsustainable debt-forinfrastructure agreements with emerging nations, particularly those with weaker political and economic situations. Beijing's debt-clench policy, using its economic superiority and influence to extend outsize loans to weaker foreign countries on favourable terms and later playing hardball to recover them, forcing the beneficiaries to give up their sovereignty of their controlled territory. As Chinese investments, land acquisitions, space and military projection, in grow, Beijing taking more aggressive approach in name of collaboration to serve its long-term interests.

William Shakespeare in his preeminent play *The Merchant of Venice* (*Shakespeare, W*) delineates the *character of notorious Shylock* who mercilessly insists from the borrower a pound of *his own flesh* as collateral. Drawing inspiration from the character, the contemporary Shylock of the globalised world, the China, in name of selling the idea of a new silk road, consisting shipping routes, ports, refineries, industrial parks, port cities, roads, railway lines, roads and power plants lured number of developing countries across the globe by providing heavily subsidised loans more than they could afford for constructing the proposed mega projects, and when the mendicant countries defaulted the borrowings, China enslaved them by seizing their strategic assets as collateral.

The historic Silk Road served as the world's arteries for people, products, and ideas for centuries(*Frankopan:2015*). It is a prime example of a dynamic route. The Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which is now the most ambitious, extensive, and expensive initiative in the world, was first moved by the President of China, Mr. Xi Jinping in

^{*} Dr. Saurabh teaches at School of International Studies, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi.

2013(*Chatzky and McBride: 2020*). It aims to revive the ancient route and build other routes for the purpose of integrating global markets With an estimated cost of between one and eight trillion dollars (*Hillman:2018*), this would result in a massive collection of investment and development projects spanning from East Asia to Europe in at least 140 countries (*Nedopil:2021*), considerably increasing China's economic and political influence.

The BRI unites two programmes: First, the Silk Road Economic Belt, a land-based initiative that consists of six growth corridors, including Jilin to Saint Petersberg in Russia, Kazakhstan to Turkey, Shandong to Denmark, Guangdong to Bangladesh, Hainian to Malaysia, and Xinjiang to Pakistan. Another is the maritime Silk Road of the 21st Century. The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC) is the BRI's crown jewel project in South Asia. It travels from Xinjiang to the Gwadar Port in Pakistan (The Dawn: 30 June 2022) giving Islamabad a new alternative route for oil and gas through West Asia as well as a crucial outlet to the Arabian Sea, estimated cost to be US \$62 billion (Small:2020) and it seeks to expand the Karachi Trade Corridor to create a dedicated railway line from Karachi port to Pipri at an estimated cost of Rs130bn (The Dawn:4 April 2021), or about 25% of Pakistan total GDP e.g. \$278.22 billion (Macro Trends:macrotrends.net). It is important to note that Pakistan's total external debt climbed as high as US\$ 116 billion (CEIC Data:ceicdata.com). It is easy to imagine the precarious economic condition of Pakistan and its repayment capacity of the loans taken for CPEC. Pakistan has already handed over the Gwadar port to China on lease for forty years which will also keep 91% share of the income generated from the port (The Dawn:23 June 2022).

Similarly, Habanbatota Port of Sri Lanka, constructed under BRI, is also a striking example of China's wolf-warrior diplomacy (*Hillman:2018*). In a contentious loan swap, Sri Lanka was compelled to give China a 99-year lease on its port (*ibid.*) demonstrating that China is aggressively building naval outposts as part of its sea pearls theory (*Hankwon:2013*) to advance Chinese strategic interests across the globe. China is constructing another nest in Sri Lanka, a gateway to South Asia in the

Indian Ocean, a new metropolis that will expand Sri Lanka's largest city, Colombo, roughly the size of central London, creating a financial hub as Dubai with a business friendly atmosphere like Singapore, lined with Chinese skyscrapers, exotic hotels, high-rise homes and theme parks (*Safi:2018*). It is claimed to create thousands of new jobs and have a population of about three lakhs people with thousands more commuting each day, raising serious concerns not only of environment, local livelihood, and the sovereignty of the island nation but also of neighbouring India. The Port City of Colombo (CPC) becoming a reality in the backyard of India, possibly less than three hundred km away from India's southern-most tip Kanyakumari.

In order to offer China a strategic advantage along its much-discussed Maritime Silk Road, the CPC is being built by reclaiming many hectares of land from the Indian Ocean. This would also glorify Beijing's wolfwarrior Belt and Road Initiative which the world witnessed Sri Lanka to hand over its Habanbatota Port on a controversial debt-swap, fulfilling strategic ambition of China in South Asia. Through this exercise, it is widely considered that Chinese are aggressively creating naval outposts as part of its string of pearls theory along the salami slicing approach that enhances pressure on competing states for favourable gains to Chinese interests (*Chellaney:2021*).

The Colombo Port City Economic Commission Bill was approved by the Sri Lankan parliament on May 20, 2021. It establishes the nation's legal framework and designates 269 hectares of land that was reclaimed from the ocean and annexed to the city of Colombo as the country's first special economic zone (SEZ) for service-oriented industries (*dailymirror.lk:20 April 2021*). With an estimated US\$1.4 billion in investment, may *further spur a US\$13 billion in secondary investment*, CPC is the largest foreign direct investment project ever for Sri Lanka (*Rossi:2019*). It is also believed to be China's largest investment to date in the island country in the Indian Ocean.

Further, compromising sovereignty, Sri Lanka sold its land and resources for Chinese investment for undergoing Colombo Port City which raised

deep concerns in Sri Lankan parliament dubbing the City as a *Chinese* enclave (Ceylontoday.lk:25 May 2021). Sri Lanka's dependence on Chinese financial largesse is also growing exponentially. In fact, various political parties cutting across Sinhala-Tamil lines expressed deep concern on these issues in parliament and described the CPC a Chinese enclave as many of Sri Lanka's laws would not be applicable there and also questioned whether One country, One law meant Chinese law. (*Ibid*) Some opposition leaders accused the government to pave the way for Cheelam (China & Eelam) in place of Tamil Eelam (*Sumanthiran:* 2021).

Further, this port could be used to augment China's Intelligence and counter-intelligence operations and eavesdrop on Indian Intelligence and communication, enhance cyber threats and satellite tracking and ultimately challenging India's clout in this region. Chinese may also help anti-India elements to enhance their operations against India. In the past, Pakistan used its High Commission in Colombo to infiltrate agents and terrorist into India from the sea (*Roul:2014*) With increased Chinese threats from mountains to oceans, India will have no option but also to tighten its coastal security to prevent any belligerence like Dokalam in 2017 or the continuing provocation in Ladakh region of India.

In another stark examples of Beijing's debt-clench policy, Maldives met the same fate as Sri Lanka when it got Chinese assistance for economically unsustainable China-Maldives Friendship Bridge (Ethiraian:2020), under BRI. The former President of Maldives, Md. Abdullah Yameen obtained Chinese assistance for China-Maldives Friendship Bridge under Belt and Road initiative. Now, the Maldives is facing heavy Chinese debt burden of US\$ 3.1billion, an astronomical sum for Maldivian economy with GDP of around US\$ 4.9 billion while Bangladesh is facing the fund crunch under BRI (*thedailystar.net*). The new Maldivian government under President Md. Ibrahim Mohammed Solih may scrap the Chinese plan of constructing underwater Joint Ocean Observation Centre (JOOC) like constructing at South China Sea, in a Maldivian island, close to India's Lakshadweep port to open a Chinese maritime front against India. Previously, in 2017, a formal

agreement between the two nations on the establishment of a joint ocean observation station was signed with the goal of ensuring the safety of the Indian Ocean shipping route (*Parashar:2018*). This agreement would serve both civilian and military purposes. It is also significant to remember that Md. Nasheed, the former president of the Maldives, asserted that China had already bought the 17 northernmost atolls from the Maldives for a throwaway price, promising to develop tourist attractions without providing enough information about other Chinese activities on these islands (*Macan-Markar:2020*).

It is important to remember that China is not happy at all with the US, India, Japan and Australia led-QUAD which China believes has been formed to sow international discord by projecting China as a potential threat (*thewire.in:19 October, 2022*) The CPC will make it easier for Chinese navy to track the warship movements to control shipping routes, to dictate Maritime trade rules including overall future operations of the QUAD. For India, the best hope to salvage some foothold in Sri Lanka is if the Quad, particularly the United States, acts on behalf of New Delhi. While there are no signs of that at the moment, it may just be a matter of time before Colombo feels the pressure from the US. In June 2021, feeling threatened by the QUAD's future prospects of expansion (*Ananth:2021*).

Li Jiming, China's ambassador to Bangladesh, cautioned Bangladesh against jeopardising Chinese promises for large-scale infrastructure projects under BRI and that the country not contemplate joining the Quad grouping (*thedailystar.net:28 June 2022*). Although there are currently no plans to expand the Quad framework, Mr. Li's comments were viewed as a warning ahead of time and were in line with earlier comment made by China's Defence Minister, Wei Fenghe, who urged countries in South Asia to avoid joining any military alliances during visits to Colombo and Dhaka (*Ejaz:2021*), Mr. Fenghe added that China and Bangladesh should work together to counter hostile forces attempting to impose hegemony and form a military alliance in South Asia (*ibid*). In light of this, China is attempting to forge military links with India's neighbours Bangladesh and Nepal and consolidate existing relations with Pakistan. Notably, some Chinese officials have referred to the Quad as an Asian NATO and a military alliance, terms that its participants have strenuously rejected (*Zhang:2020*)

There are frequent incidents of Chinese official's aggressive misbehaviour/assault on Bangladeshi nationals at the various BRI project sites in Bangladesh, shows the mind-sets of Chinese (*Choudhary: 2021*). In the under-construction BRI-Lebukhali Bridge area over the Payra River of Bangladesh, when the matter of assault came to light, the agitated Bangladeshi construction workers attacked some of the Chinese workers and vandalized their cars and barracks (*Anisur:2021*), Security risks and costs of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor are also rising amid a resurgence of the deadly attacks by the locals in Pakistan also (*Adnan:2021*).

It is important to note that the BRI is a debt trap designed to entice developing countries into taking on more debt than they can handle. Once these countries are buried in debt, the Chinese use confiscation of key assets as collateral to enslave them. During the protests in Myanmar, Chinese BRI investment projects located inside an industrial park in Yangon were looted and damaged. Chinese workers reported suffering a number of injuries, and an initial count indicated a 240 million yuan (\$36.93 million) damage of property. (www.the globaltimes.com, 16 March 2021). In light of worries about debt, project viability, the ecology, and earthquakes, the route connecting Tibet and Kathmandu is having difficulty taking off (Bhushal:2019). Nearly all BRI member nations are burdened with exploitative Chinese loans (Mark:2019). According to the Centre for Global Development, more BRI countries, including Djibouti (Cheng:2018), Kyrgyzstan (Furukawa:2018), Laos (Hunt:2020), Malaysia (Shepard:2020), Mongolia (Younis:2020), Montenegro and Aleksandar:2018), Nigeria (Unekwu:2020), and Tajikistan (Sodigov:2011), face a serious risk defaulter because the BRI's procurement and contract handover procedures were hardly transparent and competitive.

A minimum of nine key naval stations are also being built by China as part of the BRI's string of pearl plan (*Lim:2020*). These outposts will provide China

the ability to keep troops stationed far from home, station warships, control maritime lanes, set trade regulations, etc. Keeping the completion date of each project in 2049 to commemorate the 100th anniversary of the People's Republic of China, it seems not just an economic plan but also a strategy to rule the globe (*Lehmann:2019*).

Nearly all Chinese participants in this financial and infrastructure spree, including bankers, managers of public enterprises, and envoys, face warped financial and political incentives to look for more BRI deals. This is a major concern. It is understandable that Chinese financial officials, construction companies, and envoys have pursued unviable projects in unsustainable ways given that upfront economic and political incentives seem too often exceed worries about transactions going wrong (*Deutsche:2021*). Chinese entry in the Maldivian water, through economically unsustainable projects significantly attracted major stakeholders like US and India to protect their commercial/military interests. China's increasing investments and political influence in south Asian countries prompted India to increase its diplomatic presence in order to appropriately counter Chinese-game plan in the region.

It is widely known that China aggressively and irresponsibly plays aid/loan diplomacy card to trap the small, weaker and corrupt governments of the South Asia. These nations take out new loans to cover the interest on their existing debt, which compromises their sovereignty and traps them in a never-ending debt cycle. Corrupt politicians of these countries excuse for sinking to Chinese promising its people of sparkling new infrastructure (Wade:2020), China would become the new imperial power by using its economic superiority and influence. Beijing taking more aggressive approach in name of collaboration to serve its long-term interests. It is widely known that China aggressively plays aid/loan diplomacy card. Finding out that the BRI is quickly becoming a belt whose roads are blocked for the borrowing nations by heavy debts. The road to global dominance built by Xi Jinping is undoubtedly full of potholes (Anisur:2021) and a worried sign for the world because of dragon's robbing in several countries together.

References

- Adnan, Aamir (2021), Deadly IS attack threatens China's Belt and Road in Pakistan, retrieved from *https://asia.nikkei.com*, 10 January 2021, accessed on 29 October 2022
- Amy Cheng (2018), Will Djibouti Become Latest Country to Fall into China's Debt, retrieved from https://foreignpolicy.com, 31 July 2018, accessed on 22 November 2022
- Ananth K (2021), China reacts to Quad summit, says no 'small cliques' should, retrieved from *https://www.thehindu.com*, accessed on 27 September 2022
- Anisur Rahman (2021), BarisalChinese workers' cars, barracks vandalized in Barisal, Dhaka, retrieved from *https://www.dhakatribune.com*, 11 February 2021, accessed on 25 September 2022
- Barkin N and Aleksandar V (2018), Chinese 'highway to nowhere' haunts Montenegro, retrieved from *https://www.reuters.com*, 16 July 2018, accessed on 9 November 2022
- Bhushal, R (2019), The China-Nepal railway: High cost and hidden, retrieved from https://chinadialogue.net, accessed on 30 June 2022
- CEIC Data, Pakistan External Debt, 2006-2021, CEIC Data, retrieved from https://www.ceicdata.com, accessed on 13 September 2022
- Colombo Port City Economic Commission Bill Debate, retrieved from https://ceylontoday.lk, 25 May 2021, accessed on 28 October 2022
- Chatzky, A and J McBride (2020), China's Massive Belt and Road Initiative, Council on Foreign Relations, retrieved from *https://www.cfr.org*, accessed on 2 July 2022
- See also, Full text of President Xi's speech at opening of Belt and Road, retrieved from *http://news.xinhuanet.com*, Work Together to Build the Silk Road Economic Belt and The 21st Century Maritime Silk Road, 14 May 2017, accessed on 18 June 2022
- Chellaney Brahma (2021), China's Himalayan salami tactics, The Japan Times, retrieved from *https://www.japantimes.co.jp*, 21 March 2021, accessed on 6 November 2022

- Choudhary, Dipanjan R (2021), Assault of Bangladeshi worker by Chinese project officer, retrieved from *https://m.economictimes.com*, 12 February 2021, accessed on 14 November 2022
- Daily Mirror, Port City Economic Commission Bill; Separate state in the horizon, retrieved from *https://www.dailymirror.lk*, 20 April 2021, accessed on 21 October 2022
- Deutsche, Welle (2021), China's New Silk Road is full of potholes, retrieved from *https://indianexpress.com*, accessed on 27 September 2022
- Ethirajan, Anbarasan (2020), China debt dogs Maldives' 'bridge to prosperity', Retrieved from *https://www.bbc.com*, 17 September 2020, accessed on 29 August 2022
- Eiji Furukawa (2018), Belt and Road debt trap spreads to Central Asia, Nikkei Asia, Retrieved from *https://asia.nikkei.com*, 29 August 2018, accessed on 5 October 2022
- Ejaz, Raheed (2021), China wants Bangladesh by its side against the US-India coalition, retrieved from *https://cfissbd.com*, Central Foundation for International and Strategic Studies, Bangladesh, 1st May, 2021, accessed on 27 November 2022
- Frankopan, Peter (2015), The Silk Roads, Bloomsbury, London, pp.6-7
- Hankwon, Kim (2013), The Implications of the Chinese "String of Pearls" for the US, Journal of Global Policy and Governance, volume 2, pp. 193–204, retrieved from *https://link.springer.com*, 5 September 2013, accessed on 3 November 2022
- Hillman J (2018), How Big Is China's BRI? Centre for Strategic and International Studies, retrieved from *https://www.csis.org*, 3 April 2018, accessed on 27 August 2022
- Hillman, Jonathan E. (2018), Game of Loans: How China Bought Hambantota, retrieved from *https://www.csis.org*, 2 April 2018, accessed on 28 October 2022
- Lehmann, Jean-Pierre (2019), October 2049: The 100th Anniversary of the People's Republic, retrieved from *https://www.theglobalist.com*, accessed on 30 November 2022

- Lim YH (2020), China's rising naval ambitions in the Indian Ocean, retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com, accessed on 29 June 2022
- Luke Hunt (2020), Laos on thin ice as China takes control of electricity grid, UCA, retrieved from *https://www.ucanews.com*, 9 September 2020, accessed on 18 November 2022
- Macan-Markar, M (2020), Maldives's debt to China creates difficulties for Solih, retrieved from *https://www.asia.nikkei.com*, accessed on 25 November 2022
- Macro trends, Pakistan GDP 1960-2021, Macro Trends, retrieved from https://www.macrotrends.net, accessed on 27 November 2022
- Mark Green (2019), China's Debt Diplomacy, Foreign Policy, retrieved from https://foreignpolicy.com, 25 April 2019, accessed on 17 August 2022
- Nedopil C (2021), Countries of the Belt and Road Initiative, IIGF Green BRI Centre, Beijing, retrieved from *www.green-bri.org*, accessed on 3 July 2022
- Parashar, Sachin (2018), China's ocean observatory in Maldives sparks, retrieved from *https://timesofindia.com*, accessed on 28 October 2022
- Rossi, Marcello (2019), Next Hambantota? Welcome to Chinese funded US\$1.4, retrieved from *https://www.beltandroad.news*, South China Morning Post, 13 May 2019, accessed on 8 July 2022
- Roul, A (2014), Pakistan's Anti-India Spy Network Eyes Vital Defense, retrieved from *https://jamestown.org*, 10 October 2014, accessed on 19 October 2022
- Safi, M (2018), Sri Lanka's 'new Dubai': will Chinese-built city suck the life, retrieved from *https://www.theguardian.com*, 2 August 2018, accessed on 22 October 2022
- Shakespeare, William, The Merchant of Venice, Graham School, retrieved from https://grahamschool.org, accessed on 9 September 2022
- Shepard, W (2020), Inside The Belt and Road's Premier White Elephant: Melaka Gateway, retrieved from *https://www.forbes.com*, 31 January 2020, accessed on 2 August 2022

- Small, Andrew (2020), China, Pakistan, and the Fate of CPEC, Georgetown Law, retrieved from *https://www.law.georgetown.edu*, September 2020, accessed on 6 November 2022
- Sodiqov, A (2011), Tajikistan cedes land to China, *Euresia Monitor*, retrieved from *https://www.jamestown.com*, 13 January 2011, accessed on 16 October 2022
- Sumanthiran, M (2021), A Determination for 'Chilam' this? Ceylon Today, retrieved from *https://ceylontoday.lk*, 25 May 2021, accessed on 9 November 2022
- The daily Star, Relations with China will be damaged if Bangladesh joins US led Quad: Envoy, retrieved from *https://www.thedailystar.net*, Bangladesh, accessed on 28 June 2022
- The daily Star, Padma Rail Link Project: Chinese firm raises fund crunch, retrieved from *https://www.thedailystar.net*, accessed on 25 September 2022
- The Dawn, Scope of CPEC expanding as projects enter advanced stage, Dawn, retrieved from *https://www.dawn.com*, 4 April 2021, accessed on 24 June 2022
- The Dawn, China given contract to operate Gwadar port, Dawn, retrieved from https://www.dawn.com, 18 February 2013, accessed on 30 June 2022
- The Dawn, China to get 91pc Gwadar income, minister tells, Dawn, retrieved from https://www.dawn.com, accessed on 23 June 2022
- The Global Times, Burmese urged not to be incited by West, retrieved from *https://www.theglobaltimes.com*, 16 March 2021, accessed on 12 October 2022
- The Wire, Building Small Circles in Name of Multilateralism is Groupism, retrieved from https://thewire.in, accessed on 19 October 2022
- Unekwu F Itodo (2020), Nigeria and China: The Threat of a Debt Trap, retrieved from *https://ifair.eu*, 29 March 2020, accessed on 9 October 2022
- Younis Dar (2020), Another Asian Country Falls Prey to China's Debt-Trap, retrieved from *https://eurasiantimes.com*, 25 November 2020, accessed on 1 August 2022

- Wade, Shepard (2020), How China's Belt and Road Became A 'Global Trail Of Trouble', retrieved from https://www.forbes.com, accessed on 19 November 2022
- Zhang Jiadong (2020), Quad desires 'Asian NATO,' but China has smarter solutions, retrieved from *https://www.globaltimes.cn*, 11 October 2020, accessed on 9 October 2022

India-China Border Dispute and the Hanging Future of South Asian Region

Aparna *

Abstract

The world has not changed much since the Melian dialogue was conducted between Athenians and Melians. International politics guiding spirit is might is right. Foreign policies of major powers like USA, UK, Russia and Germany or in Asia, China, are evident to it. India-China decade long border dispute can be seen or analysed with comparable continuum. Historically a land power China is eager to get a bigger role in world politics in 21st century. Presently, when the world is facing economic, political, social and other related problems due to the deadly corona virus, Indian neighbourhood is restless.

Introduction

India is living the spirit of *Vasudhev Kutumbkam* and *Sarve Bhawantu Shukhinah*during the course of the pandemic. India's humanitarian assistance and global diplomatic outreach is being appreciated at every forum. Voluntarily India has contributed \$10 million to the SAARC Covid19 emergency fund; to the Indian Ocean countries, Indian Navy ship INS Kesar was sailed to Commoros, Maldives, Seychelles and Sri Lanka with essential goods and medicines like hydroxychloroquine and paracetamol tablets (reportedly India has supplied these medicines to 133 countries); beyond the South Asian region, India has extended its help to the Latin America, Indo- Pacific and Africa; Nepal and Afghanistan are also among those countries who got benefited by India's philanthropic works (The Mint, 11 May 2020).

In another hand ironically, Indian neighbours have chosen this indeterminate time for claiming to the different Indian territories. Nepal has claimed to the Lipulekh, Limpiyadhura and Kalapani region (The Hindu, 24 May 2020). Strategically this tri- juncture is very sensitive for India, especially after 1962 Indo- China war. This claim was made by the

^{*} Dr. Aparna is Assistant Professor at Department of Politics and International Relations, Central University of Jharkhand, Ranchi.

Nepali government when the India government has inaugurated 80 kilometre road for the pilgrimage of Kailash Mansarovar Yatra. Immediately, on 15 June 2020, Peoples Liberation Army, China had a violent face off with the Indian army in the Galwan valley, Eastern Ladakh region (H. Davidson. and B. Doherty, 2020). It has resulted into the death of 20 Indian soldiers and 40 Chinese military personals (approximately) (B.B.C. News, 30 May 2020).

Critically, after 1962 war it was 1967 (Nathu La border) when both the border patrols had confronted each-other (88 Indian soldiers have lost their lives). After that in 1987 and 2003 an intense skirmishes was reported in the borders of Arunachal Pradesh and in the Ladakh region respectively. India has avoided any provocative incidents or clashes with China in the Himalayan region every time.

Skirmishes in Galwan and its Strategic timing: Revenging Doklam or Beyond?

India and China shares 3488 km land border. Indian states, Jammu &Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Sikkim, Uttarakhand, and Arunachal Pradesh boundary links with China. There are 24 disputed points between India and China over this border. It is the first time when Galwan valley is being pointed out as disputed area. Notably China shares its territory with almost 14 countries and it claims the land from 23 countries (with 12 countries China has resolved border dispute). India- China border is named as LAC (Line of Actual Control) or Mac Mohan line. China considered as it as mark of colonial period with India and thus does not pay respect to LAC. But in its relationship with Myanmar, China respects Mac Mohan line as the base of their relationship. This is unfair and unfortunate!

China's strategy is to lag behind India over border dispute (maritime and land border). In 2017, Doklam standoff between India and China was a recurrent story. It has gained international attention and given a clear message to Indian policy makers that China is still leaving in past and has hegemonic intentions. Doklam is a tri- juncture between India, Bhutan and China. For the better access to Chumbi Valley in Bhutan and Siliguri corridor (which connects mainland India with its northeastern region) in India, China wanted to control over this reason. This standoff was stretched for two months. Over the present border dispute, the Chinese Communist Party's mouth-piece, Global Times had stated that, "The Galwan Valley is not like Doklam because it is in the Aksai Chin region in southern Xinjiang of China, where the Chinese military has an advantage with advance infrastructure. So, if Delhi escalates the conflict, the Indian military could pay a heavy price" (Global Times, 18 May 2020). Interestingly, over the deescalating tensions at Line of Actual Control (including areas like Hot Springs, Gogra and Depsang plains), apart from 11 rounds of Corps Commanders-level talks, the two forces have also held 10 Major Generals level, 55 Brigadiers-level talks and 1,450 calls over the hotlines (Business Standard, 31 July 2021).

Historically, China is deemed to be an aggressor. It has illegally occupied Tibet, East Turkistan, Inner Mongolia, Paracel and some of the Spratly Islands. China has invaded Vietnam 17 times in its recorded history. Foreign policy experts say, China has been always assertive and aggressive in developing infrastructure in border areas. Certainly India's advantageous stand in Doklam, Kailash Mansarovar road and now its presence in Galwan valley and Pangong Lake area have pushed new skirmishes.

Why China has chosen this tensed and complicated time (when the whole world is fighting with covid-19) can be a million dollar questions? There can be different reasons. Firstly, may be with the apprehensions that it will take a lead over unprepared India. Secondly, India's allay USA is also busy in overcoming the Covid19 crisis and preparing for the next Presidential election. Perhaps this would pave the way for easy and swift accumulation of land!

Thirdly, after the amendment in the Article- 370 and separation of Ladakh from Jammu and Kashmir has put China on toes. As India's Home Minister Amit Shah has stated in the Parliament on August 5, 2019, asserting: "Kashmir is an integral part of India, there is no doubt over it. When I talk about Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan- occupied Kashmir and Aksai Chin are included in it" (The Indian Express, 6 August 2019). But unfortunately all its assessment went wrong.

Fourthly, for China's OBOR (One Belt One Road) project, Himalayan region holds the utmost important position. Heavy investments in Pakistan and in Nepal are part of this strategy (Eurasian Times, 20 June 2020). Accept this what potential buffer zone Nepal or an unstable terrorism promoter Pakistan (Grey zone) has to offer China? Almost nothing, except there advantages of geopolitics! Economically or politically Nepal can give nothing to China but strategically there are number of things which Nepal can offer to China. China's president Xi in his recent visit to Nepal, said that Beijing will seek to boost economic cooperation and look into the construction of a cross-border rail link in Nepal.

Fifthly, India's mounting figure in the Indo- Pacific region would defeat its purposes. Equally India-USA tuned interest and cooperation is also making China worrisome. India's refusal to OBOR project may have worked as an area irritant for China. Last but not the least; QUAD can also affect China's interest in the South Asian region. China's suspicious behaviour is being criticised globally over the spread of Covid19. Now, WHO is also planning to investigate the same? As a saviour China is doing all these notorious activities in the Indian border area or elsewhere in the world.

Hanging future of South Asia!

South Asia is a home to almost 24% of world population and it occupies approximately 3% of worlds land. A huge market and young workforce has become the identity of South Asian region. Paradoxically the stained bilateral relationship, particularly India-China and India-Pakistan relations has jeopardised its growth since long. SAARC is the living evidence. Simultaneously it provides swift and unwanted accesses to the major powers in the active politics of South Asian subcontinent. The defining event of 1960s (India- China war) has made China the most decisive determinants of South Asian politics. China's South Asian vision is mostly perceived as India centric but it has other folds moreover. In South Asia, China shares border with India, Pakistan, Nepal, Bhutan and Afghanistan. With smaller South Asian countries China has resolved its boundary issues but its boundary dispute with India is still unresolved. This makes China very integral to South Asian Security architecture.

Perhaps seeing Asia as a whole also tells a never ending story of China's ravenousness for land. As China has border dispute with number of countries, i. e. Indonesia, Malaysia, Taiwan, Philippines, Vietnam, Brunei and above all Japan. Nevertheless, Nepal also has to fear from China but only to counter balance India, Nepal is moving to a deadly end! Recently in May 2020 in a tweet, China's Global Television Network (Chinese state run) has claimed over the Mount Everest but after massive protest from Nepalese people it was deleted (Eurasian Times, 23 June 2020). Previously in 2019 also China was accused by Nepal for grabbing its northern territory namely, Sindhupalchowk, Humla, Sankhuwasabha and Rasuwa. It is speculated that later China may develop BOP (Border Observation Posts) in these areas.

The stained bilateral relation between the giant nuclear weapon states may lead to an unstable and fragile South Asia. This acrimonious relationship will also dismantle regional security and provoke a "big conflict" and arms race in the region (Eurasian Times, 21 June 2020). South Asia can be a new laboratory for a new cold war between USA and Russia. Notably South Asian region is a cluster of developing countries and they need food, money and opportunity instead of weapon and war!

Therefor on altruistic terms countries are expected to corporate and develop mutual trust. At the national and regional level new public health strategies and policies should be made. Reports say in every country (rich or poor) public health is kept or given the last priority. It is a timely demand for the countries of South Asian region to break the cocoon and think beyond the box. Simultaneously, substantial developments are happening in Taiwan, Hong Kong, Xinxiang province and South China Sea. Prime Minister Modi's "Neighbourhood First" policy is India's attempt to counter China's Belt and Road plan and keep New Delhi's regional influence strong. This would be a litmus paper test for India's strategic vision and planning. It will be stimulating to see that how the political rivalry between the duo, India and China will shake the future of South Asian region?

What is the way out?

Flaring Tibet issue

India under the leadership of Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru signed the Panchsheel Treaty, 1954 with China and subsequently acknowledged China's sovereignty over Tibet. It was a historical blunder that India has made and paid heavily in 1962 war with China. China considers Tibet as its inevitable part so do not respect to either Shimla Treaty or the Mac Mohan line. China's hidden strategic interest is to keep Himalayan border disputes alive so that time to time Chinese interests shall be bargained (Asia Times, 19 June 2020).Raising and recognising Tibet as a sovereign country shall help India in deterring Chinese movement in the region. Exile government of Tibet is already running in Dharamshala, India and it is one of the most annoying factors for the Chinese government.

Shift the conflict to South China Sea and Indian Ocean

China's provocative actions in the high peak of Himalayas should be responded by India which counters moves in South China Sea. This is the black hole of Chinese foreign policy. Historically and culturally East Asian countries share a much trusted relationship with India. Since decades small countries of East Asia are looking hopefully towards the powerful projection and presence of India in the region. It will be a saviour against Chinese bandwagon and debt- trap. India already has a strong hold on Indian Ocean. Inevitably and immediately, India should extend its naval exercises and exchanges with the East Asian countries. It will help India to deter Chinese creeping policy of transgression from taking a hard line on territorial dispute. Chinese assertive foreign policy in South China Sea (in reference to the Great wall of sand and Nine Dash line) is bullying Philippines, Vietnam, Brunei, Malaysia and Japan. China claims over 90% of South China Sea. This notorious claim aims to control over the global trade (50% of global trade route is the South China Sea).ASEAN (as a group) has given clean chit to China over this issue. But in South China Sea, USA is also a party. So, annoyed US have deployed three Aircraft carriers in the South China Sea (Eurasian Times, 20 June 2020). This has enhanced the probability of war or conflict in the region. India has to harness its interest from this palpable situation.

Revival of the Quad

The first Quadrilateral summit was held on the side-lines of the ASEAN regional forum meeting in the Philippines in May 2007 between India, Japan, US and Australia. Since its inception this Quadrilateral Security Dialogue has not grown much and was ill fated (as its objectives were not pointed)! Chinese growing assertiveness in the Indo- Pacific region has made revitalisation of QUAD a necessary necessity of the time (Asia Times, 27 July 2020). Regrettably, before 2018 India was perceived as the weakest link in QUAD, Australia was reluctant for its active participation; and except Japan USA was also a hesitant observer. But, China's bullying policies towards Senkaku Islands, South China Sea, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Corona virus controversy (laboratory made), military standoff in Doklam and violent skirmishes in Pangong Lake and Galwan Valley; human rights violation in Xinjiang province, trade war and so on has increasingly pushes all four nations to strengthen their bond, bilateral as well as quadrilateral.

The paramount results are evident and they need to be encouraged in pursuit of the "free and open" Indo- Pacific region, i. e. Malabar naval exercise, Japan's Ministry of Defence new arrangements of cooperation and coordination with India and Australia (Japan also shares its intelligence with the USA regularly), USA Indo- Pacific Strategic Report and planning to train the fighter jet pilots of India, Japan and Australia at Anderson Air force base at western Pacific Ocean, Australia's Defence Strategic update (Asia Times, 27 July 2020) etc. Presence of USA in the Indo-Pacific region will help to keep a check on China's rise, freedom of navigation, maritime security, non-proliferation, terrorism and last but not the least the North Korean threat. Deepening strategic and defence cooperation between the QUAD partners shows their profound determination and preparedness. Together with these likeminded countries India would be able to put China on margin (odd man out!).

US President Joe Biden will host the leaders of Japan, India and Australia at the end of 2021. While China sees the Quad, as the new NATO framed against Beijing, whereas the Quad nations view it as a grouping of democratic countries tool of cooperation for maritime security, human disaster relief and management, counter- terrorism, defence and trade cooperation, freedom of navigation (in the Indo- Pacific and South China Sea) etc. (Hindustan Times, 6 July 2021).

Limiting imports and exports from China

Known diplomat G. Parthasarathy says that time has come when India should review and reduce its economic dependence on China (The Hindu, 16 June 2020). India's supply chains critical dependence on Chinese imports is more tormenting, especially for electronic equipment, mechanical appliances, semi-conductor devices, iron products, steel merchandises, coal, fertilisers, auto machineries, textile materials, antibiotics etc. (The Quint, 2020). India has a huge promising market but it does not have manufacturing or industrial ecosystem, i. e. India has the second largest smartphone market in the world but it does not manufacture anyone of them. India has completely missed out the third industrial revolution. The Hindu writes from the account of D. Raghunandan, that the very idea of LPG (Liberalization, Privatisation and Globalisation) has ruined the spirit of 'self-reliance'. Since then with the rented or borrowed technology we are running our economy (The Hindu, 27 May 2020). Needless to say over the night India cannot erode the Chinese influence over its domestic industries! The profits of trade and investment with China are colossal and lucrative.

The most effective and robust response to present Chinese antagonised behaviour would be replacing China by other potential countries like, Taiwan, Japan, Korea, Vietnam, Singapore and others though who shares friendly bonds with India. For an example, Taiwan's electronic and high-tech industries have the capability to replace China. Perhaps in 2018, globally China's overall export was \$2.5 trillion, in this India's part was only \$70 billion (approximately 3% of total export). Through simple boycotts Chinese economy will neither be affected nor be damaged. So India has to significantly change its policies and carefully make a web to trap China by mobilising other countries though who are against China.

Conclusion

Two Lions cannot live together! Best policy of survival would be confining the territories, either with dialogue or with war. India and China both has to make their choices unblemished. Simple diplomatic mistakes or strategic choices will change the course of the regional as well as International politics. Both are potential nuclear powers and giant nations (in terms of population, economy, market, geographical stretch etc.). India has always been a responsible country and has a proud history of non- intervention in other territories but reversibly China has a long history of intervention and aggression. Beside this Chinese history, socio- cultural practices, political institutions and political leadership etc. differs with India. To deal with communist China, Indian foreign policy should be primarily offensive rather than defensive. New Delhi's message to Beijing should be clear and loud that if you will irritate us here we will irritate you there! Now, one million dollar question would be what the rest of the world is going to do about China? Because singularly Indian efforts will not lay any fruit!

References

- Mint (2020). 'Despite challenges, India provided medical assistance to 133 countries: Shringla', Available at https://www.livemint.com/ news/india/ despite-challenges-india-provided-medical-assistance-to-133-countries-shringla-11589209146018.html Accessed 12 May 2020.
- Global Times (2020). 'China-India border tension flares up in Galwan Valley, won't lead to another 'Doklam standoff': experts', Available at https://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1188681.shtml#:~:text=Hu%20Z hiyong%2C%20a%20research%20fellow,has%20an%20advantage%20a nd%20mature Accessed 20 May 2020.
- Business Standard (2021). 'India, China militaries hold talks to resolve border dispute', Available at: https://www.business-standard.com/ article/ current-affairs/india-china-militaries-hold-talks-to-resolve-borderdispute-121073100420_1.html, accessed 12 August 2020.
- Bhattacherjee Kallol (2020). 'Why are India and Nepal fighting over Kalapani', Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/why-areindia-and-nepal-fighting-over-kalapani/article31660401.ece, accessed 12 August 2020.
- Asia Times (2020). 'Quad Alliance Forms 'Arc Of Democracy', Around China. Available at: https://asiatimes.com/2020/07/quad-alliance-forms-arcof-democracy-around-china/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Asia Times (2020). '*Tibet The Solution For India's Border Strategy*', Available at: https://asiatimes.com/2020/06/tibet-the-solution-for-indias-borderstrategy/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- BBC News(2020). 'China And India Face Off On The Roof Of The World', Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-52852509 Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Bloomberg, Quint(2020). 'Six Things To Know About India-China Economic Relations', Available at: https://www.bloombergquint.com/economyfinance/six-things-to-know-about-india-china-economic-relations Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Bloomberg, Quint(2020). 'The Most Troubling China-India Conflict Is Economic', Available at: https://www.bloombergquint.com/opinion/india-andchina-need-to-rebuild-economic-ties-to-stave-off-war Accessed 12 August 2020.

- Davidson, H. and Doherty, B.(2020). 'Explainer: What Is The Deadly India-China Border Dispute About'? the Guardian. Available at: https://www. theguardian.com/world/2020/jun/17/explainer-what-is-the-deadlyindia-china-border-dispute-about Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Deccan Chronicle(2020). 'India Won't Accept Any Unilateral Attempt By China To Change LAC', Available at: https://www.deccanchronicle. com/nation/politics/240720/india-wont-accept-any-unilateralattempt-by-china-to-change-lac.html Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Desk, E., (2020). '45 Chinese Soldiers Killed In Galwan Valley What Does Chinese Media & Netizens Say About The Casualties'? EurAsian Times: Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News. Available at: https://eurasiantimes.com/45-chinese-soldiers-killed-in-galwanvalley-what-does-chinese-media-netizens-say-about-the-causalities/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Desk, E., (2020). 'Aksai Chin Is No Doklam; Indian Army Will Pay 'Heavy Price' For Aggravating Border Dispute – Experts', EurAsian Times: Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News. Available at: https://eurasiantimes.com/aksai-chin-not-doklam-indian-army-willpay-heavy-price-if-delhi-aggravates-border-dispute-experts/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Desk, E., (2020). 'Anti-China 'QUAD Alliance' Between US, India, Australia & Japan Could Soon Be A Reality', EurAsian Times: Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News. Available at: https://eurasiantimes.com/ anti-china-quad-alliance-between-us-india-australia-japan-could-soonbe-a-reality/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- https://www.hindustantimes.com/world-news/quad-summit-in-october-risingchina-on-agenda-101625580126433.html
- Desk, E., (2020). 'China Encroaching Nepal Land; Could Set Up 'Border Posts' In Seized Territories', EurAsian Times: Latest Asian, Middle-East, Eur Asian, Indian News. Available at: https://eurasiantimes.com/chinaencroaching-nepal-land-could-set-up-border-post-in-seizedterritories/?fbclid=IwAR2KzPx6Q9uxh8DzwHERZMR-UZJfKTQwNKkt suwb9Ds-dVLiOR 53zw9UtCk Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Hindustan Times (2020). 'The Differing Digital Journeys Of India, China', Available at: https://www.hindustantimes.com/analysis/the-differing-

digital-journeys-of-india-china/story-nfCaSr6bn9RoJhb9CclNTN.html Accessed 12 August 2020.

- New York Post (2020). 'The World Is Finally Uniting Against China'S Bully Tactics', Available at: https://nypost.com/2020/07/04/the-world-isfinally-uniting-against-chinas-bully-tactics/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- News18 (2020). 'India-China Flare-Up Latest Addition To History Of Disputes Guided By Diplomacy, Strategic Timing,' Available at: <https://www.news18.com/news/india/india-china-border-flare-uplatest-addition-to-history-of-disputes-guided-by-diplomacy-strategictiming-2639117.html> Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Nytimes.com (2020). 'Worst Clash In Decades On Disputed India-China Border Kills 20 Indian Troops', Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/ 06/16/world/asia/indian-china-border-clash.htmlAccessed 12 August 2020.
- Online, F., (2020). 'Explained: What Is Quad? Is It To Contain China'S Rise'? The Financial Express. Available at: https://www.financial express.com/ india-news/explained-what-is-quad-is-it-to-contain-chinas-rise/1201 160/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Palit, A., (2020). 'India Must Work With Other Countries To Erode China'S Economic Influence', Times of India Blog. Available at: https://times ofindia.indiatimes.com/blogs/voices/india-must-work-with-othercountries-to-erode-chinas-economic-influence/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Parthasarathy, G., (2020). 'Don'T Give Room For China To Dominate. The Business line', Available at: https://www.thehindubusinessline.com/ opinion/columns/g-parthasarathy/dont-give-room-for-china-todominate /article31834861.ece Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Raghunandan D. (2020). 'How India can become self-reliant', Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/how-india-can-becomeself-reliant/article31681288.ece Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Rajagopalan, R., (2020). 'India'S Strategic Choices: China And The Balance Of Power In Asia', Carnegie India. Available at: https://carnegieindia.org/ 2017/09/14/india-s-strategic-choices-china-and-balance-of-power-inasia-pub-73108 Accessed 12 August 2020.

- Rand.org (2020). 'The Quad Is Poised To Become Openly Anti-China Soon', Available at: https://www.rand.org/blog/2020/07/the-quad-is-poisedto-become-openly-anti-china-soon.html Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Roy, E., (2020). 'India'S Retaliation Against China Carries Economic Costs', WSJ. Available at: https://www.wsj.com/articles/indias-retaliation-againstchina-carries-economic-costs-11593869295 Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Smith, J., (2020). 'The Simmering Boundary: A "New Normal" At The India– China Border'? | Part 2 | ORF. [online] ORF. Available at: https://www. orfonline.org/expert-speak/simmering-boundary-new-normal-indiachina-border-part-2-67806/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Submission, I., (2020). 'Japan Defense Ministry To Create Post For ASEAN Affairs. The Japan Times', Available at: https://www.japantimes. co.jp/news/2020/06/28/national/politics-diplomacy/japan-defenseministry-asean-post/#.XzGPVIUzbIU Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Economic Times (2020). 'India China News: India And China Need To Rebuild Economic Ties To Stave Off War', Available at: https://economic times.indiatimes.com/news/economy/policy/viewindia-and-china-need-to-rebuild-economic-ties-to-stave-offwar/articleshow/76438050.cms? from=mdr Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Economic Times (2020). 'India China News: India And China Need To Rebuild Economic Ties To Stave Off War', Available at: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/policy/viewindia-and-china-need-to-rebuild-economic-ties-to-stave-offwar/articleshow/76438050.cms?from=mdr Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Economic Times (2020). 'India China Trade: Latest News On India China Trade', | Top Stories & Photos On Economictimes.Com. Available at: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/topic/india-china-trade Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Economic Times (2020). 'Led By India, South Asia Moving Towards Becoming Center Of Global Growth: IMF', Available at: https://economic times.indiatimes.com/news/economy/finance/ledby-india-south-asia-moving-towards-becoming-center-of-globalgrowth-imf/articleshow/7 1876992.cms?from=mdr Accessed 12 August 2020.

- The Economic Times (2020). 'View: The US Needs To Make India A Bigger Trade Partner To Counter China's New Playbook', Available at: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/foreign-trade/ view-the-us-needs-to-make-india-a-bigger-trade-partner-to-counterchinas-new-playbook/articleshow/77011022.cms Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Hindu (2020). 'China Lays Claim To Entire Galwan Valley', Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/chinas-galwan-valleyclaims-mark-shift-from-past/article31867941.ece Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Indian Express (2020). 'India-China Galwan Faceoff: How Serious Is The Situation, What Happens Next'? Available at: https://indianexpress. com/article/explained/gulwan-faceoff-china-india-border-disputeexplained-6463394/ Accessed 12 August 2020.
- The Indian Express (2020). 'When I talk about J&K, PoK, Aksai Chin are included in it: Amit Shah in Lok Sabha' Available at: https://indianexpress. com/article/india/when-i-talk-about-jk-pok-aksai-chin-are-included-init-amit-shah-in-lok-sabha-5881916/ Accessed 7 August 2020.
- WION (2020). 'India 'Very Responsible' Player In Global Fora, Can Galvanise Action As UNSC Member: UN Official', Available at: https://www.wionews.com/india-news/india-very-responsible-player-in-global-foracan-galvanise-action-as-unsc-member-un-official-311013 Accessed 12 August 2020.
- WION (2020). 'Tibetan Govt In Exile Warns Of Chinese Expansionist Policy In The Region; Says Beijing Buying Elites In Nepal', Available at: https://www.wionews.com/india-news/tibetan-govt-in-exile-warnsof-chinese-expansionist-policy-in-the-region-says-beijing-buyingelites-in-nepal-307694 Accessed 12 August 2020.
- Wsj.com (2020). 'U.S. Orders China To Shut Consulate In Houston, Escalating Tensions', Available at: https://www.wsj.com/video/us-orders-chinato-shut-consulate-in-houston-escalating-tensions/26BF71F6-30C4-48B4-8ECC-07AE1A5DC961.html?mod=trending_now_video_4 Accessed 12 August 2020

Book Review

Hasan, Z. (2009-19). *Ideology and Organization in Indian Politics: Polarization and the Growing Crisis of the Congress Party*, New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2022, 224pp. Rs. 1495.

Indian Politics has witnessed transformational changes for the past few decades including a political shift of upper and middle castes to the Bhartiya Janata Party (BJP) and of lower-caste elites to regional parties; blunting of identity politics based on caste; expansion of majoritarianism and the rise of Right. Majority of the recent scholarship has seen these changes in the light of the rise of the BJP. Hasan, on the other hand, tries to see these trends in Indian politics from an alternative vantage point, placing the Congress party at the centre of enquiry and exploring the Crisis of the once-dominant party. Although the book specifically refers to the time period between 2009 to 2019, the author builds upon her previous works and provides readers with a multi-dimensional, comprehensive, historical, detailed and analytical account by trying to locate the crisis in factors, both internal and external to the Congress party and the interface between the factors. She seeks to further study the role played by context, ideology and organization in making and unmaking of political parties.

The text is thematically divided into six chapters spanning across issues and trends in Indian Politics. Chapter One, titled 'Democratic Reorganization Eludes the Congress Party' shows how Congress traversed from being a party of conflict mediation, bargaining and consensus to a party characterized by organizational decay, atrophy, ideological obfuscation and leadership crisis. She gives a background of the factors which ailed the Congress since the time of former Prime Minister Indira Gandhi and identifies reasons for the same, such as institutional erosion, organizational stagnation, irregular elections, a lost connection with grass-root level, side-lining of state leaders and centralization at the cost of party's ideology of consensus. This ultimately led to the breaking away of regional parties, defections, lack of intra-party democracy and internal resistance to change, despite Rahul Gandhi's keenness to democratize.

In Chapter Two, 'Collapse of the United Progressive Alliance', Hasan looks at the political fallout of the Congress Party in the 2014 general elections and identifies what went wrong during the UPA regime which preceded the elections. The Congress had lacked a cohesive ideological ground and suffered from policy paralysis, leadership and organizational gap, unchecked corruption and indecisiveness. Despite the introduction of an array of progressive, social welfare legislation during its two tenures such as that of food security, rural employment guarantee, Right to Information, Congress could not take any credit for the same in wake of corruption scandals, incompetence, favouritism, the BJP's obstructionist tactics in Parliament, and a concerted effort by the powerful right-wing groups which wanted to see the end of Congress. This also got manifested in India Against Corruption Movement which drew the public sentiment against Congress, and both the capitalist class and media got inclined towards pro-business BJP.

In Chapter Three, 'The Gujarat Model and the Turn to the Right', the author critiques the much-revered Gujarat model of economic development and looks at the rightward shift of Indian Politics. The 2014 general elections were fought on the idea of development and Gujarat model was seen as a key example of development, led by the then Prime Ministerial candidate of the BJP, Mr. Modi, who was seen as a probusiness, strong leader, a 'Development Man' with great oratory skills and hopes for the masses. The BJP came to power and this uncritical acceptance of pro-business model led to a rightward turn of Indian politics. In contrast to a lacklustre campaign by the Congress party, BJP had an elaborate outreach programme. The author contextualises BJP's win in its electoral management with the support of RSS (and affiliated organizations) in providing a 'well-oiled political machine' and helping 'election engineering, propaganda, mobilization and booth management' with a dedicated cadre of grass-root workers. The elections witnessed an unprecedented use to techno-led mobilization and use of modern communication technology by the BJP, with the help of social media platforms like WhatsApp and Twitter.

In Chapter Four, 'Secular Politics on the Back Foot', the author writes that the BJP envisages India as a majoritarian nation-state rather than a pluralist multicultural one. It could consolidate a political majority beyond other factors of identity like caste, and religion took over. Unsure of a response to BJP's Hindutva, the Congress Party took to 'Soft Hindutva', which did no good to the electoral results of the Congress and in fact hampered the idea of secularism that the Congress Party had so far stood for. Furthermore, arguing against the accusations of Muslim appeasement, she opines that political pampering of Muslims by the Congress provided only a symbolic support and no substantial benefit to the Muslims. In Chapter Five, 'Hindu Nationalism to the Fore', the author argues that in 2019 general elections, the BJP put forth an idea of majoritarian symbolism instead of development. Backed by enormous money and the support of electronic and print media, those elections were fought on a three-point campaign of Nationalism (national security, Pakistan and terrorism), Hinduism and anti-corruption. Hasan distinguishes between the post-independent 'inclusive nationalism' of the Congress and the 'Hindu nationalism' of the BJP. While material politics occupied a backstage, Congress could not build a counter-narrative highlighting its own idea of nationalism. BJP's massive victory in 2019 election shows, in her words, 'a structural shift in Indian politics reflected in the emergence of a de facto majoritarian democracy'.

In Chapter Six, 'Opposition Interrupted' Hasan takes a critical look at the events such as abrogation of Art 370 and 35A of the Constitution (pertaining to the Union territory of Jammu & Kashmir), settlement of Ayodhya dispute and Citizenship Amendment Act. She further points out at the erosion of institutions such as Election Commission of India, Central Vigilance Commission; dilution of Right to Information; usage of corporate power and election financing during 2019 elections. She points at the largely non-existent politics of Congress outside the Parliament and its non-impactful social media presence, which ultimately led to a weak opposition to the ruling party.

However, she emphasizes the fact that the Congress is the only party with social, intellectual and historical capital, having a pan-India footprint and that a liberal consolidation against the BJP is not possible without Congress. She, while identifying problems within the Congress, gives hope and suggests reforms. In a deeply divided polity where centrism and consensus don't seem to work, she advises Congress to widen its electoral bandwidth by banding together with opposition parties, strengthening the alliance-coalition framework, electing a leader to keep the party united, reconstructing its organizational structure across the states, conducting a pan-India membership drive and projecting as well propagating a clear alternative ideological narrative to the BJP by reaffirming its philosophy of secularism, nationalism, social justice while underlining its past achievements. She vouches for a democratic renewal of the Congress party in accordance with the contemporary needs.

Although she focuses upon Congress but refers largely to challenges facing the non-BJP parties and centrist parties in other democracies 'in the wake of upsurge of populist nationalism and right-wing parties.'

The author, by a wide coverage of primary and secondary sources, gives a comprehensive analysis of the subject matter and significantly contributes to the field of study pertaining to Indian politics and political parties. She draws her thesis from authentic sources and quite elaboratively provides an analysis about factors that led to the crisis of Congress and its impact on the Indian political scenario over the past decades. She explains her thesis in a quite lucid manner using easily comprehensible, crisp arguments.

The text provides useful insights to scholars of social sciences in general, and Indian politics in particular. It may prove useful for scholars dealing in election studies, psephology and study of party system and political parties. It may also be helpful to political analysts, journalists or readers interested in knowing politics, in general. Furthermore, it may provide some important inputs to the Congress party, owing to the various measures and reforms that the author suggests.

As compared to recent works on Indian politics like *Modi's India: Hindu Nationalism and the Rise of Ethnic Democracy* (2021) by Christophe Jaffrelot and *India After Modi: Populism and the Right* (2018) by Ajay Gudavarthy which see the changes in Indian Politics keeping the rise of BJP at the centre of enquiry, Hasan takes a more comprehensive view and views the changes from the perspective of the Congress party.

However, even though the author claims that her thesis applies to centrist parties in major democracies across the globe, she barely provides examples or gives references. Providing examples would have helped in substantiating her thesis better. Also, she doesn't give a hopeful picture of regional parties and fails to contemplate upon them in the text. She further fails to talk about parties such as Aam Aadmi Party which maintain a pragmatic silence on issues concerning minorities and practice a silent majoritarianism.

Withstanding these issues, the text certainly provides important and critical insights into the changing nature of Indian Politics and makes a strong case for future scholarship towards further research and exploration on the subject.

- Akanksha Sharma PhD. Scholar Department of Political Science University of Delhi

Ray, N.(2021) India and Africa: The Road Ahead by, New Delhi, Indian Council of World Affairs, ₹918

India and Africa are the shore neighbors separated by the Indian Ocean. History is evident of their close friendship, cultural affinity, super bonding and cooperation. Africa is being the credal of human civilization and India is the ancient civilization in natural alliance and contemporary partners. Since time immemorial, India and Africa are linked through historical ties, trade and cultural relations. Although this relationship has lost direction in between the geopolitical importance of the 21st century but growing prominence of India in world politics once again brought these two reasons together. As we stand in 2022, Africa constitutes 54 countries and has 1.37 billion populations. According to the latest survey of the World Bank, seven out of ten developing economists of the world are from Africa. Apart from this, Africa has been home to 99% of world chromium, 11% of world oil, and 9% of world gas, huge deposits of gold, copper, manganese and cobalt. This is reason enough to state the growing importance of Africa in world politics. Therefore, it is no surprise that countries like India, China, USA and other developed countries want to establish positive and progressive relations with the African countries. However, India's relations with Africa are not gigantic like China and USA, for the reason being India's policy of cultural connection, soft power diplomacy and sharing African dreams creates natural relations with the African states. In fact, India's relation with Africa is a golden leaf in its foreign policy doctrine.

This book is a welcome addition to the growing literature on India-Africa relations and it is the outcome of the Conference on India-Africa relations held in Delhi in 2019, and all the contents are holding glorious writings of different experts positioned in various Academic fields. The selected papers mostly discuss India and Africa engagement in the context of global governance, democracy, common security and development challenges, diaspora and people to people connections also contain the perspectives shared by Hon'ble Vice President of India Shri M. Venkaih Naidu and Ministry of External Affairs, Shri TS Tirumurti to attract the reader's attention. Overall this volume has created a roadmap for future India-Africa relations and helps the researcher in further research.

Dr. Nivedita Ray explores her excellent ideas in 'Strengthening India-Africa Ties: Initiatives, Approaches and Emerging Prospects' to make a better understanding among scholars about the different dimensions of Indians in Africa and Africans in India over the century. She rightly point out the significance of 'India- Africa Forum Summit' for both the India and Africa foreign policy objectives. Her writing also includes Indo-Africa partnership in the trade sector, security concerns, and defense cooperation over the period. Initially, India has developed maritime relationships with Mozambique, Kenya, Tanzania, Madagascar, Seychelles, and Mauritius, assisting in terms of military aid. No doubt India is the major fourth largest investor in Africa after the USA, UK and UAE, but the growing importance of China in Africa is putting difficult questions for India to develop its projects in Africa. So, India tries to diplomatically engage with African countries through Telemedicine, scholarships, defense trade, training and capacity-building programmes in the health, education, agriculture, counter-terrorism, maritime, peacekeeping, space and cyber security sectors. Pranav Kumar has rightly observed the importance of WTO in India- Africa increasing fair and systemic trade cooperation. Over the period major areas of convergence and cooperation between India- Africa are based on Agriculture, General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), Traderelated aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), etc. However, in the 21st-century issues related to global trade governance create obstruction in India and Africa trade relations and leave far behind both these countries on the global trade map. Looking for the solutions to these issues, India and Africa need to explore new avenues of cooperation at multiple levels and make WTO more rule-driven, transparent, enlightened and equitable.

To reform International Economic Institutions and develop South-South cooperation, Priyanka Pandit provides vivid account of ideas that the coalition of global South can make an effective change in the

international economic organizations. Initially, the growing presence of global powers like China in India and African region put difficulties to develop fair and fastest trade relations. So, both need to clear their controversial areas and develop cooperation in these sectors. S. Shaji specifies in his chapter that the reason behind Asian involvement in Africa and its implementations for democratization and political reforms in the African states. To look into Asia's investment in Africa after the Post Cold war period creates a different picture of Africa in world politics. Chinese are mostly engaged through the public sector companies but not interested in facilitating domestic development and other side India connected through the substantial private companies with the various African states, which attracted certain criticism relating to democratization debates in Africa. In the last two decades, the involvement of these two Asian giants in Africa actively rebuilds the economies and concerns about the protection of human rights, sensitivity to the customs and traditions and non-interference to the domestic affairs of the African States. Sanjay Kumar Pradhan tries to overlap India Africa relations in the energy sector to make better footprints of the Indian companies in the African oil and natural gas market. Africa has now emerged as a hotspot of the global energy market. India's growing energy need in 21st century, creates big issues for future energy security concerns. To meet India's domestic needs, it seeks to maintain a strong partnership with African countries based on the principles of mutual respect and mutual benefit. Delhi needs to strengthen relations with AU member states to ensure good corporate governance, transparency and resource management with equity to play an assertive role in the African energy market. Chander Prakash Wadhwa in his research defines the role of India in UN Peacekeeping missions in Africa and how it works for mutual benefits. Looking to the recent decades Africa is the major contributor to the UN peacekeeping security challenges and out of the total operations Africa hosts 50 percent of these missions. India's help to these missions in Africa creates great scope for cooperation in both these countries in terms of bi-laterally as well as multilaterally.

Now terrorism is the global headache in international politics, and to make it more precise Arvind Kumar broadly looks into the various issues and challenges relating to terrorist activities in India and African states, also focusing on various terror networks and their mode of operations in both these countries. He has also the view that to counter these terrorist coalitions both are need to develop strong counter-terrorism cooperation with a strategic action plan. Highlighting the significance of public diplomacy in India- Africa relations Sanjukta Banerji mostly focuses on the role of the Indian ITEC programme, Indian cinema, civil societies, ICCR fellowship, and medical tourism in African states. Her research argues in the era of new diplomacy to promote south-south cooperation, P-2-P strategy is one of the modern methods to get close engagement with different African states. Promoting the role of Indian Diaspora in Africa Rajneesh Kumar Gupta and Paokholal Haokip both are looking different angles of India- Africa relations. Initially, Rajneesh Kumar rightly observes the significance of Diaspora in Anglophone Africa and divided them into four groups based on their numbers and activities. Mauritius is the only country in Africa having a large number of Indian Diaspora with possibilities of dominant role. In South Africa, Diaspora plays substantial role and the countries like Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda, Nigeria, Zambia, Botswana, Malawi, and Zimbabwe Diasporas perform possibilities of marginal or indistinct role. To understand the role of Indian Diaspora in Francophone Africa Haokip goes through the history of Indian Diaspora in the West Indian Ocean region and analyzes the policy measures taken by Indian leaders from Nehru to Modi to make Indian Diaspora as a part of great Indian family. From his observations he suggests, that the Indian government needs to more particular Diasporic-centric policy towards Francophone African countries to get close relations with its Diasporas. Living in a digital world, social media played a major role in our day-to-day life. Nandini Sen tries to speak about the significance of Indian cinema, music and dance for the Indian Diaspora (especially third and fourth generation) settled in Africa. In countries like South Africa and Durban, Bollywood works as an Indian Cultural Export to reset socio-cultural and religious ties with its Diasporas.

This book is one of the momentous for research scholars to understand India and Africa relations in general to particular method. It covers several aspects like trade, energy, terrorism, diplomacy, diaspora and so on. Starting from India- Africa forum summit on defense and security fields and understanding the importance of WTO and IMF for India-Africa relations, this book address a unique model of development relevant to the priorities of both countries. It is not only lock up policyfocused discussions on developments in different countries but also highlights India's bilateral relations with different African states as well. All the contents of this book are clearly discussed by the author with adequate data and proper citations. This book shaped a new arena of academic research and suggestive for the Indian government to reset India-Africa relations in a gigantic way.

Banditarani Behera

Ph.D. Scholar Center for Diaspora Studies Central University of Gujarat, Gandhinagar